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Corporate Milestone
EREER

2014 /1

enterprises with safety productio

Oil and Gas Holdings Limited (“Sino Oil and Gas”) was among the first batch of nationwide enterprises and first
batch of foreign coalbed methane enterprises in the PRC to be issued the safety production permit.
2014F7R4R - WAEARBLEERRER T ERARKEREE L2 LEAZE » PEARIERAERAGF ( [HHE
ARl ) HETZ2EMBARRRTRREBRERAR ( [RhR] ) KATEEHEERIINECERER 2 EEA
BRI -

2012 / 1

Sanjiao CBM Block has been included in “12th Five-Year Plan” released by National Development and Reform

Commission (“NDRC”) as one of the key development projects.
BRERMUEZES ( [BEHRZE] ) AMH=KERREMA [T OR8] EXFREB L2 — -

2010/ 11

Sino Oil and Gas acquired 100% equity interest of Orion, officially entered into China CBM sector.
PR RKERIEZ100%Esa - EXNEAFEEERARER -

2006 / 3

Production Sharing Contract (“PSC”) of Sanjiao CBM Block has been officially
signed between Orion and PetroChina. Production sharing proportion between
Orion and PetroChina is 70% and 30% respectively.
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Corporate Milestone
EREEW

Started pipeline CBM sales.
HERFIREEHE -

2012/ 8

National Energy Administration (“NEA”) of NDRC granted a reply for the

application of the Overall Development Plan (“ODP”) with the consent on

the work for the early development phase of the CBM reserve in the Sanjiao
. region.

=REERIAE 2 ERFEESE [ODP] BF @ BREENREZ — BRERBA

BEERMEAEREMEZRAPTIENEE -

2011/ 2

Sanjiao CBM Block obtained Proved Reserve of 43.5 billion cubic meter (in

accordance with relevant Chinese standard) followed by endorsement of
4. Expert review panel of the National Reserve Committee.
RERBLZERTEABRR - RPEEBRRE = XXERRRBEREE
43518 K ©

Zhang Dejiang, Former Deputy Prime Minister of State Council i ucted to

promote the development model of Sanjiao CBM Project (“Sanjiao Model”)-,l
which can effectively solve the overlapping mineral rights problem.
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Five Year Financial Summary

LFEMBERE

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
BZ201558  HZ2014F  EHZE2013F  HZ20126  HE2011F
12A31H 12A31H 12A31H 12A31H 12A31H
LEE IEFE LFE LEE LEE
TER TER TEL THEL THEL
Turnover BEE 67,021 16,540 21,598 28,932 35,079
Result ES
(Loss)/profit before income BRETBH X LA (BR) /
tax expense ikl (468,647) 8,719 (58,512) (126,761) (92,611)
Income tax (expense)/credit FE® () / 5 (9,064) 1,701 (2,820) 13,356 (3,628)
(Loss)/profit for the year KEE(BR)/ &l (477,711) 10,420 (61,332) (113,405) (96,239)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: UTATRER (B8B),/
A
Owners of the Company N/NSIE DN (478,521) 10,420 (61,332) (113,405) (96,239)
Non-controlling interests FERER 810 - - - -
(477,711) 10,420 (61,332) (113,405) (96,239)
(Loss)/earning per share SR (B8R / BF
- Basic (HK cents) - ER GBI (2.682) 0.064 (0.467) (0.927) (0.979)
- Diluted (HK cents) - 5% (B) N/AZ i 0.060 N/ATiE R N/AZNiE A N/AZN i
6 Annual Report 2015 ¢ Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited



Five Year Financial Summary
AFMBEE

At At At At At
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

R2015% Ro014% 20134 20124 20114
12A31H 128318 128318 128318 128318

FTET THT TET FET THL
Assets and liabilities BEHAR
Non-current assets ERBEE 4,251,704 4,287,972 4,154,453 3,810,593 3,567,892
Net current (liabilities)/assets nE(8E) [ EEFE (208,848) 121,919 (226,968) (412,360) (201,437)
Non-current liabilities knBEE (539,551) (355,902) (480,248) (375,059) (305,499)
Net assets BEFE 3,503,305 4,053,989 3,447,237 3,023,174 3,060,956
Non-controlling interests R (14,668) - - - -
Equity attributable to owners ARFEEA
of the Company [l 3,488,637 4,053,989 3,447,237 3,023,174 3,060,956

Sanjiao CBM Block Production and Gas Sales

EXEEREERFERE

2015 total gas production recorded at 59.34 million cubic 2015 pipeline gas sales accounted for 100%
meter and gas sales at 57.67 million cubic meter of total gas sales

20156F Rt EREES9.34B 8L KR 2015 F EEHE (L RIHE 2 2100%

HEBEST6TAB Y H K

o (6]
Sales Production 1-3/0 4. 9 /O
million (million cubic meter) (million cubic meter) Sanjiao Liniian pipelipe Sanjiao He Dong pipeline
] HEB(BBYAK) EREEBILXK) EXEBEE =EXAREE
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Business Structure
E XL X

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited

fEHRERBRAT
Crude Oil Coalbed i (2TEE LNG Station
Business ;llet_hane V\Lasl-uni; Project
:m usiness rojec R 5 =7
R P REERS o RA%ARE g RiExRATAE

o The Group through a wholly owned subsidiary holds 95% revenue interest of Liuluoyu and Yanjiawan Qil Fields
o The Group through a wholly owned subsidiary holds 95% revenue interest of Jinzhuang Oil Field
e The Group through a wholly owned subsidiary holds 70% interest of Sanjiao CBM Block

e The Group through a wholly owned subsidiary holds a 75% equity interest of a raw coal washing project
company located in Qinshui Basin, Shanxi Province

e The Group through a wholly owned subsidiary holds 30% interest of a LNG project Company located in Shanxi
Province
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Corporate Statement
i 5 AL E I

Strategic Goal
2k s B 1R

Dedicated to become a professional international oil &
gas explorer and producer

BNONBABENEKRLH R RMERS
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Chairman’s Statement
EREBES

Dear Shareholders,

The year 2015 was an important year of linking the past
achievements and future development of Sino Oil and Gas
Holdings Limited (the “Company”, and together with its
subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”). Despite facing challenges
such as sluggish global economy recovery and increasing
downward pressure on energy prices, all staff members of the
Group have actively been well prepared to cope with challenges,
and have realised remarkable achievements in terms of results,
team management, technology breakthrough and project
development of the Company.

HH IR -
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Accelerating the strategic planning execution of the
Sanjiao Project

The Shanxi Sanjiao—Qikou coalbed methane project (“Sanjiao
CBM Project”) is a core asset of the Group. It has been
nominated as one of the key development projects in both China
and Shanxi Province, the energy province, for three consecutive
years from 2014 to 2016. It is also one of the strategic
demonstration projects of “Gasification for Shanxi” in Shanxi
Province.

As one of the best sino-foreign CBM cooperation projects in
China, the Sanjiao CBM Project features comprehensive ancillary
facilities, mature business model and well-developed industrial
chains. Over the years, it has been actively playing its role as
a demonstration project and occupied a leading position in the
country in various aspects, including resolutions for overlapping
mining tenements, key technology breakthrough, etc.

1. The ODP was duly approved by NDRC

The Sanjiao CBM Project is one of the largest sino-foreign
CBM cooperation projects in China. In November 2015,
the overall development plan (“ODP”) of the Sanjiao CBM
Project was duly approved by the National Development
and Reform Commission of the People’s Republic of
China (“NDRC”). This project is the first sino-foreign CBM
cooperation project of China National Petroleum Corporation
(“PetroChina”), a friendly cooperation partner of the Group,
approved by the NDRC, and it is also the only foreign CBM
cooperation project approved by NDRC at the eastern edge
of Ordos Basin where the richest CBM resources in China
can be found.

The approval marked the official commencement of
construction of the Sanjiao CBM Project based on the ODP.
The Group will explore and develop the project based on
local geographical conditions and it is targeted to build up
a CBM production capacity of 250 million cubic meters
by the end of 2016. The planning for new wells will adopt
the principle of overall planning followed by progressive
implementation, and the development will be started from
areas with rich resources and develop beyond these areas
on a rolling basis. Meanwhile, the planning for stations,
centralised gas transmission pipelines and networks as well
as power grid will also be implemented.

TEBMRERBRDF e 2015 F 8] 11

Chairman’s Statement
EREES
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Chairman’s Statement
EREBES

Through sincere and friendly cooperation with PetroChina,
the execution ability of the Sanjiao CBM Project was
greatly enhanced with remarkable results in technology
breakthrough and accelerated production capacity
expansion, thereby establishing a solid platform for the
strategic planning of the large scale development stage.

Patents for key technologies have been approved by
the State Intellectual Property Office

We have an excellent technical team with seasoned
experience in various key technologies in relation to gas
fields, such as planning of well-drilling, supervision of
well-drilling, well surveying and well completion. For a
long period of time, the technical team of Sanjiao CBM
Project has made persistent efforts in the upgrade and
breakthrough of key technologies such as well-drilling,
fracturing and dewatering, as well as the enhancement
of technology integration and team building. They have
also been dedicated to the research and development of
exploitation technologies that are suitable for the situation
of CBM resources reserve in China and have continued to
maintain a leading position in terms of the key technologies
in CBM exploration and development.

Through in-depth study on the special geological conditions
in China and integration of advanced steering tools with
Sanjiao block as an experimental base, the Sanjiao CBM
Project attained a major breakthrough in its internationally-
advanced CBM development technologies in 2015 with
the first new multi-lateral horizontal well drilled in China,
which has increased the production volume of single well
effectively with stabilised down-hole operation data.

In November 2015, this innovative technology successfully
obtained two invention patents from the State Intellectual
Property Office, signifying the transformation from extensive
technology to refined technology has been completed by
the technical team of Sanjiao CBM Project. Both flexible
utilisation of key technologies (such as drilling and fracturing)
and intelligent development of fixed-point dewatering have
laid a solid technological foundation for project development
and production capacity expansion.

12
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In the future, the Group will continue to increase its
investment in technology, push forward technology
breakthrough, strengthen the technical team and persist
on independent research and development. Meanwhile,
riding on its professional technical team and well-
developed key technologies, the Group will export the
exploration and development technologies and provide
one-stop professional services such as project contracting,
technology supervision and export of project construction
service for the natural gas blocks.

Successfully tapped into the CBM market of Qinshui
Basin

Based on the mature business model of the Sanjiao CBM
Project, the major strategic deployment of the Group for
the mid-to-long term is to push forward project expansion
steadily and tap into the CBM market of Qinshui Basin.

In January 2016, the Group entered into a strategic
cooperation framework agreement with Shanxi Guxian
Lanhua Baoxin Coal Company Limited (LLI75 & 2B MR
HEERAT]), a company located at the heart of Qinshui
Basin. Utilising the cooperation project as a platform, the
Group will actively seek to cooperate with local large coal
mines through single-well investment, a new cooperation
model with a view to effectively consolidate the potential
blocks in the surrounding area and expand the CBM market
of Qinshui Basin in full force.

In contrast to the comprehensive development in the
entire gas field in Sanjiao block, single-well investment
model is a proactive attempt to realise in-depth integration
between production operation and investment returns. This
model can generate higher investment returns with lower
production cost and controllable investment risks, therefore
offering huge investment potential and high return rate,
which will thus be able to generate stable revenue to the
Group and the shareholders in the long run.

In the future, the Group will take investment returns as
guidance to optimise its resource allocation. It will also carry
out balanced development in the CBM market of Qinshui
Basin and the eastern edge of Ordos Basin by adopting
a diversified investment model and increase its presence
in the natural gas market, striving to become the leading
enterprise for natural gas exploration and development in
China.

TEBMRERBRDF e 2015 F 8] 13

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
EREBES

Low oil price urges overseas mergers and acquisitions
of oil and gas properties

Currently, oil and natural gas prices remain at the low level, which
brings the international energy market with severe challenges.
However, this also introduced significant opportunities for the
Group to push forward flexible acquisition plans and accelerate
its pace on the mergers and acquisitions of high-quality overseas
properties. Compared with the Chinese market, the overseas
markets have sounder systems, a high level of marketisation
development and relatively stable energy prices. Meanwhile, the
overseas markets have numerous mature oil and gas resources
and blocks which give rise to huge development potential with
lower investment risks, therefore rendering it a fine option for
expansion of corporate projects and optimisation of business
layout.

Through in-depth analysis on the international energy market
as well as exploration and evaluation on high-quality blocks,
the Group entered into two non-legally-binding memorandums
of understanding in June and September 2014. The possible
acquisition targets are oilfields blocks located in Alberta,
Canada. Currently, the preparation work for early exploration and
development has been completed. 2D seismic exploration has
been conducted on the oil and gas block and the preliminary
conclusion was that the oil and gas field possesses substantial
exploitation value, which represents huge development potential.

This overseas potential acquisition project is an important part
of the Group’s overall strategic deployment and it is also an
important component of the Group’s mid-to-long term mergers
and acquisitions strategic plan for high quality overseas oil and
gas properties. The project has provided a sound development
platform for the Group to balance the development of the natural
gas and oil business portfolio, accelerate its pace on overseas
business expansion, optimise domestic and international project
layout and realise diversified development for the Group’s
operation model.

Prospect

The year 2016 is the first year of the “13th Five-Year Plan”, under
which the Chinese government has proposed to focus on pushing
forward the revolution of the energy sector and the establishment
of a modern energy system using clean-and-low-carbon, safe
and efficient energy. Natural gas will gradually become the major
energy used in the country and its market share is likely to see an
explosive surge with emerging investment potential.

14
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The future development strategy of the Group will be to, based
on its core business of natural gas and oil exploration and
development, strengthen its core competitiveness, optimise its
resource allocation and enhance investment returns. On this
basis, we will implement active and prudent financial strategies,
and seek opportunities for merger and acquisition of high-
quality CBM resources, with a view to expand and strengthen
its CBM business nationwide and strive to become a leading
unconventional natural gas producer in China. Meanwhile, the
Group will seek opportunities for mergers and acquisitions as
well as integration of high-quality oil and gas resources globally,
using its best endeavours to become a professional international
oil and gas explorer and developer and expand into downstream
businesses relying on the Group’s upstream businesses as
appropriate.

Appreciation

The year 2016 will be the thriving year followed by the Group’s
well preparation made based on our solid foundation. After
the completion of various important strategic deployments, we
will grasp the opportunities, actively cope with challenges, and
steadily push forward the improvement of production capacity
by adopting a market-oriented approach, so as to fully play
its demonstrative role as a leading oil and gas explorer and
developer in the industry.

All these achievements have been made possible with the support
of shareholders and business partners over the years. | therefore
take this opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude to the
board, senior management, the technical team, business partners
and all staff members who have worked with us along the way for
their long-term and continuous effort and support.

Dai Xiaobing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2016
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Overall Development Plan of Sanjiao GBM Project
An Introduction to 11 Special Assessment Reports

ERXEBRRRERERARART " RERFEERSEEAN

Assessment Report of Cultural

Relics Conservation approved by
the Shanxi Cultural Relics Bureau

Conducted archaeological
investigations of the areas where
there are chances for cultural
relics to be buried within the
scope of the project. Additionally,
assessed the potential destruction
or other effects that may occur to
the cultural relics

XOREFHEREELTEXDD
ik

18 B 016 1 BB R A BEIE R 3C
MHRBEETELRE  XEHXY
A REEL M BIE R BT

Report of Seismic Safety
Evaluation approved by the
Shanxi Earthquake Administration

Evaluated and prevented the
improper implementation of the
project wellsite, gas stations and
gas pipeline network etc., reduced
the possibility of earthquake
damage to the construction

facilities
hEZE2MFEREE LAEHE
BiLE

SRR MERIS - S T
BE S ESRATERED - R
RN TRBHHRE

3.

Assessment Report of
Occupational Hazards approved
by the State Administration of
Work Safety

Identified the factors of
occupational hazards in

the project environment,
evaluated the levels of hazards
and demonstrated related
countermeasures

BERBEFGRELERL 2
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An Introduction to 11 Special Assessment Reports
EXEERREARBERARLT R T —AEIAFAHESEG

Report of Land Restoration

Scheme approved by the Ministry
of Land and Resources

Demonstrated the reclamation
area and remediation technology
for the implementation of the
project wellsite, gas stations and
gas pipeline network; ensured the
explicit actuality of land utilization

and reasonable targets of land

reclamation
THERSRBEER T ERIMHE
WEEENERESS w5 B
1ERE R RGBT - FER LA
AERATE - HHERRZAR

.

Assessment of Geological
Hazard Risk approved by the
Department of Land and Resource
of Shanxi Province

Identified the geological hazard
that the project may trigger

or exacerbate, as well as the
geological hazard may happen
in the project. Meanwhile,
demonstrated prevention
technology in order to
guarantee project safety, normal
construction and operation

WEXERBUTMEE LAEEL
BREHE

YRR E P A RES| F BRI E
KERBBARF A REEXANME K
= YwmaE THARM - BRRE
TiExe  EHRERMNEE
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SIE ¥

Assessment of Soil and

Water Conservation Scheme
approved by the Ministry of Water
Resources

Divided the soil and water
conservation prevention area of
the project wellsite, gas stations
and gas pipeline network,
demonstrated its prevention
measures and relevant monitoring
with the purpose of assuring that
the soil erosion can be under
controlled

KERETH RFEERZOKFIRHLE
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Overall Development Plan of Sanjiao GBM Project
An Introduction to 11 Special Assessment Reports
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Report of Safety Preliminary
Assessment approved by the
Shanxi Administration of Coal
Mine Safety.

Implemented standard regulations

and audit to the project; analyzed
and identified the potential
danger and risk of the project.
Additionally, proposed and
demonstrated feasible safety
countermeasures

RERTEELAERBL2ER
RHtE

UTE B S AR - AT
S EE AN RIS ER
= BULRBETTNREYE

Report of Environmental Effects
Assessment approved by the
Shanxi Environmental Protection
Department

Analyzed the situation of
environmental characteristics
and pollutant distribution in the
project areas; evaluated and
demonstrated the environmental
influence and effective prevention
methods after the implementation
of the project; predicted and
evaluated future ecological

and underwater impacts ; then
proposed feasible methods of
environmental protection

REXEFEREE L ARFRELE

YA A RORFERE  RIRD M
MERETON - HIRE ERRD
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Assessment Report of Energy
Saving approved by the National
Development and Reform
Commission

Analyzed and demonstrated the
energy saving situations of major
energy-consuming equipment

in wellsite and gas stations;
evaluated whether the energy
utilization of construction project
is scientific and reasonable; then
proposed effective energy saving
measures

HREFTEMEEBERERMAE R
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10.

Assessment of Social Instability
Risk approved by the local
Development and Reform Bureau

Analyzed the project potential
impacts to the local politics,
economics and humanities;
estimated its risk factors and
provided suitable demonstrations
of prevention measures

HERERBITGEEEBERM
KERHE

DT B HE BB IEAXNF
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erall né'velonment Plan of Sanjiao CBM Project
nn Intrnductmn to 11 Special nssessmant Ilellorts

11.

| Assessment of Mineral Resources
Overlaid with Construction
Projects approved by The
Department of Land Resource of
Shanxi

Assessed the range and reserves
e of coal resources overlaid by the
project gas stations and reached
an overlay agreement
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Calendar of Events
FTEBRE

2019.3 & 2016.3

Sino Oil and Gas Shanxi Sanjiao CBM Project has been nominated
as one of the core CBM development projects of Shanxi province
for two consecutive years. Shanxi provincial government committed
to create a favorable policy environment for CBM projects in order
to ensure the key projects progress smoothly and take effect on
investment returns as soon as possible.

MEARE T =XREREEEEMFRIALAEEHKERE
Bz— - Il BN A ARERIERBIEMNTOBERIRE - BIR
ERTRIENER  SREFRENS -

2019.11

The ODP of Shanxi Sanjiao CBM Project of Sino Oil and Gas has
received the official approval from NDRC.
hERRE T =R XERIABNEEHESE([ODP)) EE R K #&
RMAEZEGIEAMTE -

2019.11

Sanjiao CBM Project successfully implemented the application of
automatic wellsite control, allowing the automatic measurement of
water data and real-time data transmission, and achieved intelligent
drainage. It effectively reduced the overall cost of CBM drainage
and guaranteed the CBM well with high and stable productivity.
Sanjiao CBM Project attained a technological breakthrough and
obtained two patents from State Intellectual Property Office of the
P.R.C , which including: “The invention of single wellbore CBM
multilateral well system and drilling method”; and “The method of
single wellbore CBM multilateral well drilling and completion”.
EREEBRBBEXNERT B HSITHIER - BRT/KE BT
B HEBEENER ERTEARMCHR AXEETEERIERD
mERA  RETHKERABES
EREERBERDERRMARE  BEERNIEERMIAE
BAERN - DRR: ERHBREBRZ DK FHRGLEH T IRER
BEHREBREZHDXKFHEBEFRTHAE -
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Calendar of Events
FTERE

2019.12

An overall update on the reserve report of Sanjiao CBM Project
has been conducted. All figures recorded significant increase as
compared to the time of acquisition in 2010, the net gas reserve
(Proved + Probable) increased 23% to 8.301 billion cubic meter.
The net present value at 10% discount of the future revenue of the
reserve also increased 33% to approximately HK$11.498 billion.
EREEREETKFERS TEA G ERN - FEBURER20105F K
BEERKAOBGBAERA BHEZEFRE (EZE+HEK) EHA23%
ZH8BOMBL A MZFEERKWAFRE (10%THR) tb E7t
33%E#I114.98E T

2016.1

Sino Oil and Gas entered into a non-legally binding Strategic
Cooperation Framework Agreement with Shanxi Guxian Lanhua
Baoxin Coal Company Limited (LLUPa & %EAEEMREEER R A),
intended to establish a project management team for the
development of CBM project located in the coal mine block of
Lanhua Baoxin.

PEDHRE LTS BRI EEMEEBRARF MBS EERTE -
BRERIEEMAZEEERER  RREBTEREERRRERE
ERIER -

2016.2

On 14 February 2016, With reference to “Notice re Period of ‘13th
Five-Year-Plan’ Subsidies Granted to Development of Coalbed
Methane”), issued by the Chinese Ministry of Finance, the subsidy
from central government for CBM production under the “13th Five-
Year Plan” will be increased 50% from RMBO0.2 per cubic meter to
RMBO0.3 per cubic meter.

2016F2R 140 - PR B AR E M (RN “+ =" SR K E R (FLET)
FREMNBHRFENBEA) RERIT=HHSHHE KERHE
U B BA R EH0.27T S K (AR ) 12350%510.37T, /3L 75

21



Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2015, Sino Oil and Gas
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
the “Group”) recorded a turnover of HK$67,021,000 (2014:
HK$16,540,000), with a significant increase of approximately
300%. The turnover respectively included the revenue from oil
exploitation operations in Shaanxi Province; the sales derived
from this year newly acquired raw coal washing project located in
Qinshui Basin, Shanxi Province; and the sales of coalbed methane
(“CBM”) in December of 2015. By the end of 2015, the overall
development plan of Sanjiao CBM Project (“ODP”) was approved
by the National Development and Reform Commission (“NDRC”)
and the project has stepped into large scale development stage.
Thereby, the CBM sales for the month of December 2015 can be
officially recognized as turnover of principal activities. While in trial
sales of CBM from January to November in 2015 together with
related government subsidies of 2014 amounting to approximately
HK$86,340,000 are disclosed under the item of “other revenue”.
The total CBM sales revenue during the year was approximately
HK$87,237,000 (2014: HK$63,441,000), which increased by
approximately 37.5%.

During the year, the technology of Sanjiao CBM Project was
improved and its productivity per well increased accordingly. At
the same time, the ground facilities of the Project, including CBM
processing station and sales pipelines, were expanded in line
to fulfill the needs of the increasing production. In addition, the
ODP has been approved and Sanjiao CBM Project has officially
entered into large scale development stage, the Group believes
that this Project will become the investment highlight and bring
stable and considerable income.

Although the CBM business has a decent growth, the attributable
to the asset impairment of HK$413,626,000 in respect of the
oilfields of the Group located in Shaanxi Province, together
with the equity-settled share-based payment expenses of
HK$77,518,000 incurred due to the grant of share options
under its share option scheme, the Group recorded a net loss of
HK$477,711,000 for the year (2014: net profit of HK$10,420,000).
Both of the assets impairment in respect of aforesaid oilfields and
the share option expenses are non-cash items in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have no impact on
the cash flow for the Group’s operation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Natural Gas and Oil Exploitation

Coalbed Methane Exploitation—Sanjiao Block in the Ordos
Basin

Project Overview

Through its wholly-owned subsidiary Orion Energy International
Inc. (“Orion”), the Group entered into a production sharing
contract (“PSC”) with China National Petroleum Corporation
(“PetroChina”), its partner in the PRC, for exploration, exploitation
and production at a CBM field in the Sanjiao block, located in the
Ordos Basin in Shanxi and Shaanxi provinces. The Group has a
70% interest in the PSC. The PSC covers a block in the Ordos
Basin in Shanxi and Shaanxi provinces, with a total site area of
383 square kilometers.

In November 2015, the Company has received the official
written notification from PetroChina that the NDRC has granted
the “National Development and Reform Commission: re Shanxi
Sanjiao, Qikou CBM blocks, Foreign Cooperation Project, Overall
Development Plan Approval” (BIRZERMEZENIUA=X — &
HEsEEREINEEIR B B8R F EMHLE). Pursuant to the
“Regulations on Exploitation of Onshore Petroleum Resources in
Cooperation with Foreign Enterprises”, Sanjiao CBM block will
not enter into sizable development and production phase until
the ODP approval is granted by NDRC. Therefore, the approval
of ODP will represent Sanjiao CBM Project officially entering into
the large scale development and production phase with an annual
production capacity of 500 million cubic meters. Upon entering
into the development stage, both the PRC and foreign parties will
jointly invest into the project proportionately according to PSC,
and will substantially increase the productivity and sales of CBM.

In addition, Sanjiao CBM Project has been nominated in the
Official Announcement of Key Construction Works in both
2015 and 2016, issued by the Office of the Shanxi People’s
Government as one of the key CBM projects. It implies that the
Government of Shanxi Province highly recognizes the result of
the exploration work done on the CBM field by the Group. It
is also an encouragement and assurance towards the future
development of Sanjiao Block.

TEBMRERBRDF e 2015 F 8] 23
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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During the year, Sanjiao CBM Project attained technological
breakthrough by obtaining two patents from State Intellectual
Property Office of the PRC in November 2015, including “The
invention of single wellbore CBM multilateral well system and
drilling method” and “The method of single wellbore CBM
multilateral well drilling and completion”. This technological
breakthrough has effectively reduced the drilling cost by reducing
resistance of gas and water in the coalbed, furthermore, avoiding
the risk of collapse or blockage of wellbore. The overall efficiency
of the project can therefore be increased.

Update of Reserve Report

At the time when the Company acquired the aforesaid CBM
Project at the end of the year 2010, the Company appointed
Netherland, Sewell & Associates, INC., a competent person (as
defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”)) (the
“Reserve Estimate Professional”) to conduct a reserve estimate
in respect of the Sanjiao CBM Field as of 30 April 2010 (the
detailed report was disclosed in the Company's circular dated 27
September 2010). With the continuous development and increase
in number of wells in Sanjiao block, in order to obtain a more
accurate understanding of Orion’s current share of interest in the
reserve and net present value of the CBM Field, the Company
has re-appointed the Reserve Estimate Professional to conduct
an overall update on the Sanjiao CBM Field reserves as of 30
September 2015 and the reserve report has been completed by
the end of 2015.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
THBHWRES

Reserves data summary of Sanjiao block as follow:

Reserve Report as of

“REROFEHERENT

Reserve Report as of

Increase

Reserve 30 September 2015 30 April 2010 (Approximate%)
#%2015%9H30H #%2010%4H30H FiE
2 BT RS BT RS (B8E 9L
Net Gas Reserve
(Note 1 & 3)
FRARGRE
(Pff5E1 %3)
Proved plus probable 292.2 billion cubic feet 237.5 billion cubic feet 23%
reserves (2P) (Equivalent to approximately (Equivalent to approximately
8.301 billion cubic meters) 6.747 billion cubic meters)
BE+ B REE(2P) 2,022 FFHR 2,375(B L HHR
(14 4983.01{E L 15 2K) (16 H67.4T18 L J5K)
Net present value US$1,478 million US$1,110 million 33%

(10% discount rate)

(Note 2 & 3)
FIRE(Z10%)

(P 5E2%3)

(equivalent to approximately

HK$11,498 million)
14.7883F T

(Fr&#114.98187T)

(equivalent to approximately

HK$8,636 million)
11.10BE T

(37 & #986.3618 8 7T )

Note 1: Net gas reserve is Orion’s share of interest according to the MizE1: FBRAARHEARBLZEBEBEERIKER

terms of the PSC and after 5% adjustment for compression and

pipeline losses.

Note 2: Net present value is discounted at an annual rate of 10%.

Note 3: For reference and illustration purposes only: one cubic meter is bt 7T 3:
equivalent to 35.2 cubic feet; US$1 is equivalent to HK$7.78.

The aforesaid reserve reports have been prepared by the reserve
estimate professional in accordance with the Listing Rules,
including but not limited to Chapter 18 and Appendix 25. The
estimates in these reports have also been prepared in accordance
with definitions and guidelines set forth in the 2007 Petroleum
Resources Management System approved by the Society of

Petroleum Engineers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Apart from the above, Reserve Estimate Professional estimated
that the net possible gas reserves to Orion’s interest in Sanjiao
Block as of 30 September 2015 is approximate 413.1 billion
cubic feet, equivalent to approximately 11.736 billion cubic
meters (As of 30 April 2010: approximate 319.7 billion cubic feet,
equivalent to approximately 9.081 billion cubic meters), which
reached an increase of approximately 29%.

The abundant reserves have proved again Sanjiao CBM Project
is one of the best sino-foreign cooperation CBM project in
China with good infrastructure and mature business model. The
increase in net gas reserve helps to raise the Group’s overall
competitiveness and its financing ability. The net present value of
Sanjiao CBM Project was estimated at approximately HK$11.5
billion in the report which can clearly reflect the investment
potential of the project and its ability of making considerable
long-term profit.

Infrastructure

At the end of 31 December 2015, the Sanjiao CBM Project has
successfully added 7 completed wells, comprising 2 multilateral
horizontal wells and 5 vertical wells. The Sanjiao CBM Project
has completed a total of 80 wells, comprising 42 multilateral
horizontal wells and 38 vertical wells. Out of the total 80 wells, 68
wells were in the normal dewatering stage, of which 58 wells had
accessed to a gas collection pipeline network. A ground pipeline
network of approximately 18 kilometers, inter-well pipelines
of approximately 39 kilometers, and outbound pipelines of
approximately 17 kilometers were completed. Approximately total
55.5 kilometers of 10KV power grid and branch power line were
also completed.

The Company has adopted multi-lateral horizontal well
drilling systems designed by the US oil service professionals.
Simultaneously, with constant enhancement to dewatering and
extraction technologies, the Group was able to maintain a stable
initial capacity of production so as to prepare for steady growth
over the long term, in order to achieve a favorable sales-to-
production rate.

26

Br Lt LASN - &= 57 E R b5 7201549
A30B B ZH=ZXBRAFAEFEELD
BAIBVEL T RR - 14 #117.3618 32 77 K
(201044 308 : #3197 HHER - 4
#790.8118 2 5 K) + G IN3E 4929% o

CENREBAEA=ZXKERBEBEFTH
REENREREIEGHERBEZ - HEE
ExE BEEAAN -HEFRHREMNEER
EYRSERBET N EAEERERN -
BEH=RRKERFEFHREENSEET
M IERDRRIBEEENEARKRE
BEMMASETRAIBREWENES

EER

B ZE20156F12A31H 1 - =RI\EH HEHHE7O
H -20BZHXKEH s50BFHH - &5
SEAEF 80N - HF420 A% 5 KFEH
BTM38O AEH - Lils0R H /A EF
PR A68O - EREASEREREHIH A58
O B=XMEERLALIRIE CEKRERN
ERBRWISAE SR T FHRE - S
BEGMITRAE s WRERBERELNSS50E
MIOKVE B R B N 4R -

SERFRAEERBEEARERRELNZ
D XOKFIEHFRE - RAE - S EAES
RTIBETEE ZHEFFORBAERE -
NHERESEABFTRABERI L ZE
BIRAFHIESHEL & -

Annual Report 2015 e Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited



Management Discussion and Analysis

During the year, the Group has undertaken the expansion of the
CBM processing station with daily processing capacity of up to
500,000 cubic meters. As at 31 December 2015, the total CBM
daily processing capacity has increased 120,000 cubic meters to
270,000 cubic meters. In order to cope with the increasing CBM
production in Sanjiao, the Group will continue to expand the CBM
processing capacity of the station.

In addition, in December 2012, through its wholly-owned
subsidiary Pipeline International Limited, the Group acquired a
30% equity interest in a Sino-foreign joint venture — Shanxi Guo
Liang CBM Development Limited (“Guo Liang Limited”). Guo
Liang Limited is in the process of setting up a liquefied natural
gas (“LNG”) station with daily processing capacity of 1.2 million
cubic meters in the Sanjiao area of Shanxi Province. The first
phase design of the LNG station, with a daily processing capacity
of 300,000 cubic meters has been completed through public
tender. The 120,000 square meters land use rights has also been
obtained at the same time. The LNG Station will be constructed
in line with the schedule of ODP, which will further broaden the
Sanjiao project’s sales channels.

Sales

NDRC published a notice in connection with lowering the citygate
price of non-residential natural gas from 20 November 2015
and further deepening the reform towards a more market driven
natural gas pricing system. The Group and PetroChina have
jointly decided to reduce the gas selling price for industrial users
of the Sanjiao CBM Project by approximately 20% as comparing
with that of the same period in last year from late November
in 2015. As agreed with the buyer, the selling price of CBM
per cubic meter is RMB1.61. Although the price reduction has
posted short-term pressure to the sales revenue of the Group,
the increasing gas demand will lead the significant increase of
CBM sales. As a relatively low-cost CBM producer, the Company
believes that our margin will remain at a competitive level. In
the long run, the Group believes that the price adjustment will
put forward the reform of market-oriented natural gas price and
stimulate the gas demand which will benefit the expansion of the
Group’s CBM business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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In addition, with reference to {ER“+=H"HBKER (R
2 F B BLAZ 1y 3@ &0) (“Notice re Period of ‘13th Five-Year
Plan’: Subsidies Granted to Development of Coalbed Methane”)
issued by the Chinese Ministry of Finance on 14 February 2016,
the subsidy from central government for CBM production during
the “13th Five-Year Plan” will be increased from RMBO0.2 per
cubic meter to RMBO0.3 per cubic meter so as to boost the
development of CBM industry. The Group believes that the state
policy will have direct positive impact on the development of the
Group’s Sanjiao CBM Project as well as the entire industry in the
long run.

The Group’s Sanjiao CBM Project is currently using three
designated CBM pipelines in the Sanjiao block and its
surrounding areas, built by the Shanxi provincial government
as its major sales channels. These pipelines are all constructed
and invested by third parties, including (1) the CBM pipeline
from Sanjiao to Linxian for gas supply for residential, commercial
and industrial use, as well as heating in winter, with an annual
designed gas transmission capacity of 350 million cubic meters;
(2) the designated CBM pipeline of the Sanjiao CBM block
for gas supply to Senze Coal & Aluminum Group, a local coal
processor and aluminum manufacturer, with an annual designed
gas transmission capacity of 350 million cubic meters; and (3)
the CBM pipeline from Sanjiao to Luliang (for gas supply to Xiaoyi
and central Shanxi). All three pipelines are currently operational.

Linxian Pipeline
RSB AR

Sanjiao Block
=EXREERRH

Gas Distribution Station
DB

Central Process Station
R R IB Uh

Gas Plant
Compressed Natural Gas

Mother Station
RARBGHER

Luliang Pipeline
ERER

He Dong Pipeline
ARER
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During the year, the Sanjiao project recorded CBM production of
approximately 59.34 million cubic meters (2014: approximately
47.28 million cubic meters) and CBM sales of approximately
57.67 million cubic meters (2014: approximately 44.26 million
cubic meters), resulting in a sales-to-production rate of
approximately 97.2% (2014: approximately 93.6%). In terms of
the composition of gas sales throughout this period, industrial
piped CBM sales accounted for approximately 92.7% of total
sales (2014: approximately 89.7%), while residential piped CBM
sales contributed approximately 7.3% (2014: approximately
10.2%). Total piped CBM sales accounted for 100% of total gas
sales during the period (2014: approximately 99.9%).

The Sanjiao CBM Project has recorded operating profit during the
year. After entering into the large scale development phase, with
the substantial increase in both the gas production and sales, the
Group believes that the project will bring promising and long-term
profit.

Oilfields Located in Shaanxi Province—Liuluoyu, Yanjiawan
and Jinzhuang

The Group’s three ailfields in Liuluoyu, Yanjiawan and Jinzhuang
in the Ordos Basin, Shaanxi Province are oilfields in production.
However, because the oil price continues to drop in the area, the
project’s overall return has gradually declined every year. After
careful consideration, as Sanjiao Project has just been granted
ODP approval and required substantial capital investment, the
Group decided to focus on the resources for development of
Sanjiao CBM Project and suspend any further investment to
those three oilfields. After an independent valuer’'s assessment to
those oilfields, the provision for impairment of HK$413,626,000
has been made during the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the three oilfields
in Liuluoyu, Yanjiawan and Jinzhuang in the Ordos Basin,
Shaanxi Province, yielded an aggregate crude oil production of
approximately 3,570 tonnes (2014: approximately 4,657 tonnes).
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Raw Coal Washing Project Located in Shanxi Province

In order to expand its business in China, the Group successfully
acquired a 75% equity interest of a raw coal washing project
company located in Qinshui Basin, Shanxi Province in May
2015. The project company has a 10-year guaranteed supply
agreement with an adjacent coal mine. Also, the vendor has
irrevocably guaranteed the Group that the annual total net profit
after tax per annum of the project company will not be less
than RMB30,000,000 for the 6 years after the completion date.
If the actual profit is less than the said guaranteed profit, the
vendor has to compensate the variance. As per an independent
valuer, the estimated value of the project company by the time of
acquisition is approximately RMB186,000,000. The Group’s total
consideration of the acquisition is RMB135,000,000.

The raw coal supplier of the project is a sizable state-owned coal
enterprise in Qinshui basin and thereby the raw materials supply
is stable. The project has been officially launched on 1 July 2015.
It has already entered into stable production phase and also
gradually developed sales channels. During the period, the project
had a total sale of refined coal approximately 84,000 tonnes. The
Group expects this project will bring a steady income and cash
flow.

Through in-depth cooperation with the local sizable coal
enterprises with further understanding to local geological
environment, the Group is actively seeking to diversify the
business model and cooperation projects, continuously to
improve the CBM development business model and inject
new momentum for the Group’s growth. In January 2016, the
Group entered into a non-legally binding Strategic Cooperation
Framework Agreement (“Framework Agreement”) with Shanxi
Guxian Lanhua Baoxin Coal Company Limited (L P85 EEIIES X
AR AT (“Lanhua Baoxin”), pursuant to which the Company
and Lanhua Baoxin, intend to establish a project management
team for the development of CBM projects located in the coal
mine block of Lanhua Baoxin Qinshui Basin and eastern edge of
Ordos Basin. These are the regions with the richest CBM reserve
in China, and also the most representative CBM production
bases in China. Entering into the Framework Agreement with
Lanhua Baoxin has landmark significance to the Group, which
benchmarked the Group’s official entrance into the CBM market
of Qinshui Basin.
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Possible Acquisition— Oilfield in Alberta, Canada

With the purpose of further enriching the Group’s resources
reserves, apart from actively seeking suitable oil and gas blocks
in China, the Group is also exploring investment opportunities in
overseas upstream businesses. The Group hence entered into
two non-legally-binding memorandums of understanding (“MOUSs”)
in June and September 2014 respectively. The acquisition target
is certain oil or gas fields located in Alberta Province, Canada.

According to the MOUs, the Group is now conducting due
diligence review on the resources and financial aspect of the
target groups. In order to comply with the Group’s requirement
on the due diligence review on the assets of the Target Groups,
the Vendor has engaged professional geology consultancy firm
to perform geology research by surveying and mapping surface
and subsurface geologic features so as to identify areas where
oil and gas may have accumulated. Since seismic data has been
collected, exploratory drilling is required to verify that the site
can produce enough oil or gas to make it economically viable
to develop. As such, on 31 December 2015, the Group and the
Vendor have agreed in writing to further extend the time limit
for entering into formal agreements in respect of the MOUs and
the exclusive periods as set out in the MOUs respectively to 30
September 2016. This potential acquisition will further diversify
the Group’s global resources allocation, balance the development
of the gas and oil business portfolio and expand its operational
capacity to reinforce its position as the international oil and gas
explorer and developer and enhance the shareholders’ value.

Summary of Resources
The Group’s oil and gas reserves, as at 31 December 2015, are
summarized as follows:
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Crude Oil Coalbed Methane
Rk RER

Liuluoyu and
Yanjiawan Jinzhuang Sanjiao
g s R B xR E o =%
tonnes tonnes  Billion cubic feet (Gross)
g g TIEZ TR (HB5E)

Proved and Probable BE N 348,203 (Note a)

(K 5Ea)
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Notes:

(@)

B 51

In the absence of large-scale exploration works during the year, (8 BEREFRLEETARERHETZE I
no material change to the resources reserve has been observed. RARERBERFEESBEENEE  HAQA
The Company has thus made an estimation of the oil reserve as at R2010FENHERMEN A MFHEBIERER
31 December 2015 on the basis of the internal experts’ oil reserve BREHSFEEABREN  HHEHILEZ2015
estimates of 2010, adjusted and updated based on oil production F12A31EHMABHE -
volume.
In the absence of large-scale exploration works during the year, b) BEREFRIFETARERDEREZE I
no material change to the resources reserve has been observed. AERRERHEESHEEAEE  WAQT
The Company has thus made an estimation of the oil reserve as A= BB B ERFETHEER20114F
at 31 December 2015 on the basis of a report formulated by an ORm  BHPRRERERINHERSIESR
independent professional reserve valuation firm in September 2011, Hit BHREASELEABRES  HEH I
according to the PRC’s reserve standards, adjusted and updated FE2015F12A31BEM AARE °
based on oil production volume.
The Company has made an estimation on the oil reserve as () ARBA—MHAEERALT EHLEMHRIUE
at 31 December 2015 on the basis of a competent person’s 18ERAM A REREEERZERFFIA
report prepared in accordance with the standards for “Petroleum ZREERAR2015F9A30B 2 HEE A
Resources Management System” recognized under Chapter 18 Hit BREBRESELAZRRT  HHE
of the Listing Rules on the Sanjiao CBM Field reserves as of 30 HIEE2015F12A31THHNEEBRFE -
September 2015, adjusted and updated based on oil production
volume.
Category Coalbed Methane Reserve
5l RERHE

Billion cubic feet (Gross)

FIET AR (4E5E)

Proved (1P) BE (1P 140.2
Proved and Probable (2P) BE NI (2P) 436.7
Reserve translation reference: One tonne of crude oil is equivalent (d REHLEZ2ZEZ FRASWAHSNT.3MW KR

to approximately 7.3 barrels; one cubic meter of natural gas is
equivalent to approximately 35.2 cubic feet.
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Capital Expenditure

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the total expenditure
capitalized for the Sanjiao CBM Project was HK$275 million
(2014: HK$180 million), which mainly comprises of (i) gas
exploration expenses, (ii) direct expenses and (iii) finance
expenses, the breakdown of which is as follows:

(i

(ii)

Gas exploration expenses mainly represented drilling
expenses amounted to HK$89 million (2014: HK$9.1
million), dewatering expenses amounted to HK$12 million
(2014: HK$16 million) and ground facility expenditure
amounted to HK$38 million (2014: HK$14.4 million);

Direct expenses mainly represented direct labour cost
(included, but not limit to, petroleum engineers and
geologists etc.) amounted to HK$17 million (2014: HK$23.6
million) and other direct cost incidental to exploration and
development of the Sanjiao CBM Project amounted to
HK$40 million (2014: HK$40.7 million) (included, but not
limit to, cost of various technical reports prepared for the
purpose of applying the overall development plan for the
Sanjiao CBM Project); and

The total finance expenses capitalized during the year was
HK$79 million (2014: HK$76.2 million).

For the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, there was no
significant drilling activities performed in the Qilfields located in
Shaanxi Province.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As of 31 December 2015, the net assets of the Group were
approximately HK$3,503,000,000 (31 December 2014:
approximately HK$4,054,000,000) while its total assets
were approximately HK$4,666,000,000 (31 December 2014:
approximately HK$4,699,000,000). As of 31 December 2015, the
Group had external borrowings including the liability component
of convertible notes of approximately HK$887,771,000 (31
December 2014: approximately HK$473,075,000), and the
gearing ratio based on total assets was approximately 19.02%
(31 December 2014: approximately 10.06%). Details of the
Group’s pledge of assets and the maturity profile of the Group’s
borrowings are set out in note 32 to the financial statements. As
at 31 December 2015, the current ratio was approximately 0.66
(31 December 2014: approximately 1.42). As at 31 December
2015, data reflected the gearing ratio is maintaining a reasonable
level and the liquidity position is expected to improve gradually
following the growth of sales of CBM and further financing
introduced in early 2016. The Group’s overall financial situation is
expected to become more healthy and stable.

During the year, through the placing agent of the Group,
for the issue of bonds in total of an aggregate amount of
HK$260,700,000 (the “Bonds”). The Bonds bear interest of 6% to
7% per annum, are unsecured and transferrable and with maturity
dates of 4 to 8 years immediately following the respective dates
of issue of the Bonds. The proceeds from the issue of the Bonds
will be used as general working capital of the Group and/or
settlement of loans.

As of June 2015, Harvest Progress International Limited and
the Group entered into a subscription agreement to subscribe
in cash for convertible bonds in the aggregate principal amount
of HK$100,000,000 due in 2017. Approximately 60% of the
proceeds has been used for the acquisition of a raw coal washing
project located in Shanxi province as disclosed before. The
remaining balance has been used for operations of the Group’s
existing oil and gas projects and working capital.
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As of January 2016, CCB International Overseas Limited and
the Group entered into a subscription agreement to subscribe in
cash for convertible bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$200,000,000 due in 2018. The net proceeds from the issue of
the convertible bonds of approximately HK$198,000,000 will be
used for the general working capital of the Group, including but
not limited to oil and gas business development, settlement of the
construction and operation costs payable in respect of Sanjiao
CBM Project and repayment of certain financial obligations.

Apart from the above financing sources, as ODP approval
has been obtained, the Group’s subsidiary, Orion, may utilize
the remaining loan facility of RMB570 million provided by
CDB Leasing Co., Ltd. as and when it is appropriate. With
sufficient funding, the overall financial position of the Group
has been strengthened, and with the satisfactory operation and
development of the Sanjiao CBM Project, the Group is able
to meet its financing needs for developing various oil and gas
projects.

Foreign Exchange Fluctuations

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales
and purchase transactions and recognized liabilities of assets that
are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency
of the operations to which they relate. As of 31 December 2015,
no related hedges were made by the Group. In respect to trade
and other receivables and payables held in currencies other than
the functional currency of the operations to which they relate,
the Group ensures that its net exposure is kept to an acceptable
level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates where
necessary to address short-term imbalances.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As of 31 December 2015, the Group employed approximately 388
employees. The remuneration policy of the Group is based on the
prevailing remuneration level in the market and the performance
of respective companies and individual employees.
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PROSPECTS

During the “13th Five-Year Plan” period, China will accelerate the
optimization of energy structure and uphold the green and low-
carbon concept to further increase the proportion of natural gas
and non-fossil energy consumption. Meanwhile, China will actively
promote marketization of natural gas price to stimulate natural
gas demand, which will be favourable to the healthy development
of the industry. The energy reform and increasing popularity
of clean energy in China will fuel the steady growth of China’s
natural gas industry. As a kind of unconventional natural gas and
clean energy with relatively mature exploitation technology, CBM
has huge potential for market growth.

The ODP for the Group’s Sanjiao CBM Project has been duly
approved by the NDRC in the fourth quarter of 2015 and the
Group has officially commenced the expansion of production
capacity of Sanjiao CBM Project in December 2015, targeting to
build up an annual CBM production capacity of 500 million cubic
meters, the works of which include large-scale drilling works,
expansion of CBM processing stations, laying and improvement
of pipelines for gas collection and transmission in the region and
further expansion into new sales markets.

After the production capacity the block expansion of the Sanjiao
CBM Project has commenced, the Group will explore and
develop the block based on local geological conditions. The
overall planning is that new wells development will be started
from areas with rich resources and developed beyond these
areas on a rolling basis. At the same time, the Group will adopt
the principle of progressive implementation of overall plan for
stations, centralized gas transmission pipelines and networks as
well as power grid based on the needs for production capacity
expansion. During January to February 2016, the drilling works
of 10 vertical wells of the Sanjiao CBM Project have been
completed, fully demonstrated the Group’s capability and
efficiency in expanding its production capacity. According to the
preliminary estimation of the Group, by the end of 2016, target
CBM production capacity of 250 million cubic meters will be
completed. In addition to the large-scale production capacity
construction in the central region of the Sanjiao block, the Group
is also preparing a report on the reserves in the northern region
covering an area of 100 square kilometers, as well as planning
and arranging the related exploration and development. The
Group will develop the Sanjiao CBM Project in full scale and
believes that the project will be able to generate the best returns
by leveraging on the Group’s experienced technical team as well
as its excellent project and corporate management.
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The international oil price continues to hit the bottom, and it has
provided the oil and gas companies with good opportunities
of overseas acquisition which could lead to a new oil and
gas mergers and acquisitions wave. The Group will also seek
mergers and acquisitions opportunities of high-quality oil and
gas resources globally, balance the development of oil and gas
business portfolio, strengthen the overseas business portfolio and
thus steadily put forward the international development process.

In the future, gas and oil exploration and development will
continue to be the Group’s core business: strengthening the core
competitiveness, optimising resource allocation and enhancing
business return. The Group strives to become a professional
international oil and gas upstream player and is committed to
provide all shareholders with fruitful returns.
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Directors and Senior Management Profiles
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Dr. Dai Xiaobing, aged 48, was appointed as Executive Director
of the Company in May 2010 and Chairman of the Board of the
Company in September 2011. Dr. Dai is in charge of the overall
affairs of the Group. He is also responsible for the Group’s human
resources management (including human resources planning,
personnel deployment, remuneration scheme and staff training),
capital operation (including financing, investment and merger and
acquisition of projects) and technology management (including
introduction and application of technology), etc. Dr. Dai was
awarded a PhD in Econometrics by the School of Economics,
Jilin University, the PRC. Dr. Dai is experienced in the corporate
finance sector as well as merger and acquisitions and corporate
restructuring of companies in the PRC. He is also familiar with
the capital market in the PRC. Dr. Dai had been one of the co-
founder of China Securities Journal organized by Xinhua News
Agency and was a journalist, department head and deputy
general manager of the agency, through which he has extensive
experience in government public relations and investor relations.
He is also an independent director of Jiangxi Ganneng Co., Ltd.
(LPEEEREIR MY EFR/AF]D), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange.

Mr. King Hap Lee, aged 53, was appointed as Chief Executive
Officer of the Company in November 2010 and Executive
Director of the Company in September 2011. Currently, Mr.
King serves as Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
(and Deputy Chairman of the Board). Mr. King is responsible
for the Group’s strategic planning, operation planning, external
relationship and organizational management (including rules and
systems, organizational structure and corporate culture). Mr.
King graduated from Xian Jiaotong University in 1983. He worked
for various central government departments and state-owned
enterprises for a considerable period of time and has more than
20 years’ experience in government organizations and enterprises
management. He was the deputy director and chairman of
Workers Union of Mechanic and Electronic Products Importation
and Exportation Office of the State Council, the deputy general
manager of HEIRM T 2 FEYIEEE /A F] (China Machinery
Industry Marketing & Supply Shenzhen Group Corporation*) and
managing director of FIEEEHE/NF] (China National Machinery
Hong Kong Company?).
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Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence, aged 51, was appointed as
Executive Director of the Company in March 2009. He is also the
chief financial officer of the Company. Mr. Wan is responsible for
the Group’s financial management (including investment budget,
allocation of funding, control on sales as well as inspection
and audit of financial matters), legal matters (including tracking
on legal matters, risk control and compliance monitoring) and
internal affairs of the headquarter of the Group. Mr. Wan holds a
bachelor degree of commerce and a master degree of business
administration. He has years of experience in accounting and
financial management and has worked for international accounting
firms and listed companies in Hong Kong. He is a fellow member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
Certified Practising Accountant of CPA Australia. He is also an
independent non-executive director of China Primary Energy
Holdings Limited and Eagle Legend Asia Limited, both of which
are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Hua, aged 50, was appointed as Non-executive
Director of the Company in June 2014. Mr. Chen holds a bachelor
degree and founded the Kingkey Group Limited (“Kingkey Group”)
in 1994. He is the founder, chairman and chief executive officer
of Kingkey Group. Kingkey Group is a Chinese well-known brand
with an integrated business comprising property development,
hotel, property management, financial investment, golf club and
beverage operations. Kingkey Group has invested and developed
total construction area of over 5 million square metres and its
constructions have been awarded various prizes by different
cities, provinces and the state. It is one of the Top 50 Property
Enterprises in China and renowned in the property sector across
the nation. Kingkey Group took four years to complete the
‘KK100’ Complex which has become the landmark of Shenzhen
and one of the tallest complex building in the world. Mr. Chen
also actively involves in various community charities and has
accumulated hundreds of millions RMB charitable donations over
the years.

Mr. Huang Shaowu, aged 45, was appointed as Non-executive
Director of the Company in June 2014. Mr. Huang was the main
founder for Shenzhen Aisidi Co., Ltd. (“Aisidi”) (shares of which
are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange) in 1998 and it is
the “Fortune” 500 enterprises in China. Mr. Huang is currently
a director of Aisidi, the chairman of Shenzhen Sinomaster
Investment Group Co., Ltd. (ZFEIITHHNEEELBFTRAF,
“SMT”) which is the controlling shareholder of Aisidi, the chairman
and general manager of YT ZEREHEEHERAF which is
major shareholder of Aisidi and a director of Yuanjing International
Limited which is substantial shareholder of the Company, SMT
is an investment conglomerate with extensive investments in
distribution, retail, logistics, finance, real estate, tourism, high-
tech, e-commerce and ecological agricultural businesses.
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Mr. He Lin Feng, aged 46, was appointed as Non-executive
Director of the Company in August 2014. Mr. He holds a bachelor
degree in Economics from Renmin University of China. Mr. He has
been an executive director of Bk NERHZHBR/AF] since 2006.
He was a director of BRigMIZ¢E# & HIR/AF] from 1996 to 2005
and the business manager of BREMEFEEZFE/\F from 1991 to
1995. Mr. He has extensive experience in financial management
and project investment businesses.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter, aged 56, was appointed as
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company in April
2006. Mr. Wong is currently a practising barrister-at-law of the
High Court of the Hong Kong SAR. Mr. Wong holds a master
degree of commerce in marketing from University of Strathclyde,
UK and a post-graduate certificate in laws from University of
Hong Kong. Mr. Wong has more than 20 years of extensive
experience in legal practice.

Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick, B8S, JP, aged 67, was
appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the
Company in August 2010. Professor Wong is a Certified Public
Accountant (Practising) in Hong Kong and Managing Practicing
Director of Patrick Wong CPA Limited. He is also a Chartered
Secretary and a Certified Tax Advisor. He has over 40 years’
experience in the accountancy profession. Professor Wong was
accorded Doctor of Philosophy in Business, was awarded a
Badge of Honour by the Queen of England, was appointed a
Justice of the Peace and was awarded a Bronze Bauhinia Star
(BBS) by the Hong Kong Government of SAR. He was appointed
Adjunct Professor, School of Accounting and Finance, The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University from 2002 to 2013. Professor
Wong is currently an independent non-executive director of
Galaxy Entertainment Group Limited, CC Land Holdings Limited,
China Precious Metal Resources Holdings Co., Ltd., Guangzhou
Baiyunshan Pharmaceutical Holdings Company Limited, Water
Oasis Group Limited, Real Nutriceutical Group Limited, National
Arts Entertainment and Culture Group Limited, Winox Holdings
Limited and BAIC Motor Corporation Limited and he resigned
as independent non-executive director of Excel Development
(Holdings) Limited on 10 August 2015, all of which are listed on
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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Dr. Wang Yanbin, aged 59, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in September 2011.
Dr. Wang is a professor and tutor for doctoral candidates of
China University of Mining & Technology (Beijing), and head
of the Scientific Research Office of China University of Mining
& Technology (Beijing). Dr. Wang holds a bachelor degree in
coalfield geology from the faculty of geology of Huainan Mining
Institute in China. He also holds a master degree in coal petrology
and coalfield geology and a doctor degree in coalfield, oil and
gas geology and organic geochemistry from China University of
Mining & Technology (Beijing). Prior to 1993, Dr. Wang mainly
engaged in teaching and scientific research on coalfield geology
and coalbed methane geology. Since 1993, he has focused on
geological research on coalfield geology, oil, natural gas and
coalbed methane. He has led the development of a project
for the National Natural Science Foundation of China, and few
scientific projects for China National Petroleum Corporation and
China Petrochemical Corporation. Dr. Wang has also participated
in more than 30 scientific projects in cooperation with various oil
fields and Mining Bureaus nationwide. He was granted the State
Scientific and Technological Progress Award for several times and
has published 3 books and more than 70 academic papers.

Dr. Dang Weihua, aged 50, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in July 2013. Dr. Dang
has ceased to act as the General Manager of Shenzhen Branch of
Changjiang Securities Company Limited (“Changjiang Securities”)
and the Chief Representative of Shenzhen Representative Office
of Changjiang Securities since July 2015. Prior to this, he served
as Deputy General Manager of Asset Preservation Department
and Legal & Compliance Department of Changjiang Securities.
Dr. Dang had worked in Changjiang Securities (formerly known
as Hubei Securities Company Limited) for 23 years and served
in different departments and positions. He has extensive
experience in securities industry. Dr. Dang holds a master degree
of business administration at Zhongnan University of Economics
and Law. He was awarded a PhD in Econometrics by the School
of Economics, Jilin University. Dr. Dang holds Chinese lawyer
qualification as well as securities practice qualification.
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Senior Management

Mr. Zhu Danping joined the Company in September 2012 and
is currently the Chief Operating Officer of the Company. Mr. Zhu
is responsible for the operational management of the Company’s
subsidiaries, including daily routine inspection, supervision over
their goals and responsibilities, evaluation of performance and
statistics of information. Mr. Zhu is currently a Director of Orion
Energy International Inc. and Director and Legal Representative
of Pipeline International Limited (both being wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company) and Vice Chairman of [ EZ2/4
[ E BB ER /AT, 30% equity interest of which is being held
by Pipeline International Limited. Prior to joining the Company,
Mr. Zhu worked in Shenzhen Industrial Exhibition Centre as a
curator for the construction of the new building and the tender
for exhibition during the period between 2007 and 2012 and has
extensive experience in the operating management and working
for government authorities. Mr. Zhu was a postgraduate in
philosophy from Zhongshan University and worked for the institute
for Shenzhen Intermediate People’s Court as well as #FIiE
M T /\F] (Shenzhen Hairun Industrial and Trading Company*)
as a deputy general manager and a supervisor, B R /0
F] (Sinoexpo International Exhibition Company*) of &Il i &
Hly (Shenzhen International Exhibition Centre*) as a managing
director, Shenzhen Industrial Exhibition Centre as a deputy
curator and Shenzhen Productivity Centre as an officer. He was
responsible for the organization of various significant projects for
the government and the planning and management of exhibitions
during his term of office. With a strong social connection and
network, he delivered a remarkable performance.

Ms. Yim Siu Hung was appointed as the Company Secretary
of the Company in December 2011 mainly responsible for the
Group’s legal compliance work. Ms. Yim has joined the Company
since August 2005 and holds a bachelor degree in law from
Nottingham Trent University, UK and a bachelor degree in
accountancy from City University of Hong Kong. She is a fellow
member of both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.
She has years of extensive experience in the company secretarial
sector and has worked for international accounting and law firms
and listed companies in Hong Kong.
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Dr. Rao Mengyu has been working for Orion Energy International
Inc. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company since November
2010) since December 2007 and now serves as the Chief
Geologist of the Company, mainly responsible for geology
research and exploration work of the Company’s Sanjiao coalbed
methane project. Dr. Rao graduated from the Department of
Geology of Anhui University of Science & Technology. In 2005,
Dr. Rao was awarded a PhD in Geology by the China University
of Petroleum (East China). He was engaged in research work
for the oil and gas geology fundamental theories and coalbed
methane (“CBM”) development technology in the post-doctoral
station of the College of Petroleum and Natural Gas Engineering,
China University of Petroleum (Beijing). He has over 20 years of
experience in the industry and has years of experience in onsite
work and indoor scientific research in respect of CBM projects.
Dr. Rao has published 24 research papers in the journals such as
Acta Petrolei Sinica, and also is one of the principal participants
in the scientific research achievement of “Research, development
and application of CBM multi-lateral horizontal well”. Such
achievement was awarded the second prize of science and
technology advancement in 2009 by the China National Coal
Association.

Mr. Dai Zhonggang joined the Company in April 2015 and has
been appointed as Vice President of the Company and Chairman
of Orion Energy International Inc. since August 2015. Mr. Dai is
responsible for the production and operation management of the
Sanjiao coalbed methane project and the overall deployment of
the project’s large scale development. Mr. Dai holds a bachelor
degree in business administration from Jiangxi University of
Finance and Economics. Mr. Dai had served as chairman
and general manager of a mining company owned by a listed
company and has accumulated extensive related management
experience.

Mr. Mei Ximin joined the Company in September 2015 as Vice
President of the Company and Chief Supervisor of Orion Energy
International Inc., responsible for the Company’s coordination
in relation to the government’s public affairs and assisting in the
production and operation of Orion Energy International Inc. Mr.
Mei obtained a bachelor degree in economics from Jilin University
in 1983. He was granted the professional title of senior economist
in 1995. Before joining the Company, Mr. Mei had served as the
Director of the Bureau of Commodity Prices of Jilin Province and
senior executive of EIEIBHEE/AFE]. He had served as vice
president of a Hong Kong listed company since 2008.
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Mr. Wang Liang joined the Company in 2010 and was General
Manager for the Company’s Shaanxi oilfield projects. He has been
appointed as Vice President of the Company, General Manager
of Orion Energy International Inc. (“Orion”) and Manager of
Sanjiao Joint Project Division fully in charge of Orion and Sanjiao
Joint Project Division since 2014. Mr. Wang graduated from the
Department of Law of Heilongjiang University. He has extensive
management experience in the sectors of oil and natural gas.

Ms. Ngai Mei Angel joined the Company in September 2014 as
Vice President of the Company, mainly responsible for investor
relations and financing. Ms. Ngai graduated from Manchester
Metropolitan University, UK, and has more than ten years of
working experience in relation to investor relations. Ms. Ngai once
worked in Minsheng Bank, during which time she participated
in the acquisition of Asia Commercial Bank in 2006, and was
a member of the Listing Team in 2009, responsible for overall
planning of overseas investor relations. She participated in various
large roadshows, cooperated closely with investment banks,
financial public relation and related professional teams, and
participated in the licence application of Minsheng Bank, Hong
Kong Branch. Ms. Ngai was also responsible for investor relations
and corporate financing of Hong Kong listed companies, leading
a number of financing projects.

Mr. Tan Xin joined the Company in February 2015 as Vice
President of the Company, mainly responsible for financing and
business mergers and acquisitions of the Company. Mr. Tan
graduated from the Department of World Economy of Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics majoring in international
finance, and obtained his master degree from Nankai University in
Tianjin. He has extensive experience in international finance and
investment banking. Mr. Tan once worked in China Construction
Bank, Shenzhen Branch, and acted as cadre at sub-section level
and economist in the Foreign Exchange Department of China
Construction Bank and General Department of China Investment
Bank. Thereafter, he served as the deputy general manager of
R E HEI PR 55 /0 F], the general manager of China Affairs
Department of HHEEEREEAGR/AF and the general
manager of FEYITEREREEREGRAF.
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Mr. Li Yuxin joined the Company in March 2015 as Vice
President of the Company, mainly responsible for the Company’s
financing and business mergers and acquisitions. Mr. Li obtained
a master degree from Institute of Economics of Nankai University
and a PhD degree from Finance and Trade Economics Faculty of
Graduate School of Chinese Academy of Social Sciences. Mr. Li
also completed post-doctoral research at Guanghua Management
School of Peking University. With affluent academic knowledge,
Mr. Li has launched the enterprise asset-light operating
systematic theory in recent years. Mr. Li has been working in the
oil and gas industry for more than 17 years and has extensive
practical experience in corporate strategy, equity management,
investment banking and managing oil and gas industry. Before
joining the Company, Mr. Li served as office manager of Business
Management and Legal Department of Daging Oilfield Co., Ltd.
and deputy manager of FJLEHRFIHIEA B IR AF]. Mr. Li
engaged in development strategies, equity management, asset
restructuring and merger and acquisition business planning
in Capital Operation Department of China National Petroleum
Corporation (“CNPC”) and participated in the overall planning
activities for the listing of CNPC’s A Shares. Mr. Li also worked
in FHEBRETRER/AF responsible for the establishment of
business merger and acquisition funds and in charge of a number
of investment projects in Fujian Province.

Mr. Zhou Suolin joined the Company in 2007 and now serves
as Deputy Chief Accountant of the Company, responsible for the
financial management of the Company. Mr. Zhou graduated from
Changchun College of Geology majoring in Geology and holds
a college degree in statistics and a master degree in accounting
from Business School of Jilin University. Mr. Zhou was once Head
of the Accounting and Finance Division of Jilin Petroleum Survey
and Exploration Command Office of the Ministry of Geology
and Mineral Resources, Director of the Finance Department
of Northeast Petroleum Bureau of the Ministry of Geology and
Mineral Resources (Shihai Bureau) and Director of the Finance
Department of Northeast Petroleum Bureau of Sinopec Star
Petroleum Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhou has extensive financial management
experience in the oil and natural gas sectors.

*

For identification purpose only

TEBMRERBRDF e 2015 F 8] 45

FEHKE  M2016F3AMARRT - #E
ARAERE TERAEARABENESR
DFEE o 2 S5 A S5 12 10 R B K B2 487 T 5K A EX
SRR RPEEeN B2l R LR
HRBZDMGELEM Y HEIERKENE
ERBR KB LIEME CFRETOE
FEESLELNEASRER BABANE
MiEs - FTEREEOBMRARITEEBE T
TEEUE BELEENQAI B  REE
B RERTEBMHARTEEENEEL
B AREABHAARETATLEXER
HERERHMECERERREZE Fh
BROM R AR S B A B A A RIE B AR IR o A
BhamRiAREB QR ([FEAM]) EXRE
LN EERREE BEEE EEFEMAN
HBEBRE  2R28 7T PEAHDEFAR
M—RIGETHE - FTEEBEHEET B TR
RERERAREGEMARZEXHBES T8
EREENZEKRERER -

BT E  R2007FEMAKRRA R B AK
NRIEBGETE  TEEEARNAYTKBER -
AEEHEREHEERMEEEBRFE - )
BEGAEEREERE TREMREFS
RRERTEAEEMRERBE - ALETH
TR B 5 MG H T & W IR 518 st BT RL R
R -HehgETwES (BER) RiLAH
PUBKENTRFTEARARRILARBH
BEMNER ALERABERRKAZITER
LENTBEEELEER -




Corporate Governance Report
ERELIHWSE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is committed to maintain
and develop high standards of corporate governance practices
for the purpose of providing a framework and solid foundation
for its business operation and development. Effective corporate
governance provides probity, transparency, accountability which
contributes to the corporate success and enhancement of
shareholder value.

The Company complied with all the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) throughout the year ended 31 December 2015.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE
FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY

DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code (the “Model Code”)
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s code
of conduct and rules governing dealing by all directors in the
securities of the Company.

All the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard regarding directors’ securities dealings set out
in the Model Code during the year.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 December 2015, the Board comprises three executive
Directors, namely Dr. Dai Xiaobing (Chairman), Mr. King Hap
Lee (Chief Executive Officer) and Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence;
three Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen Hua, Mr. Huang
Shaowu and Mr. He Lin Feng; and four Independent Non-

executive Directors (“INEDs”), namely Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen

Peter, Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick, Dr. Wang Yanbin and
Dr. Dang Weihua.
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BEEEREFTS ERZES FWZES -
REZEESHMREKRS 2 @R HFELE
AT

The individual attendance records of each Director at the
meetings of the Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and general meeting during
the year are set out below:

Number of meetings attended/held during term of  R2015E(ERISIBIHE RITHEE X

office in 2015 &
Annual
Audit Remuneration  Nomination General
Board  Committee =~ Committee ~ Committee Meeting
g EBuEEE HHEEE 2 REZEE RFESEXE
Number of meetings FEERETTRRY
held during the year 9 2 1 1 1
Executive Directors HiTEs
Dai Xiaobing (Chairman) 2R (ZR) 99 - 1/1 1/1 1/1
King Hap Lee (Chief Executive Officer) ST (fTRER) 6/9 - - - 01
Wan Tze Fan Terence BTE) 9/9 - - - 1/1
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Chen Hua R 119 - - - 0/
Huang Shaowu B, 9/9 - - - 0/
He Lin Feng feyRiE 8/9 - - - 0/1
Ma Tengying Ske
(resigned on 12 June 2015) (20156 A 12H &) 1/5 - - - 01
Independent Non-executive BukBTES
Directors
Wong Kwok Chuen Peter BE2 8/9 2/2 1/1 11 01
Wong Lung Tak Patrick BEE 7/9 2/2 1/1 111 1/1
Wang Yanbin TR 79 2/2 - - 0
Dang Weihua ERE 9/9 - - - 0/1
Notes: Bt EE -
1. The Audit Committee comprises Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick 1. BREECKEATEERR(ZEEEXE) -

(Chairman of the Committee), Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter and Dr.

Wang Yanbin.

2. The Remuneration Committee comprises Professor Wong Lung
Tak Patrick (Chairman of the Committee), Dr. Dai Xiaobing and Mr.

Wong Kwok Chuen Peter.
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3. The Nomination Committee comprises Dr. Dai Xiaobing (Chairman
of the Committee), Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter and Professor

Wong Lung Tak Patrick.

Apart from the fiduciary duty and statutory responsibility towards
the Company and the Group, the Board is responsible for the
management of the business and affairs of the Group with the
objective of enhancing the Company and shareholder value.
Key responsibilities include formulation of the Group’s overall
strategies, setting of corporate and management targets,
monitoring of operational and financial matters, approval of major
capital expenditures, material acquisitions and disposal of assets,
corporate or financial restructuring, material borrowings and any
issuing, or buying back, of equity securities. Responsibility for
delivering Company’s objectives and running the business on a
day-to-day basis is delegated to divisional management who have
been given clear guidelines and directions as to their authority.
The Board also delegates certain specific responsibilities to three
committees (Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee). The composition and functions of each
committee are described below.

The Board includes four INEDs representing not less than one-
third of the Board which is in compliance with under Rule 3.10(1)
and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick
has appropriate qualifications and accounting related financial
expertise required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. All the four INEDs
are independent under these independence criteria, and with
their wide range of skills and experience to the Group, they are
capable to effectively exercise independent judgment on issues of
strategy, performance, risk and people through their contribution
at Board and committee meetings.
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The Board has extensive corporate and strategic planning and
industry experience for discharging their duties as Directors in
the best interest of the Company and that the current board
size is adequate for its present operations. Each of the Directors
keeps abreast of his responsibilities as a Director of the Company
and of the conduct, business activities and development of the
Company.

There is no financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationship between the Directors.

On appointment to the Board, each Director receives a
comprehensive induction package covering the general, statutory
and regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure that he
is sufficiently aware of his responsibilities under the Listing Rules
and other relevant regulatory requirements. All Directors and
senior management are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The Directors are regularly briefed on the business
operations and policies of the Company and from time to time
provided with written training materials to develop and refresh
their professional skills.

All the Directors, namely Dr. Dai Xiaobing, Mr. King Hap Lee, and
Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence, Mr. Chen Hua, Mr. Huang Shaowu,
Mr. He Lin Feng, Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter, Professor Wong
Lung Tak Patrick, Dr. Wang Yanbin and Dr. Dang Weihua,
participated in continuous professional development by reading
materials and attending seminars on corporate governance,
regulatory development and other relevant topics with an
emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a director of a
listed company in compliance with the CG Code during the year.

The Company updates the Directors from time to time with
development in the laws and regulations relevant to their role as
director of the Company. Directors are also encouraged to update
their skills, knowledge and familiarity with the Group through
initial induction, ongoing participation at Board and committee
meetings.
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The Company’s senior management regularly supplies the Board
and its committees with adequate information in a timely manner
to enable them to make informed decisions. Monthly updates
as required in C.1.2 of the CG Code are provided by the senior
management to all Directors to enable them to be apprised of
the circumstances of the Company and to discharge their duties.
The Company Secretary provides the Directors with updates on
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements. All Directors have access to Board
papers and related materials that will assist them for decision
making. Any Director, wishing to do so in the furtherance of his
duties, may take professional advice at the Company’s expense
as arranged by the Company.

The biographical details of the Directors are listed in the section of
“Directors and Senior Management Profiles” in this annual report
and the INEDs are expressly identified in all of the Company’s
publication such as circular, announcement or relevant corporate
communications in which the names of Directors of the Company
are disclosed. The Company maintains on its website and on the
Stock Exchange’s website a list of its directors with their role and
function.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE
The Company continues to subscribe for an insurance policy to
indemnify the Directors and senior executives of the Group from
any losses, claims, damages, liabilities and expenses, including
without limitation, any proceedings brought against them,
arising from the performance of their duties pursuant to their
appointment under their respective service agreements entered
into with the Company. The current policy shall be under constant
review to ensure that the insurance cover is appropriate.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are segregated
and performed by two separate individuals, Dr. Dai Xiaobing
and Mr. King Hap Lee respectively, to ensure a balance of
power and authority. The Chairman of the Company provides
leadership to the Board and ensures that the Board discharges
its responsibilities effectively. Dr. Dai Xiaobing’s primary roles
and duties include to formulate corporate strategies and plans in
conjunction with the Board and to ensure that Directors receive
complete, accurate and timely information and are properly
briefed on issues arising at Board meetings; and that good
corporate governance practices and procedures are established,
implemented and maintained. He also holds annually meeting with
the non-executive directors (including independent non-executive
directors) without the presence of other executive directors.
The Chief Executive Officer, Mr. King Hap Lee, is responsible
for the effective management and operation of the Company
and his primary roles and duties include to monitor and control
the operational and financial performance within the Group and
to implement and report to the Board on the adoption of the
Company’s strategy and policies for achieving its objectives.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the non-executive Directors and INEDs, namely Mr.
Chen Hua, Mr. Huang Shaowu, Mr. He Lin Feng, Wong Kwok
Chuen Peter, Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick, Dr. Wang Yanbin
and Dr. Dang Weihua, has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of two years. In accordance with the
Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual general meeting of the
Company, one third (or the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) of the Directors shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election. As such, all the non-executive
Directors and INEDs are also regarded as appointed for a specific
term. Furthermore, the Company’s Bye-laws provide that any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in the
Board or as an additional member of the Board shall hold office
only until the first general meeting of the Company and shall then
be eligible for re-election at such meeting.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees delegated with
various responsibilities, including Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. All the Board committees
perform their distinct roles in accordance with their respective
terms of reference which are available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange. The meetings and
proceedings of the committees are governed by the provisions
contained in the bye-laws of the Company for regulating
the meetings and proceedings of Directors unless otherwise
stipulated in their respective terms of reference.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee assists the Board in discharging its
responsibilities for financial reporting and corporate control. The
Committee comprises three INEDs, namely Mr. Wong Kwok
Chuen Peter, Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick and Dr. Wang
Yanbin, and is chaired by Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick.

The Company has complied with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules
which requires that the audit committee has a minimum of three
non-executive directors, must be chaired by an INED, at least
one of the audit committee member is an INED who possesses
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise, and a majority of the audit
committee are INEDs.

None of the Audit Committee members are members of the
former or existing auditors of the Company. The Audit Committee
met twice during the year in accordance with its terms of
reference. During the year, the Audit Committee has discharged
its duties which include to review the completeness, accuracy
and fairness of the Company’s financial statements, evaluating
the Company’s auditing scope and procedures as well as its
internal control systems, to review the interim and final financial
statements before their submission to the Board and the annual
general meeting for approval, and to make recommendation
on the appointment of external auditor and approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of external auditor. The
Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources, including
independent access to and advice from external auditors.
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The amendment to the terms of reference of the Audit Committee
which set out the Audit Committee’s authority and duties was
approved by the Board in January 2016 to align with the relevant
amendments to the CG Code set out in the Listing Rules to
include the risk management function of audit committee. The
terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company’s objective for its remuneration policy is to maintain
fair and competitive packages based on business requirements
and industry practice. The Remuneration Committee comprises
three members including one Executive Director and two INEDs,
namely Dr. Dai Xiaobing, Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter and
Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick. The committee is chaired by
Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick. The Company has complied
with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules which requires that the
remuneration committee has a majority of the member being
INEDs and must be chaired by an INED.

With reference to business needs and company development,
individual performance and contribution, changes in relevant
markets and general economic situation, the Remuneration
Committee has adopted the model set out in B.1.2(c)(ii) of the
CG Code where the Committee reviews and recommends to the
Board on the Company’s policy and structure for remuneration of
the Directors and senior management. During the review process,
no individual director is involved in decisions relating to his own
remuneration.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee setting
out the Remuneration Committee’s authority and duties are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which aims to
set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board to ensure
that the Board has the balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, knowledge
and skills. In identifying suitable candidates, the Nomination
Committee will consider candidates with the objective criteria with

due regard of the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee currently has three members
including one Executive Director and two INEDs, namely Dr.
Dai Xiaobing, Mr.
Wong Lung Tak Patrick. Dr. Dai Xiaobing acts as Chairman of
the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee bases

Wong Kwok Chuen Peter and Professor

on the aforesaid criteria when making recommendations to
the Board on the nomination and appointment of directors,
assesses the independence of INEDs, review the structure,
size and composition of the Board at least annually and makes
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy. The terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee are made available on the

websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions within its terms of reference. Its duties include to
develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance; review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of directors and senior
management and the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; develop,
review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual
(if any) applicable to employees and directors; and review the

Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the

Corporate Governance Report as required under Appendix 14 of
the Listing Rules.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

External Auditor

BDO Limited was appointed as external auditor of the Company
by shareholders at the 2015 Annual General Meeting until the
conclusion of the next annual general meeting.

During the year, the fees paid or payable to the external auditors
of the Company, BDO Limited were approximately HK$1,600,000
and HK$93,600 for audit service and non-audit service rendered
(excluding disbursement fees) to the Group respectively. The
reporting responsibilities of BDO Limited are stated in the
Independent Auditor’s Report contained in this Annual Report.

Financial Reporting

The Board is accountable for proper stewardship of the
Company’s affairs, and is responsible for ensuring that the
Group keeps fair and accurate accounting records which
disclose its financial position. The Directors also acknowledge
their responsibility to prepare the financial statements of the
Group in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards. This responsibility extends to both interim
and annual reports.

Internal Control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to establish, maintain
and review the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal
controls to ensure that shareholders’ investments and the
Group’s assets are safeguarded.

During the year, the nature of the Group’s operation remained
unchanged comparing with that of last year. In order to maintain
an effective and efficient internal control system, the Group
performs review for the internal control system systematically on a
regular basis which covers financial, operational, and compliance
controls as well as risk management function.
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On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee reviews annually
the continued effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls
dealing with risk and financial accounting and reporting, the
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, compliance with laws
and regulations, risk management functions. During the year, no
significant control failures or weaknesses have been noted. The
Board considered that these systems of internal controls were
effective and sufficient to guarantee the Group in achieving its
business objectives.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company, Ms. Yim Siu Hung,
is a full-time employee of the Company and has day-to-day
knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Directors have access
to the advice and services of the Company Secretary regarding
board procedures, and relevant laws, rules and regulations. For
the year ended 31 December 2015, Ms. Yim has complied with
paragraph 3.29 of the Listing Rules by taking no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(the “Act”) and Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws of the Company,
shareholders holding in aggregate not less than 10% of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company, to
request a special general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition, and
such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition. If the directors do not within twenty-one days
from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed to convene

such meeting, any of the requisitionists representing more than
one half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a meeting to be held within three months from the said
date.
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Corporate Governance Report

Any number of shareholders representing not less than 5% of the
total voting rights of the Company at the date of the requisition
or not less than 100 shareholders of the Company are entitled
to put forward a proposal for consideration at a general meeting
of the Company. Shareholders should follow the requirements
and procedures as set out in Section 79 of the Act for putting
forward such proposal at a general meeting. The procedures for
shareholders to propose a person for election as a director are
made available on our website as required by the Listing Rules.
The requisition of the proposals made by shareholders may be
addressed to the Company Secretary at the Company’s head
office and principal place of business in Hong Kong.

Annual general meetings and special general meetings provide
a useful forum for shareholders to share views with the Board.
Members of the Board (including members of the Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees) attend shareholders’
meetings and make themselves available to answer shareholders’
questions. Enquiries of shareholders may also be put to the
Board by contacting the Company Secretary by phone or email,
as stated in our website, www.sino-oilgas.hk.

COMMUNICATION WITH INVESTORS

The Board recognizes the importance of good communication
with shareholders as well as investors. During the year, two
press and analysts’ conferences were held in relation to the
interim and final results announcements respectively, at which the
Executive Directors were available to answer questions regarding
the Group’s operational and financial performances. Quarterly
operation update announcements were released to enhance
transparency of the Company’s affairs. Information in relation
to the Group is disseminated to shareholders and investors in a
timely manner through a number of channels include quarterly
operation update announcements, interim and annual reports,
announcements, circulars and press releases. Electronic copies
of these documents and general information of the Group’s
operation can be obtained through the Company’s website.
Throughout 2015, the Company also avails itself of opportunities
to communicate and explain its strategies to shareholders and
the investor community, through active participation in investors’
conferences and regular meetings with financial analysts, fund
managers and potential investors. The Company will continue
to promote and enhance investor relations and communication
with its investors. During the year, no change was made to the
Company’s Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws.
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Report of the Directors
EFERETE

The directors submit their annual report together with the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015, which
are set out on pages 75 to 200.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in (i) exploration, development and
production of coalbed methane, (i) exploitation and sale of crude
oil and natural gas and (jiii) raw coal washing and sale of raw and
cleaned coal in China.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2015 is set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 22 to 37 of this annual report.

SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 39
to the financial statements.

DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 37 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 37 to the financial
statements and the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

respectively.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on pages 6 and 7.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales to the Group’s five largest customers
took up 71% and the largest customer accounted for 27% of
the Group’s revenue for the year. The aggregate purchases
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
63% and the largest supplier accounted for 56% of the Group’s
total purchases for the year.

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or
any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
had any interest in these major customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date

of this report were:

Executive Directors

Dr. Dai Xiaobing (Chairman)

Mr. King Hap Lee (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wan Tze Fan Terence

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Hua

Mr. Huang Shaowu

Mr. He Lin Feng

Mr. Ma Tengying (resigned on 12 June 2015)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Kwok Chuen Peter

Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick

Dr. Wang Yanbin

Dr. Dang Weihua

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-law 87(1), Mr. King Hap Lee,
Mr. Chen Hua, Professor Wong Lung Tak Patrick and Dr.
Dang Weihua will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election. All other remaining directors continue
in office.
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Report of the Directors
EFERETE

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which
is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2015, the interests and short positions of the
directors (the “Directors”) or chief executive of the Company in
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of the
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”)) as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as
follows:

EEZREEH

RERBRIAFAS LRBET2EEH
= SRR A RV T SRR — 4 7 e AR A AT
B OX R B IR 50 T AL 2 IRFS B 40 =

EFERIRG RAERKRG P zER

M2015F12H31H KRR ES ([EF]) &
THRBHERARARREEMEREZE (ABFE
HREEGED ([7%FH REE KA EXVIBAT
BYzBE) 2Rkh  HERNDIESTHE
WA RN RIRIEE R KRB GO FEISGFE
2 B EC P B SR AR T AR BB & - ATl
METAZEFTHITESFRIINEZETR([1Z
EFR)MABRNEARA KRB z#EZRER
KB

0

Number of
Interests in shares/
shares/ underlying  Percentage of
Long/short underlying shares of the issued shares
Name of Director position shares Nature of interest Company held (Note 6)
REH % Fifs A A5 HESET
R & B/ RiyESH
324 Be/ %R #a EnME HERG BE GED)
Dai Xiaobing Long position Shares Beneficial owner 1,375,745,000 7.82%
Efl e it fxtn EREAA
Short position Shares Beneficial owner 708,000,000 4.02%
2y & ERBAA
Long position Share options Beneficial owner/ Family interest (Note 2) 96,000,000 0.55%
3 BikiE ERBAAN/RikER (Wit2)
King Hap Lee Long position Shares Interest of controlled corporation/ 339,110,000 1.93%
2R H e i) Beneficial owner (Note 3)
Short position Shares RERARER Enka A (E3)
wE Bt Interest of controlled corporation (Note 3) 200,000,000 1.14%
Long position Share options Z S 2 AR (M 5E8)
e BRE Beneficial owner 66,000,000 0.37%
EREAA
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Number of
Interests in shares/
shares/ underlying  Percentage of
Long/short underlying shares of the  issued shares
Name of Director position shares Nature of interest Company held (Note 6)
RiH % FisA AT HERT
HERHH Bt/ RiyESH
324 Be/ XA 34 Bty HEARR 8B GED)
Wan Tze Fan Terence Long position Shares Beneficial owner 33,660,000 0.19%
BTE e f&tn ERBEA
Long position Share options Beneficial owner 66,000,000 0.37%
HE BRE EREAA
Chen Hua Long position Underlying shares  Interest of controlled corporation (Note 4) 768,971,796 4.37%
Bz i) AR REH R EE (M)
Long position Share options Beneficial owner 30,000,000 0.17%
e BRE ERBEAA
Huang Shaowu Long position Shares Interest of controlled corporation/ 1,983,730,000 11.27%
=RE e 1n Beneficial owner (Note 5)
REHATER EnEE A (i)
Short position Shares Beneficial owner (Note 5) 100,000,000 0.57%
e fxfp ExnEA A (M55)
Long position Share options Beneficial owner 17,000,000 0.10%
e BiE ERBEEA
He Lin Feng Long position Shares Beneficial owner 1,500,000,000 8.52%
A& e R fn ERBEAA
Long position Share options Beneficial owner 30,000,000 0.17%
e BRE ERBEAA
Wong Kwok Chuen Peter  Long position Share options Beneficial owner 6,000,000 0.03%
BE2 8 BfRE EREAA
Wong Lung Tak Patrick Long position Share options Beneficial owner 6,000,000 0.03%
BEE e BE ERBEAA
Wang Yanbin Long position Share options Beneficial owner 6,000,000 0.03%
FiE e BRE EREAA
Dang Weihua Long position Share options Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.02%
ERRE e BE ERBEAA
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Notes:

(1) Particulars of directors’ interests in the share options of the

Company are set out in the section “Share Option Scheme”.

2) Dr. Dai Xiaobing and his spouse, Ms. Xu Ning, hold 66,000,000
options and 30,000,000 options respectively.

(3)  Wai Tech Limited owns 200,000,000 shares and has short position
of 200,000,000 shares of the Company. Wai Tech Limited is
wholly owned by Petromic Corporation which in turn is wholly and
beneficially owned by Mr. King Hap Lee. Pursuant to the SFO, Mr.
King is taken to have interests and short position in such shares.
In addition, Mr. King beneficially owns 139,110,000 shares of the

Company.

(4) 768,971,796 underlying shares are owned by XEZEFEEEBRE R
7], a wholly owned subsidiary of R E£E AR 2 7] which is owned
as to 90% by Mr. Chen Hua. Pursuant to the SFO, Mr. Chen is

taken to be interested in such underlying shares.

(5) 1,8883,730,000 shares are owned by Yuanjing International Limited,
a company wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Huang Shaowu.
Pursuant to the SFO, Mr. Huang is taken to be interested in such
shares. In addition, Mr. Huang beneficially owns 100,000,000
shares and has short position of 100,000,000 shares of the
Company.

(6)  The issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2015
is 17,603,600,697 shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, none of
the Directors nor the chief executive had any interests or short
positions in the securities of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Issue of Convertible Bonds under General Mandate
On 15 June 2015, the Company and Harvest Progress
International Limited (“Harvest”) entered into a subscription
agreement pursuant to which the Company issued to Harvest
Convertible Bonds in the principal amount of HK$100,000,000
due 2017. Terms defined in the Company’s announcement
dated 15 June 2015 have the same meanings when used in this
paragraph. The Convertible Bonds carrying rights to subscribe
for 442,477,876 Conversion Shares ((with the aggregate nominal
value of HK$4,424,778.76) at the conversion price of HK$0.226
per share. The closing market price of the Company’s shares was
HK$0.217 per share on 15 June 2015, being the date on which
the terms relating to the issue of the Convertible Bonds were
fixed. Harvest and its ultimate beneficial owners were third parties
independent of the Company and the connected persons of the
Company (as defined in the Listing Rules). Approximately 60% of
the proceeds has been used for the acquisition of a coal washing
project in Shanxi Province in the PRC as disclosed in the interim
report 2015. The remaining balance has been used for operations
of the Group’s existing oil and gas projects and working
capital. The net conversion price per Conversion Share is about
HK$0.224. Further details of the aforesaid issue of Convertible
Bonds are set out in the announcements of the Company dated
15 June 2015 and 19 June 2015 respectively and note 33 to the
financial statements.
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Subsequent to the year end of 2015, on 26 January 2016, the
Company and CCB International Overseas Limited (“CCB”)
entered into a subscription agreement pursuant to which the
Company issued to CCB Convertible Bonds in the principal
amount of HK$200,000,000 due 2018. Terms defined in the
Company’s announcement dated 26 January 2016 have the
same meanings when used in this paragraph. The Convertible
Bonds carrying rights to subscribe for 966,183,574 Conversion
Shares ((with the aggregate nominal value of HK$9,661,835.74)
at the conversion price of HK$0.207 per share. The closing
market price of the Company’s shares was HK$0.187 on 26
January 2016, being the date on which the terms relating to the
issue of the Convertible Bonds were fixed. CCB and its ultimate
beneficial owners were third parties independent of the Company
and the connected persons of the Company (as defined in the
Listing Rules). Approximately 70% of the proceeds had been
used for settlement of the construction and operation costs
payable in respect of the Group’s Sanjiao CBM Project, the
remaining of which has been kept as bank deposits and will be
used as intended for development of oil and gas business and
for repayment of certain financial obligations. The net conversion
price per Conversion Share is about HK$0.205. Further details
of the aforesaid issue of Convertible Bonds are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 26 January 2016 and
5 February 2016 respectively and note 52 to the financial
statements.

Share Option Scheme

The Company currently has a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) which was adopted by way of an ordinary resolution
passed by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting of the
Company held on 28 May 2010.

The Scheme are in full compliance with the relevant requirements
of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The purpose of the Scheme
is to enable the Company to recognise the contributions of the
participants to the Group and to motivate the participants to
continuously work to the benefit of the Group by offering to the
participants an opportunity to have personal interest in the share
capital of the Company.
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The eligible participants includes any full-time and part-time
employee (including Directors) of the Company or its subsidiaries,
any suppliers, consultants, agents and advisers. The Scheme
became effective on 28 May 2010 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from the
date of coming into effect.

Pursuant to the Scheme, the maximum number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the Scheme shall
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of approval of the limit and such limit may be
refreshed by shareholders in general meeting. However, the total
maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Scheme and any other share option schemes must not
exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time. As at 31
December 2015, there are outstanding options for subscription of
1,496,000,000 shares under the Scheme, representing 8.5% of
the issued shares of the Company.

Under the Scheme, the maximum entitlement for any eligible
person (other than a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or any of their respective
associates) is that the total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted
in any 12-month period up to and including the date of the
latest grant does not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at the relevant time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in
general meeting. Share options to be granted to a director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or
any of their respective associates are subject to approval by
the independent non-executive directors of the Company. In
addition, any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company or any
of their respective associates, when aggregated with all share
options (whether exercised, cancelled or outstanding) already
granted to any of them during the 12-month period up to the date
of grant, in excess of 0.1 percent of the shares of the Company
in issue and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5,000,000
(based on the closing price of the shares at the date of each
grant of the options), is subject to shareholders’ approval in
general meeting of the Company.

TEBMRERBRDF e 2015 F 8] 65

Report of the Directors
EFTHESE

ECEEREEREARFANEWNER
RAlzEMEZBXRBES (BEES) REM
HER - FAA - RERBEMB - 5872010
FE5H28HEM - MKRIESITHBEHEET &
AlET B R AEB B BHER0FRB K

BIEFTEIT R 2 EREY R 2RMDEE
BEZTEBBANRERSIBAZEEITAR
AR 210% RRAI R R KNS EEHZ
BRI o AT - BT EERIEG B RAE A K Ath g
REFEELNFAERNRTEREFTHEZ
BREMAIEZETZESIROHEBE LBEAT
BBBTEDETIRM 230% ° H2015512
A318 - REr &I T A A 58 #1,496,000,000
MR R B R A M R 1T R - (AR R BB AT
B 198.5% °

REFE  FREERALT (TREARAZ
TERRKBIIFENTESRHEESE 2T
MBBEAL) 2EESEZABERERL B H
(B¥EZA) (LT f121E B #9RE A& H &%
MM EBREETERETRERITZR
NBHETBBARBHAREZARRE BT
R0 21%  FHE— SR D 2 EREMBER
SEBRHI - BIZES B R R R A& E#t & -
MARRESHITRAH I EERRKET
MBBEBATRHERE HEASEAQRBETL
FEMITEEHHE FOIEE 1IN IRM
ARABEEREXBLIFRHITE Bl E T
EATEENEMEBERE SEREREZR
RO BB+ @A BAMERO G ERE
(THREGRDEITE  FEHIEKRITHE) & HF
HMBARNAEBEITRMH01% BEEEB
5,000,000 L (IS XERERLEA KRG
WHEE)  MEASTKRERARRIRERE
& HAIEE -




Report of the Directors
EFERETE

The period within which an option may be exercised under
the Scheme will be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion. Under the Scheme, an option may not be exercised
after the expiration of 10 years from the date of grant of the
option.

Pursuant to the Scheme, the exercise price in relation to each
option shall be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion,
but in any event shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheet on the date of grant of such option; and
(i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of such option.

Some further disclosures relating to the Scheme are set out in
note 36 to the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2015, the directors and employees of the
Group had the following personal interests in options to subscribe
for shares of the Company granted at nominal consideration
under the Scheme. Each option gives the holder the right to
subscribe for one share. No option was exercised during the year.
Details of share options held by the Directors and employees
of the Group and movements in such holdings during the year
ended 31 December 2015 are as follows:
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Number of options
RRiESE
Granted Exercise
Outstanding at during Lapsed Outstanding Date of Exercise  price per
1 January the year during at 31 grant period share
2015 (note 1&2) the year December 2015 (D.M.Y) (D.M.Y) HK$
R2015% R2015% Bk
1A18 REHRH RERXR 12A318 idiil =L TR 2ZfTEM
R 1T (HEE1R2) i R AT (B.B.5) (B.B.F) BT
Directors
£
Dai Xiaobing 36,000,000 - - 36,000,000 06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276
i8S - 30,000,000 - 30,000,000 23.11.2015  23.11.2015-22.11.2018 0.222
King Hap Lee 36,000,000 - - 36,000,000 06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276
27 - 30,000,000 - 30,000,000 23.11.2015 23.11.2015-22.11.2018 0.222
Wan Tze Fan Terence 36,000,000 - - 36,000,000 06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276
BT - 30,000,000 - 30,000,000 23.11.2015 23.11.2015-22.11.2018 0.222
Chen Hua - 30,000,000 - 30,000,000 23.11.2015 23.11.2015-22.11.2018 0.222
Rz
Huang Shaowu - 17,000,000 - 17,000,000 23.11.2015 23.11.2015-22.11.2018 0.222
BRH
He Lin Feng - 30,000,000 - 30,000,000 23.11.2015 23.11.2015-22.11.2018 0.222
fel &
Wong Kwok Chuen Peter 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276
Eka - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 23.11.2015 23.11.2015-22.11.2018 0.222
Wong Lung Tak Patrick 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276
EEE - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 23.11.2015  23.11.2015-22.11.2018 0.222
Wang Yanbin 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276
LR - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 23.11.2015 23.11.2015-22.11.2018 0.222
Dang Weihua - 3,000,000 - 3,000,000 23.11.2015 23.11.2015-22.11.2018 0.222
Employees 338,700,000 - 17,700,000 321,000,000 06.12.2011 06.12.2011-05.12.2021 0.276
&8 - 879,000,000 - 879,000,000 23.11.2015 23.11.2015-22.11.2018 0.222
Total 455,700,000  1,058,000,000 17,700,000  1,496,000,000
#it
(=11
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Report of the Directors
EFERETE

Notes:

(1) On 23 November 2015, the Company granted 1,058,000,000
options to eligible persons at an exercise price of HK$0.222 per
share exercisable for three years from 23 November 2015, being
the date of grant. Out of these options, 30,000,000 options and
10,000,000 options were granted (and remained outstanding as
at 31 December 2015) to Ms. Xu Ning (being Dr. Dai Xiaobing’s
spouse and she has provided personal guarantee to a loan facility
of RMB1,000 million to Orion Energy International Inc. (“Orion”), a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company) and Ms. Dai Qing Fang
(being the deputy general manager of Orion and Dr. Dai Xiaobing’s

sister) respectively.

(2)  The closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before 23
November 2015, being the date of grant, was HK$0.22.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the sections “Directors’ Interests
in Shares and Underlying Shares” and “Share Option Scheme”,
at no time during the year was the Company or any of its
associated corporations a party to any arrangement to enable
the directors of the Company or any of their spouses or children
under eighteen years of age to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2015, the following persons, not being a

AND

Director or chief executive of the Company, had an interest or
short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company

as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336
of the SFO:
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Long position in the shares and underlying shares of

the Company

Interests in shares/

Report of the Directors

EFEREE

Number of

shares/ underlying

REAABRGRERARGPHERZEZA

Percentage of
issued shares

Name underlying shares Nature of interest shares held (Note 4)
1GE BT

R R Frisig s,/ R EHEE

Z% HEA R EamtE HE KRB EE (BiizE4)

Substantial shareholders

TERE

Yuanjing International Limited Shares Beneficial owner 1,883,730,000 10.70%

(Note 1)

BSBBRAERAA (M) & 1n ERHEAA

Other persons

His At

Cai Xue Yan (Note 2) Underlying shares Beneficial owner 898,203,592 5.10%

2E2E (f2) g EREAA

CDB Leasing Co., Ltd. (Note 3) Shares Security interest 2,296,000,000 13.04%

HiRemAERR A (PHF3) & £ REE S

Notes: B 5T -

1,8883,730,000 shares are owned by Yuanjing International Limited,
a company wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Huang Shaowu (a
non-executive director of the Company).

During the year, Sunny Merit Holdings Corp. transferred convertible
notes in the principal amount of HK$150,000,000 due in 2016 with
right to convert the convertible notes into shares of the Company
at a conversion price of HK$0.167 per share to Mr. Cai Xue Yan.
Based on the conversion price of HK$0.167 per share, a maximum
of 898,203,592 shares may be allotted and issued upon exercise of
the conversion rights attached to the convertible notes in full. The
convertible notes give rise to an interest in 898,203,592 underlying
shares of the Company of Mr. Cai Xue Yan.

Regarding the security interest in 2,296,000,000 shares being
held by CDB Leasing Co., Ltd. (“*CDB”), China Development Bank
Corporation which holds 88.95% interest in CDB is deemed to have
security interest in such shares.

The issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2015
is 17,603,600,697 shares.
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Report of the Directors
EFERETE

Saved as disclosed above in this section, as at 31 December
2015, the Company has not been notified of any other persons
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) who
had any interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of retirement schemes operated by local authorities in
the PRC. The Group also operates a defined contribution scheme
covering full time employees in Hong Kong. Details of employee
retirement benefits are set out in note 35 to the financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS

Particulars of the directors’ remuneration and highest paid
individuals’ emoluments are set out in note 11 and note 12 to the
financial statements respectively.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, subject to the applicable
laws and regulations, the directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in or
about the execution of their duty in their offices. Such permitted
indemnity provision has been in force throughout the year and is
still in force. In addition, the Company has arranged appropriate
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the
directors and senior executives of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 49 to the financial statements, no
contracts of significance subsisted at any time during the year to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director of the Company had material interest, whether

directly or indirectly.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its directors, as of the date of this
report, there is sufficient public float of the shares with not less
than 25% of the total issued shares of the Company as required
under the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF

LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company
repurchased a total of 350,330,000 shares on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for enhancing its per share’s
net asset value and earnings. All the repurchased shares were
subsequently cancelled. Details of the repurchase of shares are

Report of the Directors
EFTHESE

ARFRE
BEAARTRENENREFESHM R
AFERS ARALBEARAMEGESR
TR T 1025% « & EFRAIMRE -

BE BEOfHELTES

HE2015F12A31B ILFE - ARREARQ A
HNEREEFERAN  KQGEHZE
51 i% 19 $£350,330,000/% © 2 #0 B [B] A9 iR 1n 48
EREkEH BEBROHOFBOT

as follows:
Price per share
Bk ERE
Month of Total
repurchase during Number of consideration
the year ended shares Highest Lowest (excluding
31 December 2015 repurchased HK$ HK$ expenses)
HK$'000
H ZE20155
12A31BLLEE ¥ =& HIRE
ZHEEA B EERGHE BT B (FBEER)
FHT
April 4 H 5,000,000 0.187 0.184 931
June 6 H 68,500,000 0.218 0.211 14,694
July 7H 178,950,000 0.200 0.124 30,990
August 8H 89,400,000 0.190 0.164 16,238
September 9H 7,800,000 0.184 0.175 1,391
October 10H 680,000 0.170 0.165 118
Total: aat 350,330,000 64,357
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Report of the Directors
EFTHESE

Except as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the listed
securities of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2015.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws in Bermuda which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

AUDITOR
The financial statements for the year have been audited by BDO
Limited who retires and, being eligible, offers for re-appointment.

By order of the Board
Dai Xiaobing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2016
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Tel : +852 2541 5041
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk
|

EEE - +852 2541 5041
{8E : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SINO OIL AND GAS
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 75 to 200,
which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position
as at 31 December 2015, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.
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Independent Auditor's Report
BIAZBEMESTE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (Continued)

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2015 and of its financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Cheung Or Ping

Practising Certificate Number P05412

Hong Kong, 30 March 2016

74

ZEET 2 B ()

AEDRBEERHMAREGZEBEY
EAETERTNE RS ENREATET
BEAW LRERBEIEREIE AR
RRGA M IERER D TEE EAERBL -

ERERETERABSRAVBHRRAATHE
EEBEERZERREZEF MERZE
FRIEZEE 2 HEMmE SRFGEEYT
BREARDFHEARNMFHERMER B
RNEBRRA R - FFEZFRRE - Z 2
TZEREZERRESAMBRRMAM LA
BH NSHRAMBREFLEEAFZR
B WIRBERRTEE 2 BZERF EAF
EEHRERZIAFZEFRARTIER - &
BRTERFEMERZEFRRREEE
EEFHZ ARG AE  URFGEE
BRI ZERIIR -

AIRARITEREES RS 2 BRES -
AR BRERZ -

BER

RIRRB HREVBREREBEE BV BER
HENEEATHRE S5EMR2015512
AR BHR AR EEBHEZBLSF
EZHBERAASRE  VERBRESA
ARG Z HEBHREZRRE

BRI IEERETMERAARAT
HEEEAD

5 o] J

HEEEHEP05412

& 20164E3 A30H

Annual Report 2015 e Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
FREEAEBRE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 # £20154F1231H L F &

2015 2014
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
fitx FHER FTHET
Turnover X 6&15 67,021 16,540
Direct cost HEMRA (63,358) (19,739)
Gross profit/(loss) £/ (£8) 3,663 (3,199)
Other revenue H AU A 7 95,327 76,385
Other losses, net Hith BB 55 8 (410,104) (1,126)
Administrative expenses THER (149,735) (62,101)
(Loss)/profit from operations g (BE) /aF (460,849) 9,959
Finance costs BER A 9(a) (6,008) (329)
Share of loss of a joint venture EiE—XeEbEBE 21 (587) (628)
Share of loss of an associate 5 —KEt & R AEE 22 (1,203) (283)
(Loss)/profit before income tax expense BRETER Y LA (BB) 8F 9 (468,647) 8,719
Income tax (expense)/credit PEH () /R 10 (9,064) 1,701
(Loss)/profit for the year AEE (BB) /& (477,7111) 10,420
Other comprehensive income, after tax He2Ea - REE
ltem that may be reclassified to profit or loss:  FlatEH N EERH2ER ¢
Exchange differences on translating MEBNEB ERLER
foreign operation (110,428) (60,868)
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEZAMRERE (588,139) (50,448)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: T AL (B18B) /57
Owners of the Company AARER A (478,521) 10,420
Non-controlling interests R 810 =
(477,711) 10,420
Total comprehensive income attributable to: ATATEER2ERE
Owners of the Company AAREAR A (588,922) (50,448)
Non-controlling interests FERER 783 =
(588,139) (50,448)
(Loss)/earning per share SR(BR) /BF
- Basic — &R 14 (2.682) HK centsi#{ll 0.064 HK cents/{ll
- Diluted -8 14 N/ATE 0.060 HK cents 1l
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e MBKAE

As at 31 December 2015 1420151231 H

2015 2014
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
[ TR THET T T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment nE - BERSE 16 1,699,730 206,242
Gas exploration and evaluation assets ~ AAREFRIRHEE 17 - 3,749,048
Payment for leasehold land held for BRAS TR
own use 18 4,812 -
Intangible assets BVEE 19 2,341,404 207,527
Goodwill HE 20 99,896 -
Interest in a joint venture R—ReaEtx g 21 - 587
Interest in an associate i NG P 3 22 60,118 62,448
Available-for-sale investment tEHESHEE 23 22,417 -
Deposits and prepayments ke RBNHE 26 21,235 19,240
Loan receivables ERE R 24 2,092 2,880
Total non-current assets ERYEELE 4,251,704 4,287,972
Current assets RBHEE
Inventories & 25 10,981 15,163
Trade, notes and other receivables, YR BUER
deposits and prepayments HipEWES e REMNFE 26 289,122 295,622
Short-term investment BARE 27 76,729 80,330
Loan receivables R E R 24 1,267 637
Amount due from a joint venture ElR—REEEERE 21 320 -
Cash and cash equivalents RekReSEY 28 35,564 19,455
Total current assets MEEELE 413,983 411,207
Total assets BEE 4,665,687 4,699,179
Current liabilities mEPaE
Other payables and accruals HitEAFERERER 29 (237,575) (160,030)
Warrant liability RREEEE 30 - (1,955)
Borrowings EE 32 (186,155) (124,930)
Convertible notes HRRER 33 (192,029) =
Taxation B (7,072) (2,373)
Total current liabilities BB ERE (622,831) (289,288)
Net current (liabilities)/assets RE(BR) BEFE (208,848) 121,919
Total assets less current liabilities @EERREHE &K 4,042,856 4,409,891
Non-current liabilities EREER
Provisions BE 31 (2,409) (1,280)
Borrowings B8 32 (416,366) (187,395)
Convertible notes RREE 33 (93,221) (160,750)
Deferred tax BT 34 (27,555) (6,477)
Total non-current liabilities EnPaELE (539,551) (355,902)
BEFHE 3,503,305 4,053,989

> NET ASSETS
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e MBKRAE

As at 31 December 2015 R20154F 1231 H

2015 2014
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
i3 TER THET THL THT
Capital and reserves attributable to AATHEEAEIEEFREE
owners of the Company
Share capital A 37(a) 176,036 179,539
Reserves [t 3,312,601 3,874,450
Equity attributable to owners of KDAEE AELER
the Company 3,488,637 4,053,989
Non-controlling interests JEvE R & 40 14,668 =
TOTAL EQUITY aER 3,503,305 4,053,989
On behalf of the directors
REESE
Dai Xiaobing Wan Tze Fan Terence
M Y E
Director Director
EZE EZE
REHRERERDE 2015 F 77




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REHEREDR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 & £2015F1231H IL F &

Equity
Share Convertible attributable Non-
Share Share  Contributed option Warrant  note equity Exchange  Accumulated to ownersof  controlling
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses ~ the Company interests Total
BRE  ZREE  THEER KATREA

BF  RBER  AeER fiff B BRER  ERGR PR BEER  REBER it
HEGOO  HKGOD  HKSOD  HKSOWD  HKSOM  HKSO  HKSOD  HKSO0  HKBOD  HKSOD  HKSON
Th A A Thi Th A A Thi Th A A

At1 January 2014 0141818 147,539 3,737,663 81,043 48,020 1,250 15,913 64,984 (649,175) 3447237 - 3,447,237
Profit for the year RER A - - - - - - = 10420 10420 - 10420
Other comprehensive income. ~ Ef2NE - - - - - - (60,868) - (60,368) - (60,868)

Tota comprehensive income.~ AEE 2 ANEEE

for e ear - - - - - B T N V- N T - By
Sharesissued onplcing ~ EREEARR

ote 37l (K237l DU 6520 - - - - - - T
Releass upon lapse of vested  HESBARERKHE

warrants (note 37(a)v) B (7)) - - - - (1,250) - - 1,250 - - -
Release upon kpse of share.~ NERERE

options (note37(a)) EEIGRRIE)] - - - (12.23) - - - 12,28 - - -
At 31 December 2014 1A201412R318 179,539 4,362,863 81,043 35,185 - 15,913 4116 (625,270) 4,053,989 - 4,053,989
Loss for the year KEERR - - - - - - - (78521 (478321) 810 (lvgpal)
Other comprehensive income £ 2E 4 - - - - - - (110,401) - (H10401) ) (110,428

Total comprehensive nome.~ AEF2ANEAE

for the yer - - - - - 1 N .7 w8
Issuance of converible notes &7 ARZH (Hit03)

(note 33) - - - - - 10,409 - - 10,409 - 10,409
Issue of share options R RE (W)

Iote 36 - - - 77518 - - - - 77518 - 77518
Released upon lapse of share ~ REREX NG

options (note 37(a]) CEIGRERIET) - - - (1,509) - - - 1509 - - -
Aoquistion of subsidares ~~ HENBAR (Rit42)

(note 42) - - - - - - - - - 13,885 13885
Share repurchased and RAEER:EH

caceled ote 7 ) (EE8TE) BSE (60854 - - - - - S S
MY December 2015 RAOISEAYE 16006 40000 BB 11T - NI (0625 (110228  S4BET M 355
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HaBeaRER

For the year ended 31 December 2015 # £20154F1231H L F &

2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TERT FET
Operating activities MBS
(Loss)/profit before income tax expense BRETIS B AT (B518) /& F (468,647) 8,719
Adjustments for: AEIER
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% - BiE M &R ETE 8,494 3,798
Amortisation of intangible assets BREECEH 7,269 549
Amortisation of payment for leasehold land BRMAE LM #iH
held for own use 21 -
Interest expense A2 6,008 329
Interest income FEWA (7,766) (3,587)
(Gain)loss on disposal/written off of HE/FHEBERHREZ
plant and equipment Cafl) /B8 (110) 692
Share of loss of a joint venture BiE—REELEER 587 628
Share of loss of an associate B —RBE QR EE 1,203 283
Change in fair value of warrant liability REEZEELATEEZS (1,955) (1,527)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEM B AR 2 s - (1,714)
Equity-settled share-based payment WAL E AR D 2 X
expenses 77,518 -
Impairment loss on property, M BEREEREERE
plant and equipment 204,562 -
Impairment loss on intangible assets BREEREBE 209,064 =
Deposits and other receivables written off 12 & RE A e WOR R - 3,642
Operating profit before changes in ZESSEHuEERN
working capital 36,248 11,812
Decrease in inventories FERD 4,182 6,186
(Increase)/decrease in trade, notes and other ~ FEUERFN - EUNZE 1 - E b EUBR R »
receivables, deposits and prepayments Be RBMZBOEM) RS (36,497) 47,611
Increase in amount due from a joint venture B —RE & B EFRIBE M (320) -
Increase/(decrease) in other payables Hip e B RIERE BN, Oh D)
and accruals 85,028 (49,083)
Net cash from operating activities BELBHBZEHEFE 88,641 16,526
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Consolidated Statement of Gash Flows

FeRaRER

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #£2015F 1231 H IEF &

2015 2014
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
(= FHET FET
Investing activities BEEE
Payment of purchase of property, BAWE  BERZHERK
plant and equipment 16 (3,441) (1,826)
Payment of purchase of intangible assets BEEVEEMNK 19 (543) (819)
Payment of purchase of short term investment & B %2 BA#% & 3 - (80,431)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME BEREE
plant and equipment P15 5138 110 =
Payment of purchase of gas exploration and BAXRREEKTE
evaluation assets BENK (194,664) (108,300)
Deposit paid for the possible acquisition of EENEIEALEYIEPN
Canada oil fields MAZEE 26((ii) - (287,678)
Increase in loan receivables JIE U & 23 A0 - (3,517)
Decrease in pledge bank deposits BEEBRITE R - 7,832
Acquisition of subsidiaries W B B 8 2 A 42 (62,466) =
Interest received WA E 5,230 532
Interest paid BB (42,560) (46,663)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries & M8 A Rl AT 15 5118 41 - 675
Net cash used in investing activities BREFHFMAZHEEEFE (298,334) (515,195)
Financing activities A& EE
Proceeds from issuance of shares BTG I KIA 37(a)iii) - 657,200
Payment for repurchase of shares EAER SHENEA 37(a)(ii) (64,357) -
Proceeds from borrowings fEE 15 IE 32 325,595 =
Repayment of borrowings BEEE 32 (123,400) (157,959)
Proceeds from convertible notes issued, net BB EEAMSHIBEFE 33 97,600 =
Repayment to loans from directors BEEZEER - (7,855)
Proceeds from loans from shareholders IREREFRETS A - 34,350
Repayment to loans from shareholders EBEREER (14,207) (17,500)
Net cash generated from financing REGFHELEZHEEE
activities 221,231 508,236
Net increase in cash and HRERRSEREY
cash equivalents nEE 11,538 9,567
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January M1A1BZEE RIS ZEY 19,455 17,536
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes Exggzpd 4,571 (7,648)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December, 128318 Z2HE&RIE L
representing cash and bank balances ZEY DHEERRITEE 28 35,564 19,455
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1. GENERAL

Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited was incorporated as an
exempted company with limited liability in Bermuda on 2
November 1999 under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended) and its shares were listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 9 February
2000. The registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are located at 26 Burnaby Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda and Suite 3707-3708, West Tower, Shun
Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong,
respectively.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 39.

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs - effective
1 January 2015

HKFRSs (Amendments)

BAVBERELER ZIEF]

HKFRSs (Amendments)

BB BRELER 2B

Amendments to HKAS 19 (2011)

BB EFTEAFE195R BT (20114F)

The adoption of these amendments has no material impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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As at 31 December 2015 R20154F 1231 H

— & H

HR L AR B R A AR IR B 51981
FRADE (KEFT) R1999F11 H2R &
BREZMKNIAZHREER AR - &
IR 15 20002 AOR R BB E X S5 F
BRABERLET - AR A 2 M S
B E B IS RIfIA26 Burnaby
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda & % /&
T % 18 F 168-2005% {5 /& # /0 78 FE3707-
3708 o

ARRA-RREZRAR  LHEA
A2 EBEH A -
FRANEEY B &R & EA

(a) REHET EIETEEUBR
H£HR-2015F1A1B AR

Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle

FE 2 #2010-201258 57

Annual Improvements 2011-2013 Cycle

F[E 2 #2011-2013 A 5

Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions
EREMAGTE - EEHK

ROZSETHARBYERELEE
AHE -

S
E




Notes to the Financial Statements
R4 35 38 = P &

As at 31 December 2015 R2015%F 12431 H

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. ENEEUBREERN(E)
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued

but are not yet effective
The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to

(b) EHEMEERERZHT &
BT EEM B R & EA

REE W AR A TSI EBEMHIEE R

R ZHE] G BB IS RE R -

not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the BA ¥R ] g B AN & [ 2 Bf #S i & 10

Group. 7 o

the Group’s financial statements, have been issued, but are

Amendments to HKAS 1
EREGEREIR 2ER]
Amendments to HKAS 27
BB G ERFE27H 2 EF]
HKFRS 9 (2014)
ER MR EERFNR (20145F)
Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28
RV BREERFE105 &

BER G ERF285% 2 1EF]

Disclosure Initiative’

BET &

Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements'

CERVAE T E A £

Financial Instruments®

BT A

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture?

REEBHBERNAXALRECRZEELE
T &2

Amendments to HKFRS 11
BB R ELERIFE115R 2(E5]

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations!

WEAEXHHS 28t R

HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts!

BB RS ERFE145 EERLKRE"

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers?®

BB RE LR FE155 PG HAS

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January g M2016F1 A1 Sk 2 B R 1A 00 F E Hi
2016 A& 2

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be 2 2 EFEHRS RGN FER
determined il A 2K

@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January € R2018F1 A1H =k 2 & Rl 16 /) F [E HA
2018 B R
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Notes to the Financial Statements

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 — Disclosure Initiative

The amendments are designed to encourage entities to use

judgement in the application of HKAS 1 when considering

the layout and content of their financial statements.

An entity’s share of other comprehensive income from
equity accounted interests in associates and joint ventures
will be split between those items that will and will not be
reclassified to profit or loss, and presented in aggregate as
a single line item within those two groups.

Amendments to HKAS 27 - Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements

The amendments allow an entity to apply the equity method
in accounting for its investments in subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates in its separate financial statements.

HKFRS 9 (2014) — Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets. Debt instruments
that are held within a business model whose objective is
to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows
(the business model test) and that have contractual terms
that give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding
(the contractual cash flow characteristics test) are generally
measured at amortised cost. Debt instruments that meet
the contractual cash flow characteristics test are measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”)
if the objective of the entity’s business model is both to
hold and collect the contractual cash flows and to sell the
financial assets. Entities may make an irrevocable election
at initial recognition to measure equity instruments that are
not held for trading at FVTOCI. All other debt and equity
instruments are measured at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”).
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. FNEEUBREEN(E)

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued

but are not yet effective (Continued)
HKFRS 9 (2014) — Financial Instruments (Continued)

HKFRS 9 includes a new expected loss impairment model
for all financial assets not measured at FVTPL replacing the
incurred loss model in HKAS 39 and new general hedge
accounting requirements to allow entities to better reflect
their risk management activities in financial statements.

HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification and
measurement requirements for financial liabilities from HKAS
39, except for financial liabilities designated at FVTPL,
where the amount of change in fair value attributable to
change in credit risk of the liability is recognised in other
comprehensive income unless that would create or enlarge
an accounting mismatch. In addition, HKFRS 9 retains the
requirements in HKAS 39 for derecognition of financial
assets and financial liabilities.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 - Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify the extent of gains or losses to be
recognised when an entity sells or contributes assets to its
associate or joint venture. When the transaction involves a
business the gain or loss is recognised in full, conversely
when the transaction involves assets that do not constitute
a business the gain or loss is recognised only to the extent
of the unrelated investors’ interests in the joint venture or

associate.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)
(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 11- Accounting for Acquisitions of
Interests in Joint Operations
The amendments require an entity to apply all of the
principles of HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” when it
acquires an interest in a joint operation that constitutes
a business as defined in that standard. The principles of
HKFRS 3 are also applied upon the formation of a joint
operation if an existing business as defined in that standard
is contributed by at least one of the parties.

HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The new standard establishes a single revenue recognition
framework. The core principle of the framework is that an
entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods and services. HKFRS
15 supersedes existing revenue recognition guidance
including HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS 11 “Construction
Contracts” and related interpretations.

HKFRS 15 requires the application of a 5 steps approach to
revenue recognition:

o Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

° Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

o Step 3: Determine the transaction price

° Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to each
performance obligation

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when each performance

obligation is satisfied

HKFRS 15 includes specific guidance on particular revenue
related topics that may change the current approach taken
under HKFRS. The standard also significantly enhances the
qualitative and quantitative disclosures related to revenue.
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ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(Continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the

impact of adopting the above standards and amendments

to existing standards to the Group. The Group is not yet

in a position to state whether these new pronouncements

will result in substantial changes to the Group’s accounting

policies and financial statements.

(c) New Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
provisions relating to the preparation of
financial statements

The provisions of the new Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance, Cap. 622, in relation to the preparation of

financial statements and directors’ reports became effective

for the Company for the financial year ended 31 December

2015. The disclosure requirements set out in the Rules

Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange

of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) regarding annual

financial statements have been amended with reference

to the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, Cap. 622.

Accordingly, the presentation and disclosure of information

in the consolidated financial statements for the financial year

ended 31 December 2015 have been changed to comply
with these new requirements. Comparative information in

respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2014

are presented or disclosed in the consolidated financial

statements based on the new requirements.

86

2.

RMEEMBREER (F)

(b) EEMHERKERZHT &
&R ERM R &R (B)
AEEC R A ERA LR MIRE
EUAZETHARBZEE - AKHE R
RERDUEEHR ML K HARE
SRR EMBERREBAERES -

(c) HBEASGROIBAERUE
WMRZBE

A B R ARG ($622F) A B B 15 3K
RREEREFREZHEEERNAREE
FE2015F12H31B LI B FEEETT ©
EEMARSABRAREFH LA
([EmBAD FMEEAFEEM B RKZ
BBERECL2EMEB L AEM (F622
) MEE] - Bt - # £20155F12 A 31
HIEMBFE 2 GEMBREAZER
2 RFED TERANETHETRE -
EBHEZH E2014F12A31H LB EF
EZhBRERERBEHNEERGE MK
WERANZ IR -

Annual Report 2015 e Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited



Notes to the Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRS”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Listing Rules.

(b) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis, except for certain financial
instruments, which are measured at fair values as explained
in the accounting policies set out below.

(c) Functional and presentational currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates.
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$”), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EESiTHEK

(a) Business combination and basis of
consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”). Inter-company transactions and balances
between group companies together with unrealised profits
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment on the asset
transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income from the effective dates of
acquisition or up to the effective dates of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with those used by other members of the
Group.

Acquisitions of subsidiaries or businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-date fair value
of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests
issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed are principally measured
at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured at
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or losses
are recognised in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on
a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure the non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary either at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
All other non-controlling interests are measured at fair value
unless another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.
Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed unless they
are incurred in issuing equity instruments in which case the
costs are deducted from equity.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(a) Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair value.
Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognised
against goodwill only to the extent that they arise from
new information obtained within the measurement period
(a maximum of 12 months from the acquisition date) about
the fair value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent
adjustments to contingent consideration classified as an
asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.

Contingent consideration balances arising from business
combinations whose acquisition dates preceded 1 January
2010 (i.e. the date the Group first applied HKFRS 3 (2008))
have been accounted for in accordance with the transition
requirements in the standard. Such balances are not
adjusted upon first application of the standard. Subsequent
revisions to estimates of such consideration are treated as
adjustments to the cost of these business combinations and
are recognised as part of goodwiill.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interest
and the non-controlling interest are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interest is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(a) Business combination and basis of
consolidation (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and
(i) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are
accounted for in the same manner as would be required if
the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests at
initial recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s share
of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive
income is attributed to such non-controlling interests even if
this results in those non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

(b) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able
to exercise control. The Company controls an investee if
all three of the following elements are present: power over
the investee, exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
the investee, and the ability to use its power to affect those
variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of
these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(c) Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recognised at cost being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests in the acquiree and
the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of
identifiable assets and liabilities acquired.

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
exceed the aggregate of the fair value of consideration
paid, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree, the excess
is recognised in profit or loss on the acquisition date, after
re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from
an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit is the
smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash
inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows
from other assets or groups of assets. A cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually, by comparing its carrying amount with
its recoverable amount (see note 4(s)), and whenever there
is an indication that the unit may be impaired.

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year,
the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that
financial year. When the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit,
the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first, and then
to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the
carrying amount to each asset in the unit. However, the loss
allocated to each asset will not reduce the individual asset’s
carrying amount to below its fair value less cost of disposal
(if measurable) or its value in use (if determinable), whichever
is the higher. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised
in profit or loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R4 35 38 = P &

As at 31 December 2015 1420151231 H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(d) Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but not control or joint control over those
policies.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method
whereby they are initially recognised at cost and thereafter,
their carrying amount are adjusted for the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition change in the associates’ net assets
except that losses in excess of the Group’s interest in the
associate are not recognised unless there is an obligation to
make good those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the
Group and its associates are recognised only to the
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate.
The investor’s share in the associate’s profits and losses
resulting from these transactions is eliminated against the
carrying value of the associate. Where unrealised losses
provide evidence of impairment of the asset transferred they
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of
the Group’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and included
in the carrying amount of the associate. Where there is
objective evidence that the investment in an associate has
been impaired, the carrying amount of the investment is
tested for impairment in the same way as other non-financial

assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(e) Joint arrangements

The group is a party to a joint arrangement where there is a
contractual arrangement that confers joint control over the
relevant activities of the arrangement to the group and at
least one other party. Joint control is assessed under the
same principles as control over subsidiaries.

The group classifies its interests in joint arrangements as
either:

° Joint ventures: where the group has rights to only the
net assets of the joint arrangement; or

o Joint operations: where the group has both the rights
to assets and obligations for the liabilities of the joint
arrangement.

In assessing the classification of interests in joint
arrangements, the Group considers:

o The structure of the joint arrangement;

o The legal form of joint arrangements structured
through a separate vehicle;

o The contractual terms of the joint arrangement
agreement; and

o Any other facts and circumstances (including any other
contractual arrangements).

The Group accounts for its interests in joint ventures in the
same manner as investments in associates (i.e. using the
equity method — see note 4(d)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R4 35 38 = P &

As at 31 December 2015 1420151231 H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(e) Joint arrangements (Continued)

Any premium paid for an investment in a joint venture above
the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised
and included in the carrying amount of the investment in
joint venture. Where there is objective evidence that the
investment in a joint venture has been impaired the carrying
amount of the investment is tested for impairment in the
same way as other non-financial assets.

The Group accounts for its production sharing contracts as
joint operations by recognising its share of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses in accordance with its contractually
conferred rights and obligations.

(f) Property, plant and equipment

The property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Expenditure on the construction, installation or completion
of infrastructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines and
the drilling of development wells is capitalised as oil and gas
properties under property, plant and equipment.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to
write off their cost net of expected residual value over
their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis except
for oil and gas properties which are depreciated by the
units of production method. The useful lives, residual value
and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The useful
lives are as follows:

Building 20 years
The shorter of their

estimated useful lives

- Leasehold improvements

or the lease term
- CNG station, building and 20 years
ancillary facilities

- QOil and gas properties Units of production

- Furniture, fixtures and 3 — 10 years
office equipment
- Motor vehicles 4 — 5 years
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R4 35 38 = P &

As at 31 December 2015 1420151231 H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Construction in progress is stated at cost less impairment
losses. Cost comprises direct costs of construction as
well as borrowing costs capitalised during the periods of
construction and installation. Capitalisation of these costs
ceases and the construction in progress is transferred to
the appropriate class of property, plant and equipment
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the
assets for their intended use are completed. No depreciation
is provided for in respect of construction in progress until it
is completed and ready for its intended use.

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s
estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in
profit or loss on disposal.

(g) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

() Acquired intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is fair value at the date of acquisition.
Subsequently, intangible assets with finite useful lives
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(g) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

(i) Acquired intangible assets (Continued)
Amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis over their
useful lives as follows:

— Oil and gas operation rights
— Favourable supplier agreement

Units of production
10 years

Motor vehicle registration licenses with indefinite useful lives
are carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

The amortisation expense is recognised in profit or loss and
included in direct costs.

(i) Impairment

Intangible assets with finite lives are tested for impairment
when there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment
annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication
that they may be impaired. Intangible assets are tested for
impairment by comparing their carrying amounts with their
recoverable amounts (see note 4(s)).

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is
reduced to its recoverable amount.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount; however, the carrying
amount should not be increased above the lower of its
recoverable amount and the carrying amount that would
have resulted had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. All reversals are recognised in the
income statement immediately.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R4 35 38 = P &

As at 31 December 2015 1420151231 H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(h) Gas exploration and evaluation assets

Gas exploration and evaluation activity involves the search
for mineral resources, the determination of technical
feasibility and the assessment of commercial viability of an
identified resource.

The licence costs paid in connection with a right to explore
are capitalised as gas exploration and evaluation asset.
Once the legal right to explore has been acquired, costs
directly associated with an exploration well are capitalised as
gas exploration and evaluation assets until the drilling of the
well is complete and the results have been evaluated. These
costs include directly attributable employee remuneration,
materials and fuel used, rig costs and payments made to
contractors

Geological and geophysical costs are also capitalised as
gas exploration and evaluation asset.

If extractable coalbed methane are found and, subject to
further appraisal activity (e.g. the drilling of additional wells),
are likely to be capable of being commercially developed,
the costs continue to be carried as an intangible assets
while sufficient/continued progress is made in assessing
the commerciality of the coalbed methane. Costs directly
associated with appraisal activity undertaken to determine
the size, characteristics and commercial potential of a
reservoir following the initial discovery of coalbed methane,
including the costs of appraisal wells where coalbed
methane were not found, are initially capitalised as an
intangible asset.

All such capitalised costs are subject to technical,
commercial and management review as well as review for
indicators of impairment at least once a year. This is to
confirm the continued intent to develop or otherwise extract
value from the discovery. When this is no longer the case,
the costs are written off to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(h) Gas exploration and evaluation assets
(Continued)

When proved reserves of coalbed methane are identified,
development is sanctioned by management and approved
by relevant government bodies, the relevant capitalised
expenditure is first assessed for impairment and (if required)
any impairment loss is recognised, then the remaining
balance is reclassified to intangible assets and oil and
gas properties under property, plant and equipment. After
reclassification, amortisation or depreciation will be provided
for the respective assets consistent with the relevant
accounting policy. No amortisation or depreciation is
charged during the exploration and evaluation phase.

() Payments for leasehold land held for own
use

Payments for leasehold land held for own use represent

up-front payments to acquire long-term interests in lessee-

occupied properties. These payments are stated at cost and

are amortised over the period of the lease on a straight-line

basis as an expense.

() Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessee

The total rentals payable under the operating leases are
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Lease incentives received are recognised as an
integrated part of the total rental expense, over the term of
the lease.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R4 35 38 = P &

As at 31 December 2015 1420151231 H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments

() Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets at initial recognition,
depending on the purpose for which the asset was
acquired. Financial assets are initially measured at fair value
plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets. Regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. A regular way purchase or sale is a
purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose
terms require delivery of the asset within the time frame
established generally by regulation or convention in the
marketplace concerned.

Loans and receivables

These assets are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. They arise principally through the provision
of goods and services to customers (trade debtors), and
also incorporate other types of contractual monetary
asset. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets

These assets are non-derivative financial assets that are
designated as available-for-sale or are not included in
other categories of financial assets. Subsequent to initial
recognition, these assets are carried at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive
income, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange
gains and losses on monetary instruments, which are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group assesses, at the end of each reporting period,
whether there is any objective evidence that financial asset
is impaired. Financial asset is impaired if there is objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events
that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
and that event has an impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include:

o significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments;

o granting concession to a debtor because of debtor’s
financial difficulty; or

o it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

Loans and receivables

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and
is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. The
carrying amount of financial asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account. When any part of financial
asset is determined as uncollectible, it is written off against
the allowance account for the relevant financial asset.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods
when an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, subject to a restriction that the carrying
amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R4 35 38 = P &

As at 31 December 2015 1420151231 H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

For available-for-sale financial assets

Where a decline in the fair value constitutes objective
evidence of impairment, the amount of the loss is removed
from equity and recognised in profit or loss.

Any impairment losses on available-for-sale debt
investments are subsequently reversed in profit or loss if an
increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the recognition of the
impairment loss.

(iii)  Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on
the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred. Financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially
measured at fair value and financial liabilities at amortised
costs are initially measured at fair value, net of directly
attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on
liabilities held for trading are recognised in profit or loss.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded
derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be designated as
a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss, except
where the embedded derivative does not significantly modify
the cash flows or it is clear that separation of the embedded
derivative is prohibited.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Financial liabilities may be designated upon initial recognition
as at fair value through profit or loss if the following criteria
are met: (i) the designation eliminates or significantly
reduces the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise
arise from measuring the liabilities or recognising gains or
losses on them on a different basis; (i) the liabilities are part
of a group of financial liabilities which are managed and their
performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with a documented risk management strategy; or (iii) the
financial liability contains an embedded derivative that would
need to be separately recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are measured at fair value,
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and
other payables, borrowings, the debt element of convertible
debts issued by the Group are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The
related interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R4 35 38 = P &

As at 31 December 2015 1420151231 H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

(iv) Convertible notes containing liability and equity
components

Convertible notes issued by the Group that contain both the

liability and conversion option components are classified

separately into their respective items on initial recognition.

Conversion option that will be settled by the exchange

of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a

fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments is

classified as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component
is determined using the prevailing market interest of similar
non-convertible debts. The difference between the proceeds
of the issue of the convertible loan notes and the fair
value assigned to the liability component, representing the
conversion option for the holder to convert the loan notes
into equity, is included in equity as convertible notes equity
reserve.

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible notes is carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The equity component,
represented by the option to convert the liability component
into ordinary shares of the Company, will remain in
convertible notes equity reserve until the embedded option
is exercised when the balance stated in convertible notes
equity reserve will be transferred to share premium. Where
the option remains unexercised at the expiry dates, the
balance stated in convertible notes equity reserve will
be released to accumulated losses. No gain or loss is
recognised upon conversion or expiration of the option.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

(v)  Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income or interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or
payments through the expected life of the financial asset or
liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

(vi)  Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

(vii)  Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the
original or modified terms of a debt instrument. A financial
guarantee contract issued by the Group and not designated
as at fair value through profit or loss is recognised initially
at its fair value less transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issue of the financial guarantee contract.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contact at the higher of: (i) the amount
determined in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and (ii)
the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with
HKAS 18 Revenue.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R4 35 38 = P &

As at 31 December 2015 1420151231 H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k) Financial instruments (Continued)

(viii) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKAS 39.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a
creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or in part as a
result of renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity
instruments issued are the consideration paid and are
recognised initially and measured at their fair value on the
date the financial liability or part thereof is extinguished. If
the fair value of the equity instruments issued cannot be
reliably measured, the equity instruments are measured to
reflect the fair value of the financial liability extinguished.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability or part thereof extinguished and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss for the year.

(I Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
deposits held at call with banks, and other short-term highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

(m) Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(n) Provision and contingent liabilities

(i) Provisions

General

Provision are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount
of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Decommissioning liability

Decommissioning liability is recognised when the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, and it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate
of the amount of obligation can be made. A corresponding
amount equivalent to the provision is recognised as part
of the cost of the related gas exploration and evaluation
assets. The amount recognised is the estimated cost
of decommissioning, discounted to its present value.
Changes in the estimated timing of decommissioning
or decommissioning cost estimates are dealt with
prospectively by recording an adjustment to the provision,
and a corresponding adjustment to gas exploration and
evaluation assets. The unwinding of the discount on the
decommissioning provision is included as a finance cost.

(i) Contingent liability

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the
Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past
events that is not recognised because it is not probable
that outflow of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the
financial statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that the outflow is probable, it will then
be recognised as a provision.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R4 35 38 = P &

As at 31 December 2015 1420151231 H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(o) Income tax

Income tax expense represents current tax and deferred
tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except for
goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax liabilities
are recognised for all temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is
measured at the tax rates expected to apply in the period
when the liability is settled or the asset is realised based on
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates
and jointly controlled entities, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items directly recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also
directly recognised in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(p) Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by group entities in currencies
other than the currency of the primary economic
environment in which they operate (the “functional
currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling when the
transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and
liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the end of
reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period except for differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in
respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly
in other comprehensive income, in which case, the
exchange differences are also recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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As at 31 December 2015 1420151231 H

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEEFTHEER(E)

(Continued)

(p) Foreign currencies (Continued)

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during the period, in which case, the rates
approximating to those ruling when the transactions took
place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign operations
are translated at the rate ruling at the end of reporting
period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
as foreign exchange reserve (attributed to minority interests
as appropriate). Exchange differences recognised in profit
or loss of group entities’ separate financial statements on
the translation of long-term monetary items forming part
of the Group’s net investment in the foreign operation
concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as foreign exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange
differences recognised in the exchange reserve relating to
that operation up to the date of disposal are reclassified to
profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and
liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the end of reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in the exchange

reserve.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

() Employee’s benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other
than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled
wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual
reporting period in which the employees render the related
service. Short term employee benefits are recognised in the
year when the employees render the related service.

(i) Defined contribution retirement plan

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss when the services
are rendered by the employees.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the Scheme. The
assets of the Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
contributions as employer vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the Scheme.

The Group has joined a mandatory central pension scheme
organised by the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”)
government for certain of its employees, the assets of which
are held separately from those of the Group. Contributions
made are based on a percentage of the eligible employees’
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they became
payable, in accordance with the rules of the scheme. The
employer’s contributions vest fully once they are made.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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As at 31 December 2015 1420151231 H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(r) Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest. At
the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to
vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss over the remaining
vesting period, with a corresponding adjustment to the
share option reserve.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
other parties are measured at the fair value of the goods
or services received, except where the fair value cannot be
estimated reliably, in which case they are measured at the
fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at
the date the Group obtains the goods or the counterparty
renders the service.

For cash-settled share-based payments, a liability equal to
the portion of the goods or services received is recognised
at the current fair value determined at the end of each
reporting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(s) Impairment of assets (other than financial
assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of the following assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

o property, plant and equipment under cost model;

o gas exploration and evaluation assets;

o intangible assets; and

o investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associate

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an asset
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset or cash generating
unit (see note 4(c)), discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset or cash generating unit.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R4 35 38 = P &

As at 31 December 2015 1420151231 H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(t) Capitalisation of borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets which require
a substantial period of time to be ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets, until such time as the assets, are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.

(u) Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as revenue in profit or loss on a systematic basis
in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred.
Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset
are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
consequently are effectively recognised in profit or loss over
the useful life of the asset by way of reduced depreciation
expense.

(v) Related parties

() A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(@) has control or joint control over the Group;

(b)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(c) is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company’s parent.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(v)
(ii)

(@)

Related parties (Continued)
An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is joint venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (i)(a).

A person identified in (i)(a) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R4 35 38 = P &

As at 31 December 2015 1420151231 H

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(v) Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(¢) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

(w) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances and
excluded value added tax or other sales related taxes.

(i) Sale of crude oil

Revenue is recognised when crude oil is delivered at the
customers’ premises which is taken to be the point in time
when the customer has accepted the crude oil delivered
and the related risks and rewards of ownership.

(i) Sale of coalbed methane

Revenue from sale/trial-sale of coalbed methane is
recognised when the coalbed methane is siphoned to the
customers’ tankers which is taken to be the point in time
when the customer has accepted the coalbed methane
delivered and the related risks and rewards of ownership.

Revenue from sales/trial-sales of natural gas through
pipeline is recognised when the natural gas passes through
the gas reader built in CNG Gas Station which is taken to
be the point in time when the customer has accepted the
natural gas delivered and the related risks and rewards of

ownership.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(w) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i) Sale of raw and cleaned coal

Revenue from sale of raw and cleaned coal is recognised
when the raw and/or cleaned coal is loaded to the
customers’ truck which is taken to be the point in time when
the customer has accepted the raw and/or cleaned coal
delivered and the related risks and rewards of ownership.

(iv) Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time-apportioned basis by
reference to the principal outstanding using the effective
interest method.

(v)  Rental income
Rental income under operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors are required to make judgment, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
R4 35 38 = P &

As at 31 December 2015 1420151231 H

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
(@) Critical judgments in applying the Group’s
accounting policies
() Units of production for depreciation and amortisation
Oil and gas properties are depreciated and intangible
assets are amortised using the units of production method
over total proved and probable reserves. This results in
depreciation and amortisation charge proportional to the
depletion of the anticipated remaining production from the
field. Each item’s life, which is assessed annually, having
regard to both its physical life limitations and to present
assessments of economically recoverable reserves of the
field at which the asset is located. These calculations
require the use of estimates and assumptions, including
the amount of recoverable reserves. The calculation of the
units of production rate of depreciation and amortisation
could be affected by actual future production which may
differ from current forecast production based on total
proved and probable reserves. Changes to proved and
probable reserves could arise due to changes in the factors
or assumptions used in estimating reserves, including price
assumptions. If there is any changes in the assumptions
used, the calculation will be changed prospectively.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
which are described in note 4, management has made
certain key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimated uncertainty at the end of reporting
period, that may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, as discussed below.

(i) Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its
fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset, which
requires significant judgment relating to level of revenue
and amount of operating costs. The Group uses all readily
available information in determining an amount that is a
reasonable approximation of the recoverable amount,
including estimates based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections of revenue and operating
costs. Changes in these estimates could have a significant
impact on the carrying value of the assets and could result
in additional impairment charge or reversal of impairment in
future periods.

(i) Impairment of receivables

The Group performs impairment review for doubtful
accounts based upon evaluation of the recoverability of the
trade receivables and other receivables, where applicable,
at each the end of reporting period. The estimates are
based on the ageing of the trade receivable and other
receivables balances and the historical write-off experience,
net of recoveries. If the financial condition of the debtors
were to deteriorate, additional impairment allowance may be
required.

TEBMRERABRDF © 2015 F ] 119

5.

B35 3 R P 5

As at 31 December 2015 R20154F 1231 H

EXETHER G FHBAE
RZEEERRE(E)

(b) fEEFFHABRERZEERER

RERAEEEBR (XM E) 2
BRRP BEEE L MRS PEEREG
AEAHETE AR 2 RR R E M E BRI
HETEZREK FHABRKRAETAEE
HRTEYBRFEEHEERAGBZERR
EFEEARBZERAR 0T X

=A
i

()  YxE  BERRELRELEER
=]

BEZAUDSBELSEFEERERE
BEzBmE GEFGAEREER  RE
AR R GG ZERRSRENR
ERE MBEBFAREXBERRRETIS
PrtfbceBcKREREEEMRR
RrERK - B AHBAKEREZK
AeBELERHE - ~EBFNBHAE
BEEHHANEeBEERRBMLE 8
BRERAERAXHZHEALBAR
REBRZHEEHRE - ZEMHFT2E
BRREHEEC RAEENEATE
I 7] 5 & B R SR B A AR RR SR E B
XEAER R ERE -

(i) JEH R E
REEREHEERE  AEEREY
IR L2 B 7 % L b MK R R (e 38 AR ) T U
B2 FEMRFETRER - ZF
it &t TH AR 45 8 UK AR R e L A 8 UK BR SR A
Rz BRE PR EEHSRIEL - XK
W Bl 28 - WiEH AR EE
A 7T B2 75 2 1F H B SMNBLE B -




Notes to the Financial Statements
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As at 31 December 2015 R2015%F 12431 H

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
(i) Income taxes and deferred taxation
The Group is subject to income taxes in a number
of jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. Transactions
and calculations may exist for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated
tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised to the extent
that management considers it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax assets
and tax in the periods in which such estimate is changed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)
(iv)  Contingencies
Periodically, the Group assesses potential liabilities related
to any lawsuits or claims brought against the Group or
any asserted claims. Although it is typically very difficult
to determine the timing and ultimate outcome of such
actions, the Group uses its best judgement to determine
if it is probable that it will incur an expense related to the
settlement or final adjudication of such matters and whether
a reasonable estimation of such probable loss, if any,
can be made. In accordance with HKAS 37, Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, the Group
accrues a liability when it believes a loss is probable and
the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Due to
the inherent uncertainties related to the eventual outcome
of litigation, although the Group believes that the estimates
and judgement are reasonable, it is possible that certain
matters may be resolved for amounts materially different
from any estimated provisions or previous disclosures.

(v)  Oil and gas reserves

Engineering estimates of the Group’s oil and gas reserves
are inherently imprecise and represent only approximate
amounts because of the subjective judgment involved
in developing such information. There are authoritative
guidelines regarding the engineering criteria that have
to be met before estimated oil and gas reserves can be
designated as ‘proven’ and ‘probable’. Proven and probable
oil and gas reserve estimates are updated on regular
intervals taking into account recent production and technical
information about each oil and gas field. In addition, as
prices and cost levels change from year to year, the
estimate of proven and probable oil and gas reserves also
changes. This change is considered a change in estimate
for accounting purposes and is reflected on a prospective
basis in the related depreciation rate and amortisation rate
of oil and gas properties and intangible assets respectively.
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As at 31 December 2015 R2015%F 12431 H

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(v)  Oil and gas reserves (Continued)

Despite the inherent imprecision, engineering estimates are

used in determining depreciation and amortisation charges

and impairment losses. The oil and gas properties and

operation rights are amortised using the units of production

method based on the proven and probable oil and gas

reserves.

(vi)  Estimation of assets retirement obligations

Provision is recognised for the future decommissioning
and restoration of oil and gas properties. The amount of
provision recognised is the present value of the estimate
future expenditure. The estimation of the future expenditure
is based on current local conditions and requirements,
including legal requirements, technology, price level, etc.
In addition to these factors, the present value of these
estimated future expenditure is also impacted by the
estimation of the economic lives of oil and gas properties.
Changes in any of these estimates will impact the operating
results and the financial position of the Group over the
remaining economic lives of the oil and gas properties.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

6. TURNOVER
The principal activities of the Group are operation of (i)
exploitation and sale of crude oil and natural gas, (ii)
exploration, development and production of coalbed
methane, and (i) raw coal washing and sale of raw and
cleaned coal.

The amount of revenue recognised in turnover during the
year was as follows:

M %5 3R = B &

As at 31 December 2015 R20154F 1231 H

BERH

AEEZ T EEBREBONRRHE
FomREAR - (08I - B RAEER
B - (i) R 5 6 R M A -

FREEXBERR I WAKBELT :

2015 2014

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

TFHET T T

Sale of crude oil $H 65 RO 10,610 16,540
Sale of coalbed methane — note (i) $HE BB /- MR () 8,543 =
Sale of raw and cleaned coal $HE R K AF 47,868 =
67,021 16,540

Note:

(i) For the year ended 31 December 2014 and the period from
1 January 2015 to 20 November 2015, the trial sales of
coalbed methane generated from the Sanjiao production
sharing contract (“Sanjiao CBM Project”) is recognised as
other revenue (note 7). After the Group has obtained the
approval of Overall Development Plan (“ODP”) in November
2015, the Sanjiao CBM Project is stepped into the production
stage, and the sale of coalbed methane from the Sanjiao
CBM Project from 21 November 2015 to 31 December 2015

is recognised as turnover.
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MEGE=MEE

As at 31 December 2015 R2015%F 12431 H

7. OTHER REVENUE 7. HUgA
2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TFET FHET
Interest income B WA
- bank deposits —RITHERK 36 458
— short-term investment —RHIIE & 7,471 3,055
- others —HAh 259 74
Total interest income on financial WIEE A TFERIEZRSER 2
assets that are not at M EE2NERAEE
fair value through profit or loss 7,766 3,587
Income from sale of coalbed B E R 85 AP 5E6()
methane — note 6(i) 78,694 63,441

Government subsidies — note (i) IR 478 BA—PAT 5 (i) 7,646 6,757

Sub-lease income S HEUBA - 1,665

Others Hith 1,221 935

95,327 76,385

Note: P E -

(i) It represents the regular subsidies received during the year () WHREREBRFBAR=ZEER
from relevant government authority on the trial sales of EHER0MAFELEZREERABEE L
coalbed methane from the Sanjiao CBM Project for the year RERKEIRE T A (20145 : B
of 2014 (2014: years from 2012 to 2013). 2012F 220134 ) -
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B 358 =M &

As at 31 December 2015 R20154F 1231 H

8. OTHER LOSSES, NET 8. HiE5iai%E
2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
T Tt

Gain/(loss) on disposal/write off of HE/FHDE  BER

property, plant and equipment Rz W (EE) 110 (692)
Change in fair value of warrant RREFEE 2 ATEE

liability 1,955 1,627
Deposits and other receivables 1% & T H fth 8 W AR SR

written off - (3,642)
Exchange gains/(losses), net PN e (E518) F 58 1,457 (33)
Impairment loss on property, Y BEKKEREEE

plant and equipment (note 16) (FtsE16) (204,562) =
Impairment loss on intangible EmEERERE

assets (note 19) Gl (209,064) -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR 2 e

(note 41) (P 5E41) - 1,714

(410,104) (1,126)

HEBMRIZERERADE ¢ 2015 £ ] 125
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As at 31 December 2015 R2015%F 12431 H

9.

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

9. BRATEBZMA(BE)

EXPENSE ita ¥
(Loss)/profit before income tax expense is arrived at after BRETS R B AT (B8 &5 E (Bt A)
(crediting)/charging: Y&l
2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THET FHT
(a) Finance costs AMERAE
Amortisation of convertible AR ERNRZ 5 2 # i
notes transaction costs (Fff3E33)
(note 33) 3,432 2,811
Amortisation of corporate TEBEHFNRZ DA 2
bonds transaction costs 3,215 -
Amortisation of warrant liability RIREFE BB P A 2 # 5
transaction cost - 2,000
Interest on borrowings wholly ARAFAEHBEENERTE
repayable within five years 22,000 38,172
Imputed interest on convertible AR R 45 2 FEER A &
notes (note 33) (Fff 5£33) 40,888 26,690
Imputed interest on other loan Hib g2 EEFE - 6,134
Interest on corporate bonds TEEFZHE 8,893 -
Interest on promissory note P 5 R4 2 82 5,311 -
Others H Ath 1,442 717
85,181 76,524
Less: interest capitalised as B RARBDEERFTEHEEEZ
gas exploration and B S (HEE17)
evaluation assets
(note 17) (79,173) (76,195)
6,008 329
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9. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. BRFTEBiXZHA (BE),
EXPENSE (Continued) it F (48)
2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THET FHT
(b) Employee costs (including (b) EIRKA (BiEME11
directors’ remuneration in ZEEMS)
note 11)
Salaries, wages and e LEREMERN
other benefits 35,659 35,327
Contributions to defined TE B i SR R ET 8l 2 it 5K
contribution retirement plan 1,269 1,687
Equity-settled share-based RAEE RS 242 H
payment expenses (note 36(c)) (KI7E36(c)) 77,518 =
114,446 36,914
(c) Other items (c) HMIER
Auditor’s remuneration 2% S AN B & 1,600 1,550
Depreciation of property, M- BEREETE
plant and equipment (note 16) (FtzE16) 8,494 3,798
Amortisation of payment for B A E T 1 5k 2 8
leasehold land held for own (FF=E18)
use (note 18) 21 -
Amortisation of intangible A E 2 (KIsE19)
assets* (note 19) 7,269 549
Minimum lease payments wEHE 2
under operating lease K EHE
— property rentals —WEES 7,148 6,291
# Included in “direct costs” in the consolidated statement of # HAGAEEkSE [HERA] -
comprehensive income.
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10. INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT 10. Fife# (ZH) #iR

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made B E2015%F K2014F12H31BA EF E
as the group companies did not have any estimated N BAREB QAW EBEMNE BTG
assessable profits subject to Hong Kong profits tax during 2T ERFEF » A EEAIES B
the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014. During the FI1S 5 BT - M2015% 2014512 A31H
years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, the subsidiaries EEA URFBEZHBRRIEEER
in the PRC were subject to statutory tax rate of 25%. KO5% AN FHIA o

i) The amount of income tax (expense)/credit, i) HEK) STAGZEEZEKRIERD

(charged)/credited to the consolidated statement of FTiSR () HmBeiE :

comprehensive income represents:

2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TFHET FHT

Current income tax BNV HA BT 15 %1
- PRC enterprises income tax — R EEMER (6,112) -
Deferred tax for the year (note 34) FRZIEERE (H5E34) (2,952) 1,701
Income tax (expense)/credit FTgft () R (9,064) 1,701
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10. INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT

(Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements

M %5 3R = B &

As at 31 December 2015 R20154F 1231 H

(i)  The income tax (expense)/credit for the year can be (ii)

reconciled to the Group’s loss/(profit) before income

tax (expense)/credit per the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income as follows:

10. FRR® () /iR (48)

AEEZHREH (XH) /K5 R
HERHKRBERZIAKERFAEHR
(X)) AHEFATEE O F) &
FRAAE :

2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
T#ERT FH&IT
Loss/(profit) before income BATSE (X H) /IRl
tax (expense)/credit BB CaF) 468,647 (8,719)
Tax credit on loss/(profit) before BRETEH X L AIEE, CaF)
income tax expense, calculated TR - 1%25%
at 25% (2014: 25%) (2014%F : 25%) 5t & 117,161 (2,179)
Effect of different tax rates of REMBDEREREEZ
subsidiaries operating in other MEARTRME 2
jurisdiction & (6,188) 741
Tax effect of non-deductible AR 2 R B AR A
expenses and non-taxable income ~ ZFEFE (119,673) 3,121
Tax effect of (utilisation)/origination KRz HEEE 2 (BH),/
of tax loss not recognised EEZHBEE (364) 18
Income tax (expense)/credit B () R (9,064) 1,701
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 1M1. EE0&
Directors’ emoluments is disclosed as follows: EEHeHWENT :

For the year ended 31 December 2015 H E2015E12A31B ILLEE
Salaries,  Retirement Share-based
Directors’  allowances scheme payment

fees and benefits contributions Sub-total (note 36) Total

B#%f
Fe 2E B ZRE

Lk RiEH i gt (W&se) it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén TR Fén Tén Tén Fén

Executive directors H1Es
Dai Xiaobing ]| - 2,492 18 2,510 2,236 4,746
King Hap Lee R - 2,000 18 2,018 2,236 4,54
Wan Tze Fan Terence B3 - 2,000 18 2,018 2,236 4,054
- 6,492 54 6,546 6,708 13,254
Independent non-executive directors ~ BUH{TES
Waong Kwok Chuen Peter kS 200 - - 200 223 423
Wong Lung Tak Patrick Bt 200 - - 200 223 423
Wang Yanbin B 197} 200 - - 200 223 423
Dang Weihua Rz 200 - - 200 223 423
800 - - 800 892 1,692
Non-executive directors FHTES
Ma Tengying' SEE - - - - - -
Chen Hua? R 200 - - 200 2,236 2,436
Huang Shaowt? EAH? 200 - - 200 1,267 1,467
He Lin Feng? i 200 - - 200 2,236 2,436
600 - - 600 5739 6,339
1,400 6,492 54 7,946 13,339 21,285
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

(Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2014:

1. EEME (8)

HZE2014F12A31H IEFE -

Salaries,  Retirement Share-based
Directors’ allowances scheme payment
fees  and benefits  contributions Sub-total (note 36) Total
Rttt
ge-28  RidE AR
EELk RiEH 3% Mt (Hse) &3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS' 000
Thn TR TR TR T TR
Executive directors HES
Dal Xiaobing HiE - 2,197 17 2,014 - 2214
King Hap Lee R = 2,000 17 2,017 = 2,017
Zhu Danping* /RS - 883 - 883 - 883
Wang Ziming* Bl - 922 7 929 - 929
Wan Tze Fan Terence BT - 2,000 17 2,017 - 2,017
- 8,002 58 8,060 - 8,060
Independent non-executive drectors B FEHTES
Waong Kwok Chuen Peter kS 200 - - 200 = 200
Wong Lung Tak Patrick 3 200 - - 200 - 200
Wang Yanbin B 19T} 200 - - 200 - 200
Dang Wehhua 2Rz 200 - - 200 - 200
800 - - 800 - 800
Non-executive directors FHES
Kong Siu Tim* TOH: 88 - - 88 - 88
Ma Tengying' SEe - - - - - -
Chen Hua? R 112 - - 12 - 112
Huang Shaow? B 112 - - 112 - 112
He Lin Feng’ ffnige 72 - - 7 - 72
384 - - 384 - 384
1,184 8,002 58 9,244 - 9,244
Notes: B &

1. Resigned in June 2015.

2. Appointed in June 2014.
& Appointed in August 2014.
4 Resigned in June 2014.

During the year, no emoluments (2014: HKS$Nil) were paid
by the Group to any of the directors as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss
of office. None of the directors waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration for the years ended 31 December 2015
and 2014.
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12.

13.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, four (2014: five) were directors of the Company

whose emoluments are disclosed in note 11. The

12.

mREBATL

AEBRUZESEHFALH M (2014
F:RM)AARRZES HBMEE
FEM 113 E - Heg—(z (20145 : &)

emolument of the remaining one (2014: nil) individual is as BB ATZME0T ¢
follows:

2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHET FH T
Salaries and other emoluments e REAMME 1,934 =
Equity-settled share-based payments % 78 &5 & A B {9 2 1+ 2 FUBE 2,236 -
4,170 -

The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior
management (non-director individual) were within the
following bands:

EXNEENTRAEEEKRE FE
EAD)ZMENFTIEE :

2015 2014

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

N A

Below HK$1,000,000 1,000,000/ 7T A ™ - &)
HK$1,000,000 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,0007% 7t £ 1,500,000/ 7T 10 1
10 6

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the above
highest paid non-director individual as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of
office.

DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: Nil).

132

13.

AEEYER EAFEHFEFTALX
N ESIERSBMAIRINAREBEREZ
RENIERBR 2 HE -

2
BETEFHIRBEEET2015%12A318 It
FEAEMMEE (20144 : ) o

Annual Report 2015 e Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited



Notes to the Financial Statements

14. (LOSS)/EARNING PER SHARE

(a) Basic (loss)/earning per share

The calculation of basic (loss)/earning per share is based
on the loss attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$478,521,000 (2014: profit of HK$10,420,000) and
the weighted average number of 17,841,940,000 ordinary
shares (2014: 16,386,807,000) ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

(b) Diluted (loss)/earning per share

Diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2015
is the same as the basic loss per share as the Company’s
outstanding share options and convertible notes, where
applicable, had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per
share in the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2014, the calculation of
the diluted earning per share attributable to the owners of
the Company was based on the following data:

B35 3 R P 5

As at 31 December 2015 R20154F 1231 H

14. Biz (E518) & H

(a) BREX(BE) EBF
BREA (BB BADIREAAR
AR B AL B 1E478,521,000
B0 (20144 @ % #/10,420,000/8
L) R FERDB BT YRR INE
S 4 $117,841,940,0000% (2014¢ :
16,386,807,000% ) i@ A% T &

(b) EREE(BE) BH

H E2015F12A31B L FEE - SR #E
BEEREESREAEBERR AAQA
WARTTEE 2 AR R AT AR 4 (a03E
B) YERNERELAGEEGREE

B2 988
= °

HE2014F12A31B IEFE - NA AR
EEEABRESRAERT IR T &
BETE

2014
HK$’ 000
FH T
Profit for the purposes of basic earning per share ATE iﬁﬁgﬁ%ﬂzfmﬂ 10,420
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: BEEFTT AR I TE
— Imputed interest on convertible notes — A MREEZEFFE 26,690
Amortisation of convertible notes transaction costs AMRERR Z WA 2 #iH 2,811
Less: interest capitalised as gas exploration and B RARBIENFGHEEZ
evaluation assets B AR{EFI B (29,501)
Profit for the purposes of diluted earning per share ST ESRES R A 2 5 A 10,420
2014
"000
T Hx
Weighted average number of ordinary shares FAEBETEBR 2 NEFE
in issue during the year 16,386,807
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: BHEEELT AR 2 TE
— Convertible notes — Al R G R 898,204
Weighted average number of ordinary AEEREERN CFANE
shares in issue during the year BT B 2 NI
for the purposes of diluted
earning per share 17,285,011
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14.

15.

(LOSS)/EARNING PER SHARE
(Continued)

The computation of diluted earning per share does not
assume the exercise of the Company’s outstanding share
options and warrants as the exercise price of those share
options and warrants is higher than the average market
price for shares.

SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that
are used to make strategic decisions.

The Group has three (2014: two) reportable segments.
The segments are managed separately as each business
offers different products and services and requires different
business strategies. The following summary describes the
operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

Exploitation and sale of crude oil
and natural gas

Oil and gas exploitation:

Exploration, development and
production of coalbed methane

Coalbed methane:

Raw and cleaned coal: Raw coal washing and sale of

raw and cleaned coal

There are no sales or trading transactions between the
business segments. Corporate revenue and expenses are
not allocated to the operating segments as they are not
included in the measurement of the segments’ results used
by the chief operating decision-maker in the assessment of
segment performance.
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15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(a) Business segments
Segment information about these businesses is set out as

15. & & ()
(a) EBHE
EERSEB 2 S BEARBAMT

follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HF2015F12A31B L E &
Oil and gas Coalbed Raw and
exploitation methane cleaned coal Unallocated Total
hiF
RARRR RER RERER KPR st
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000

FET FET FiET FET FiET

Results E
Revenue from external customers RENREPZHBA 10,610 8,543 47,868 = 67,021
Segment results'®2 nEEE (8,249) 67,709 220 (106,903) (47,223)
Finance costs BEAKAK (639) - (58) (5,311) (6,008)
Impairment loss on property, plant ME  BEREE

and equipment HEBE (204,562) - - - (204,562)
Impairment loss on intangible assets EVEERESR (209,064) - - - (209,064)
Share of loss of a joint venture BIE—RAELEFR (587) - - - (587)
Share of loss of an assoclate FiE—RBEAREE - (1,203) - - (1,203)
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRATER A

expense (&#8) /% (423,101) 66,506 162 (112,214) (468,647)
Income tax expense FER I (2,952) (5,011) (1,101) - (9,064)
(Loss)/profit for the year EE (BB) /@7 (426,053) 61,495 (939) (112,214) (477,711)
Assets and liabilities BERER
Reportable segment assets® REDHEE 283,436 4,073,699 214,998 93,554 4,665,687
Reportable segment liabilities? IREIBAE 54,613 435,297 149,329 523,143 1,162,382
Other segment information HippEpEst
Depreciation and amortisation FrEREH 3,039 6,492 5,498 755 15,784
Capital expenditure incurred FREEZEARTH

during the year 857 196,852 181 758 198,648
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15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(a) Business segments (Continued)

Segment information about these businesses is set out as

follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2014

15. B IR & (F)

(a) RS (E)

HE2014FE12A31B L FEE

BRAZEXH 2 BEREIIMT

Oil and gas Coalbed
exploitation methane  Unallocated Total
VEp::Ril
AARFER EER RoB et
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHET THET FHET FHET
Results E S
Revenue from external customers ~ RBEINREF Z WA 16,540 = = 16,540
Segment results'é? Ak (7,300) 51,614 (32,427) 11,887
Finance costs BME KA (229) - (100) (329)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR 2 s - - 1,714 1,714
Deposits and other receivables 12 & K H At W BR 3R 8
written off (8,642) - (3,642)
Share of loss of a joint venture EhE—ReEbEBE (628) - - (628)
Share of loss of an associate i —RE & QR EE - (283) = (283)
(Loss)/profit before income tax R P15 50 Al
expense (&B18) /&7 (8,157) 47,689 (30,813) 8,719
Income tax credit F{S B4R 1,701 - - 1,701
(Loss)/profit for the year AEE(BE) &7 (6,456) 47,689 (30,813) 10,420
Assets and liabilities BEERGHE
Reportable segment assets® s DA ES 734,579 3,868,464 96,136 4,699,179
Reportable segment liabilities® s DA Ee 20,644 434,270 190,276 645,190
Other segment information Hith 5 &p &t
Depreciation and amortisation & R 1,917 1,989 A 4,347
Capital expenditure incurred FREEZEASH
during the year 23 180,046 2,622 182,691
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15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 15. ST ERER & (&)

(a) Business segments (Continued) (a) XN (4E)

Notes: BT

1. Unallocated results mainly include salaries, rental expense 1. XOEBEEEFTZEREFHS He FXE
and professional fees for Hong Kong head office and equity- ERMBRAGEUARND Mz HE
settled share-based payment expense. BEABRMERAST

2. Included in the segment result of coalbed methane segment 2. RBERZDIDFEEIET8,694,000% T
are revenue of HK$78,694,000 (2014: HK$63,441,000) from (20144 : 63,441,000 7T) RE K =
the trial sales of coalbed methane generated from the Sanjiao REEBREEB 2 HE WA KRBT
CBM Project and government subsidies of HK$7,646,000 857,646,000 7T (20144 : 6,757,000
(2014: HK$6,757,000). HIT) °

3.  Unallocated assets mainly include cash and cash equivalents 3. AOREEFTZLEARETENES
in head office and short term investment and unallocated MEBECEBYREHEKEE x2oEE8
liabilities mainly include convertible notes and corporate BEZREAIBRREBEMCERSES -
bonds.

(b) Geographical information and major (b) WMESHREEEF
customers

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s TERUREERBINAK P < Wzm kB

revenue from external customers and non-current assets THIA BiEe R—FREaEDLE

other than financial instruments, deposits paid, interest in ZHESRR—RBERRZEEAINZ

a joint venture and interest in an associate (“specified non- ERHEE([EEEHERDEE]) ETH

current assets”). o

Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
REIREEZEAN EERHEE
2015 2014 2015 2014

HK$000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$ 000
FEXT TAET FERT TAET

Hong Kong (place of domicile) B (FrfEth) - - 4,781 3,733
The PRC H 67,021 16,540 4,152,516 4,208,835

67,021 16,540 4,157,297 4,212,568
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15. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 15. 5T EBER & (48)
(b) Geographical information and major (b) BMEELREIEEF (&)
customers (Continued)
Information about major customers TEEFEH
During the year ended 31 December 2015, there were HE20156F 12831 IEFERN = AR
three customers contributed to 10% or more revenue to the FEREEZBWAZE10%HZH10% °

Group’s total revenue.

Segment HK$’ 000
5 EB TET
Customer A Raw and cleaned coal 17,947
EFEA JR B R i B
Customer B Oil and gas exploitation 10,610
®FB ABTR AR
Customer C Raw and cleaned coal 9,790
%PFC JR G B g
During the year ended 31 December 2014, revenue from HE2014F12A31BIEFER - KB
the Group’s sole customer were HK$16,540,000, being AEFEE—FF 2 Wz A16,540,00078
100% of the Group’s total revenue from the oil and gas T B ASKBE AR RXARFAE D UK
exploitation segment. 48 % 2100% °
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16. Y12 - B ERRE

CNG Furniture,
station and fixtures
Leasehold ancillary  Construction Ol and gas and office Motor
Building improvements facilities in progress properties  equipment vehicles Total
CNGHER i BERE
Br HEMERE EERN EEIR HREE RELERE RE Eh
HK$' 000 HKS' 000 HK$' 000 HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HK$' 000 HKS' 000 HKS' 000
TiET TR TR T TR ThL TR T
(Notef)
(K3
Costs: 7%
At 1 January 2014 R2014F1 818 = 3,884 = 23,309 265,894 4,231 11,587 308,855
Additions HE = 21 - = = 211 1,588 1,826
Disposal/Written off e/ - {2,770 - - - - - {2,770
Disposal of subsidlaries (note 41) HERBAR (x4) = (41) - = - (570) (2,069) (2,680)
Exchange adjustments ERAE - 3 - (573) (6,539) (89) (165) (7,439)
At 31 December 2014 20145127317 = 1,027 - 22,736 259,355 3,783 10,891 297,792
Additions AE = = = = = 335 3,106 3441
Transfer from gas exploration and ~~ BAAREERFHEE
evaluation assets (note 17) g5 (H:17) 1,564 - 344,306 125,641 1,267,800 487 - 1,739,798
Disposal/Written off HE /5 - - - - - (19) (194) (213)
Exchange adjustments Eiag (49) (4] (10218) (5,046) (50,773) (176) (641) (66,948)
At 31 December 2015 H2015F12A431H 1,515 982 334,088 143,331 1,476,382 4410 13,162 1,973,870
Accumulated depreciationand ~ EFERHE
impairment
At 1 January 2014 201451418 - 1722 - - 64,007 1,804 6,652 74,185
Charge for the year (note 9(c)) Eng i (3H(c) - 648 - - 694 683 1773 3,798
Witten off Bt - [2,078) = = = = = (2,078)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 41) HERBAR () - (34) - - - (539) (2,069) (2,642)
Exchange adjustments EiAE - @7 - - (1,580) (36) (70) (1,713)
At 31 December 2014 20145127317 = 231 - - 63,121 1,912 6,286 71,550
Charge for the year (note 9(c) ER L (HF9() 6 56 1,720 - 4,201 800 1711 8,494
Impairment loss for the year EREEER
(note (i) knote 8) (Fi sk ()R B 3E8) - 673 - 22,459 181,304 9 o7 204,562
Written back on disposal BELE - - - - - (19) (194) (213
Exchange adjustments EiA% - 87) - (7141) (8,887) (89) (499) (10,253)
At 31 December 2015 H2015F12A431H 6 923 1,720 21,718 239,829 2,613 7,331 274,140
Carrying amount: PR :
At 31 December 2015 R2015F 12318 1,509 59 332,368 121,613 1,236,553 1,797 5,831 1,699,730
At 31 December 2014 H2014%12A31A - 7% - 2,736 196,234 1,871 4,605 226,242
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Notes: (i)

(i)

It represents oil and gas properties under construction

as at the end of the reporting period.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, as a result
of the significant decrease in oil prices and change
in the implementation of the development plans of
Jinzhuang Oil Field, Liuluoyu Qil Field and Yanjiawan
Oil Field, the recoverable amount of each of the cash
generating unit of Jinzhuang Oil Field (“Jinzhuang
CGU”), Liuluoyu Oil Field and Yanjiawan QOil Field
(together as “Liuluoyu CGU”), which both CGUs are
under oil and gas exploitation segment, as determined
by an independent professional firm of valuers using
the value-in-use approach is HK$22,983,000 and nil,
which is less than their respective carrying amount.
Accordingly, impairment losses of HK$158,868,000
and HK$45,694,000 on the oil and gas properties of
Jinzhuang CGU and Liuluoyu CGU, HK$183,427,000
and HK$25,637,000 on the operation rights (Note 19)
of Jinzhuang CGU and Liuluoyu CGU were recognised.
The recoverable amounts of the relevant assets have
been determined on the basis of their value in use
and the pre-tax discount rate used in the value in use

calculations at 31 December 2015 was 18%.

140

16. Y12 - B ERRE (8)

MEEE < ()

(ii

HRTNHMEPEERE 2 EZ
HREE

HZE2015F12831BIEFERA -
BRFAEEEERSEHA -
055 U e R R 8 2R 8 e F 2 B B
HEERMNNE  KE—RBLZF
EHEERANEABEEETE
cHBEERSELEN ([€F
WeEEBENM]) - Y% KA B
HeEEBNLRMREBAR
CELBEM (ABIMSBES
EEBMN]) (ZMERSELS
MNEBRABMXARHARD
B zAkEEBEBEREZEAZ
R &+ 5 5l A22,983,0007% 7T
kEEE Al @HBREEE
BRI ERBSELENZA
BAhHREEZRERBED G
158,868,000/ 7T % 45,694,000
B AESHASELBEMR
ME IR 3R & B A B8y & B A 2R
B & 8 5 5 /183,427,000 7T
1.25,637,0007% Tt 15 % #E R (K
F19) - M2015F12A318 * 17
W& E 2 AT iR [ & FEAR BR H (5
BEET tEERBEMAZ
TRATHTIR E218% °
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17. GAS EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION 17. RARHIREFEEE

ASSETS
HK$’ 000
FHET
Cost: 5% -
At 1 January 2014 201451 A1 R 3,602,475
Additions* B 103,851
Interest capitalised (note 9(a)) &R F B (M 5E9(a) 76,195
Exchange adjustments PE (33,473)
At 31 December 2014 120145127318 3,749,048
Additions* R 195,851
Interest capitalised (note 9(a)) &AL F) B (HT5E9(a) 79,173
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (note 16) Y - HE R (HiE16) (1,614,157)
Transfer to construction in progress (note 16) EETETRE (HsE16) (125,641)
Transfer to intangible assets (note 19) EREp & E (F:19) (2,261,818)
Transfer to payment for leasehold land held for SR e AEE T
own use (note 18) (BFsE18) (4,997)
Exchange adjustments bE o B (17,459)
At 31 December 2015 R2015F12H31H -

* ZeHBEAAYE  BE KR (I
H16) 2 REBRBEFNELERAED
¢ & 32 101,187,000/ 7T (20144 : &t
ARARBRERT(EEE 2 BHELM
551,000/% 7T) {E i 2 38 % (PffsE31) o

The amount included adjustment for an increase in provision
for environmental restoration and decommissioning costs
of HK$1,187,000 included in property, plant and equipment
(note 16) (2014: increase in provision of HK$551,000 included
in gas exploration and evaluation assets) (note 31).

BREERARREMBAR (HESE
B z2ES-XHEEBRBEAHAR I
Bli#ET - = REBREE ZFBER
BIEE43 ©

The operations of Power Great Limited and its subsidiary
(“Power Great Group”) are governed by and based on the
Sanjiao CBM Project. Details of the Sanjiao CBM Project are
set out in note 43.

HE2015F12A31HILFER » HEE
EREHBER-REERERRSHEE
FE T RAER  HEAXAREE KT
HEEENSOBEEFEE BRAE
TR AR E - BB R R o

As at 31 December 2015, development is sanctioned by
management and the approval of ODP is obtained for
Sanjiao CBM Project, the gas exploration and evaluation
assets were reclassified to intangible assets, payment for
leasehold land held for own use and property, plant and
equipment.
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17. GAS EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION

ASSETS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2014, the major components of gas
exploration and evaluation assets were exploration right,
exploratory drilling and trenching costs. The directors have
assessed the gas exploration and evaluation assets for
impairment in accordance with the criteria under HKFRS
6 and by reference to the progress in the implementation
of the Sanjiao CBM Project during the year, and the
valuation report prepared by the Asset Appraisal Limited, an
independent firm of professional valuers, which possesses
the relevant professional qualifications and experience.
The directors concluded that there are no facts or
circumstances which may indicate that the carrying amount
of gas exploration and evaluation assets has exceeded the
recoverable amount as at the end of reporting period.

17. RARYBERFEEE (8)

R2014F12 8318 » RAZHIFE K TFE
BEXTZHHRE MREBEHFRERK
KK - EZERBESV B REAER
EHR I IBEW R EFA=ZRKERE
BE2HTEER—HBEBIEEFTER
Al-FHELEETERBNARA AR
ZEEREHAA[MERTHEEE
TRENE  ZAFEBEHEBEEER
K% - ERHT - RREBRERKRER -
TEEEEXBRERRKARMER LT
HEEZEBOECBBRE KBS -

18. PAYMENT FOR LEASEHOLD LAND HELD 18. ER#E 1 #
FOR OWN USE

2015 2014

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

THET FHET

At 1 January M1H18 - =
Transfer from gas exploration and BRAARDERTHEE

evaluation assets (note 17) R (MEsE17) 4,997 =

Amortisation for the year RE S (21) -

Exchange adjustments bE 8 #& (164) -

At 31 December Mm12A318 4,812 -

The Group’s interest in land use rights is held under
medium-term lease for 46 years and is located in the PRC.
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19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Notes to the Financial Statements
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As at 31 December 2015 R20154F 1231 H

190. BIL & E

Motor
vehicle Favourable
registration Operation supplier
license rights agreement Total
BEMEY
REEGTRE BiEE s @t

HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$’ 000
FTHT FTAET TAET TAET

Costs:

At 1 January 2014
Additions

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2014

Additions

Acquired through business
combinations (note 42)

Transfer from gas exploration
and evaluation assets
(note 17)

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2015

Accumulated amortisation:

At 1 January 2014

Amortisation for the year
(note 9(c))

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2014

Amortisation for the year
(note 9(c))

Impairment loss (note 8)

Exchange adjustments

At 31 December 2015

Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2015

At 31 December 2014

TEBMRERABRDF © 2015 F ]

A :
MR2014F1 /518 910 259,219 = 260,129
NE 819 = - 819
& 5 38 % - (6,375) - (6,375)
M2014F12H831H 1,729 252,844 - 254,573
RE 543 = = 543
BiRETEE O IEE

(P 7E42) - - 74,054 74,054
B RAR IR KT

BEE R (MiF17)

- 2,261,818 - 2,261,818

bE 5 AR = (11,334) (3,320) (14,654)
K2015%F12H31H 2,272 2,503,328 70,734 2,576,334
SEties -
201441 A1H = 27,169 - 27,169
NG 2

(P 7E9(c)) - 549 - 549
bE 5, 2 - 672) - 672)
20149128318 - 27,046 - 27,046
AN GF 2

(FF7E9(c)) - 1,783 5,486 7,269
(A E 18 (KT 5Es) = 209,064 = 209,064
bE 5 38 B - (8,268) (181) (8,449)
M20156F12H431H - 229,625 5,305 234,930
REE :
M2015%F12831H 2,272 2,273,703 65,429 2,341,404

2014612 4311 1,729 225,798 = 227,527
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19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)
Operation rights
The Group’s operation rights represent the rights under
two (2014: two) development contracts and two (2014:
one) production sharing contracts which give the Group
the rights to participate in the production of crude oil and
coalbed methane with details as follows:

19. BB E (§)

BEE

RNEE EERTIMD (2014F : @{3)
HEAREMMD (20145 : —)EGRD
RERANZERN BAEEERSER
MEREBREE  FHBHOT

Oil and Gas fields Location Expiry date

=y H 25 E<IpU] =

1 Liuluoyu Qil Field Shaanxi Province, the PRC 2023
0% i e F hEREE

2 Yanjiawan Oil Field Shaanxi Province, the PRC 2023
[ %K /& h A hERAA

3 Jinzhuang QOil Field Shaanxi Province, the PRC 2025
& #tom A hEBREE

4 Sanjiao CBM Project Shanxi Province, the PRC 2036
=RKEERIEAR hEILAE

The operation rights are initially recognised at their fair value
on the date of acquisition by reference to a professional
valuation prepared by Asset Appraisal Limited. Subsequent
to the reporting period, the operation rights are measured
using the cost mode.

Amortisation is provided to write off the cost of the
operation rights using the units of production method based
on the amount of proved and probable oil and gas reserves.
Amortisation is charged to “direct costs” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Favourable supplier agreement

Favourable supplier agreement represents the coal supplier
agreement with one of the Group’s subsidiaries. According
to the agreement, the supplier will supply raw coal at 3%
lower than the market price. The supplier agreement has
useful lives of ten years.
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20. GOODWILL 20. FHE
2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FHETT
As at 1 January Mm1H18 - =
Acquired through business FRFEBE TS
combinations (note 42) (P =E42) 104,584 =
Exchange adjustment e N A& (4,688) =
As at 31 December M®12H31H 99,896 -
Impairment Testing on Goodwill B iR E A s
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated mEENRmS  BESHEAT A &
to the cash generating units (“CGU”) identified as follows: MZzBREeELBEMN([REeEESEM]) :
2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FHET
Raw and cleaned coal R K 15 I 99,896 =
The recoverable amounts of the raw and cleaned coal B GEEESEESEMG 2o kE 458
CGU have been determined from value in use calculations BEEX#tEBESNLFEE (G EREER
based on cash flow projections from formally approved ZERTEHNH BEZRESEREAA 2
budgets covering a nine-year period, which is the remaining FREEET BEEBERA EEESS
contractual period of the coal wash leased factory. HEHAERBTANE  FREERE R
Management considered that the budgets should cover the AR SEESM R REESTE -

remaining contractual period of the coal wash leased factory
as it reflects the development and production plan of this
CGU.
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20. GOODWILL (Continued)

21.

The following are key assumptions on which management
has based its cash flow projections for the period covered
by the most recent budgets:

Discount rate 20.63%
Operating margin 13.04%
Growth rate 3.00%

The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflect specific risks
relating to the relevant CGU. The operating margin and
growth rate have been based on past experience.

20. BHE(48)

NTARAEEEREROBEES S HIFAA
BenelEilfEtzZE2/RE

Prif =& 20.63%
£ I = 13.04%
R = 3.00%

FRRAZTBRRTIBAIFRRY RRE B
RedEEN B ERR - K2FEX
REERERBEEKRET -

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 1. R—REELEZH#T
2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TERT FHT
As at 1 January ®1A18 587 1,215
Share of loss for the year (note (i) FADhEE () (587) (628)
Amount due from a joint venture BN —K & & hEFRIE
(note (ii)) (PR X (i) 320 -
As at 31 December M12H31H 320 587
Notes: Btz -
(i) Share of loss for the year ended 31 December 2015 was (i) H £2015F12HA31H L FE - FTER

recognised up to the interest in a joint venture.

(i) The amount due from a joint venture is unsecured, interest

free and repayable on demand.

The Group has a 50% (2014: 50%) interest in a joint
venture, Smart Win International Limited, a separate
structured vehicle incorporated in the British Virgin Island
(“BVI”") and operating in Hong Kong. The primary activity of
Smart Win International Limited is investment holding.
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21. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 21. P—REBLEZHE (8)

(Continued)

The contractual arrangement provides the Group with only BHLRFENAEEREHSELHE
the rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement, with EFECEN MBcERHEEE
the rights to the assets and obligation for the liabilities MEBEZEBEEERINEEEBR
of the joint arrangement resting primarily with Smart NAEl RIBBASMBRELERFI15 -
Win International Limited. Under HKFRS 11 this joint ZEEREDEREELENFRAER
arrangement is classified as a joint venture and has been ERERETBEHRERAR - ARAIEER
included in the consolidated financial statements using RZEECEHASEEEXETA M
the equity method. In the opinion of the directors of the BRGECEZUBERMEZAMT

Company, this joint venture is not material to the Group,
and the summarised financial information in relation to the
joint venture is presented below:

2015 2014

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

FHET FH T
Loss for the year FAEE (1,194) (1,256)
Other comprehensive income Hfth 2 m M a - -
Total comprehensive income PR (1,194) (1,256)

22. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 2. P—REBEZBATIZES

2015 2014

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

FHETT FHT

As at 1 January B1A1H 62,448 62,731
Share of loss for the year FARNDIHEE (1,203) (283)
Exchange adjustment ME 5, 8 B (1,127) -
As at 31 December M12H31H 60,118 62,448
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22. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 22. R—RE(ZNTI 2L (&)

Details of the Group’s associate are as follows: BREAREEBME AR ZFBEIET -
Form of Percentage of
business Place of ordinary share
Name of company structure incorporation indirectly held Principal activity
HERATER
AT & EBRERX SMAhE BSH ETEEH
1L P B R RO B Sino-foreign The PRC 30% Development and operation
BRAA equity joint of a liquefied natural gas
venture plant (“LNG plant”) in the

PRC to produce liquefied
coalbed methane

FINGERE HFEH R R RS
TBAL R A R B B U
(MRAERAREE IR L)
NEEREEESR
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, this KRR EERE ZHERRIHALE
associate is not material to the Group, and the financial M E 1K KNEBEKSE N /B EIR
information in respect of the Group’s associate is set out MKREFNHET :
below:
2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TFET FHET
Loss for the year FNEE (4,010) (943)
Other comprehensive income E fib 2 A Y e - -
Total comprehensive income @l (4,010) (943)
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23. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENT 23. Ot HELHEE
2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHERT THET

Contingent consideration in relation AREWEHE QAR 2GR E

to acquisition of subsidiaries (Fff5E42)
(note 42) 22,417 -
24. LOAN RECEIVABLES 24, ERER
During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Group HZE2014F12831H IEFE - KEE A
advances a loan to an independent third party of — Z YN 8 = 1Rt B 33,670,000/
HK$3,670,000. The loan is secured by certain motor Lo ZERUE TREREEEERE
vehicles and equipment, interest bearing at 8% per annum FHEB8% - WHRSFANEE -

and repayable within 5 years.

The loan receivables are presented in the consolidated FUWERRGEEMBERARENWT
statement of financial position as follows:
2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHERT FAT
Current assets MENEE 1,267 637
Non-current assets EREBEE 2,092 2,880
3,359 3,517
25. INVENTORIES 25. B8

2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FTERT FAT
Spare parts, consumables and others #1% « &+ K H i 10,981 15,163
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26. TRADE, NOTES AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

26. FEWARSR « FEW 4R « HthFE
WER™ « EERFEARIF

PREPAYMENTS
The Group
XEE
2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHETT FE T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Deposits and prepayments e RFENMNZKE
(note (i)) (B 3EG)) 21,235 19,240
Current assets mEEE
Trade receivables JE Y BR 5K 27,857 4,811
Notes receivable JiE Uk 2= i 18,374 3,123
Other receivables (note (ii)) A Wi sk T8 (PR R Gif)) 7,836 14,997
54,067 22,931
Utility deposits KEIZS 747 887
Other deposits and prepayments H e NI FRIE
(note (iii)) GEEDY 234,308 271,804
235,055 272,691
289,122 295,622
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26. TRADE, NOTES AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i

(i)

The balance includes a guarantee deposit of HK$9,780,000
(2014: HK$9,489,000) paid to secure the Group’s borrowings
as set out in note 32() and prepaid exploration costs of
HK$11,455,000 (2014: HK$9,751,000) on the Group’s gas
evaluation and exploration assets and the construction in
progress.

As at 31 December 2014, the balance included consideration
receivables of HK$600,000 on the disposal of Genesis Energy
(Hong Kong) Limited as set out in note 41(a). The amount
was fully received during the year ended 31 December 2015.

The balance includes deposit of HK$223,892,000 (2014:
HK$267,588,000) paid for possible acquisitions of Canada oil
fields as disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 30
June 2014 and 1 September 2014 respectively. On 30 June
2014, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered
into first non-legally binding memorandum of understanding
(“MOU 1”) with Jade Million Co Ltd, (the “Vendor”) in relation
to a possible acquisition of the interests of certain oil and
gas blocks in Canada (“Target 1”). According to the MOU
1, the Group paid a refundable deposit of Canadian Dollars
(*CAD”) 30 million which is interest-free to the Vendor in July
2014. On 1 September 2014, the Group entered into another
memorandum of understanding (“MOU 2”) with Vendor and
paid a refundable deposit of CAD 10 million which is interest
bearing at 4.5% per annum (interest will be charged only
when the MOU 2 lapses) in relation to a possible acquisition
of the interests of certain oil and gas blocks (other than
Target 1) in Canada (“Target 2”). In both MOU 1 and MOU 2,
the Vendor has pledged the interests of Target 1 and Target
2 to the Group as return. On 30 April 2015 and 31 December
2015, the Group and the Vendor agreed in writing to further
extend the time limit for entering into formal agreements in
respect of MOUs and the exclusive periods as set out in the
MOUs respectively to 31 December 2015 and 30 September
2016 respectively. Save and except for the aforesaid
extension of the time limit for entering into formal agreements
and the exclusive periods, all other terms of the MOUs shall
remain unchanged. Up to the date of this report, the Group is
still performing the due diligence review.
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26. FEWARSR « FEW 4R « HthFE
WelR « H & R TE A RRIE (&)

(ii)

(i)

BARBEEHAMER2)AREREAE
& R Z 1R 7% £9,780,0007% Jt (2014
19,489,000 ) R AL B XA
REERMREENRERTIRZTE
15t B BR B A511,455,000/% JT (20144 -
9,751,000/ 7T) °

MR2014512A318 %R BEEEH
M@ EZBIFEER (BB BARA
7] 2 & Y 1K {8600,000/%8 7T » A B 5K A
ERE E20156F128318 It FE A&
S ER o

£ T B I 1% £228,892,0007% 7T (2014
% : 267,588,000 L) * BAR A D
BIFA2014%6 A308 %2014F9 818 A
Bz A RBMEXHAZIZS -
MR2014F6A308 AR RIZEH B A
72 BJade Million Co Ltd ([& 7 1) 7]
VE—MRRAERNRNZABES
([ EREE1]) - R BB EK
BMEAETHEERR(TEZ1]) 2
s o RIBFFEETE  AEEER
2014F7TAMBE A XN R B ZAIRER
%30,000,0000 7T ([AA7T ) ° B2014
FORIA  AEBEEBREHI LS —
M ERE ((REERE2]) ' R
AEBAEEWRBINEARE T HERRESR
(TEfZ2]  BIZ1AANE ) 2 S
W R G F4.5%:1 8 (5 B R7E R
BRAURTEFE) ZAIRER
£10,000,00040 7T ° 5 B 21 % B 221
= BHEHESIREZ2Z KA
FAREEEA B K - K20159F4 30H
K2015F12A31H  AEBEREHZ
ARE#E —PLEREZSEREH=E
FIVERABZENAR I ZEREHS
BAENBREAE MESANTERE
2015412 531 H K%20164F9H308 - &
FRERGTYERBFENHRERZSE
BRESHIIN ZSHRBERENE
HM R ER T2 - BEAREBAH
REBENEETRRES o
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26. TRADE, NOTES AND OTHER 26. FEUWARSR « FEMAEEHR « HthFE
RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND WHRER « IRE R TFEFIERIE (&)
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice JE W BR SRR R 5 BRI 4 SR I 2 BR e D AT
date at the end of reporting period is as follows: mr
2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
T#ERT FHET
30 days 30K 23,371 736
31 — 60 days 31 260K 699 639
61 — 90 days 61Z290K 64 845
Over 90 days % K90k 3,723 2,591
27,857 4,811
The average credit period granted to customers is 0-30 SEAREFPHTHEEHRFEB0-30
days from the invoice date. X o
All trade receivables are less than 180 days past due, not B EINERR AR ABB180R A - AAQ
impaired and related to few customers which have a good AEEFBERIHEERLS  BURBE
track record with the Group. Based on the past experience, WA BEBEATLER BEEMFTHE
management estimated that the carrying amount will be fully <52 E -
recovered.
The Group recognised impairment loss on individual AN E R EI FAR )T 2 @ 5T BE
assessment based on the accounting policy stated in note AR R AT R EEE

4(K)(if).
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SHORT-TERM INVESTMENT 27. sHE IR E
2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THET FHET
Short-term investment HHIRE 76,729 80,330
On 10 July 2014, the Group entered into a subscription M2014567H108 " AEB RSB E
agreement with a PRC company (“Investee”), an =R —EPREAR ([#HIEE R T
independent third party, to acquire bonds with term of 15 REEW R AR E A K ¥64,300,0007T
months, bearing interest at 8.5% per annum amounted RESEA 2 EFH - FEE B85 ° %
to RMB64,300,000. The bonds were further extended for HEADHHB2015F108268 #E — %
another 6 months from 26 October 2015 to 25 April 2016 ERINE A Z=20165F4 8250 @ B[ F
with interest bearing at 13% per annum. The bonds are BERA13% - ZFEHFBWERET 2 —
guaranteed by an Investee’s related company. & A REER o
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 28. & RAEEEY
2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THET T
Cash and bank balances, I ER.GFTEZREE R
denominated in RITEE R
- HK$ and USD —BLTRET 6,034 8,693
— Renminbi (“RMB”) — AR 29,285 7,086
- CAD — T 228 3,661
— Others i 17 15
35,564 19,455

Cash and cash equivalents of HK$29,285,000 (equivalent
to RMB24,534,000) (2014: HK$7,086,000 (equivalent to
RMB5,669,000) were denominated in RMB. RMB is not a
freely convertible currency and the remittance of funds out
of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by
the PRC Government.
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29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 20. HibhEMNRIERTEREHR

30.

2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHETT FE T
Current liabilities mEBE
Other payables and accruals HMENFIBRERER
(note (1)) (B %)) 227,432 135,680
Amount due to a shareholder FEAS AR R ZRIB
(note (ii)) (B 3£ (i) 10,143 24,350
237,575 160,030
Notes: P E -
()  Other payables include exploration costs payable of () HMENKRESEAEEHBRDER

approximately HK$172,586,000 (2014: HK$104,328,000) in
respect of gas exploration and evaluation assets and oil and
gas properties.

(if) The amount represents a loan from a shareholder
denominated in CAD. The loan was unsecured, interest free
and repayable on demand.

WARRANT LIABILITY

On 17 March 2014, the Group entered into a facility
agreement with a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Orient
Asset Management Corporation (the “Lender”) to obtain
a facility of HK$100,000,000 with interest rate of 8% per
annum and to issue the warrant (“Warrants”) with the right
to subscribe the shares of the Group at a nominal amount of
HK$50,000,000 at an initial subscription price of HK$0.2714
per share. The Group shall pay the Lender an additional fee
not exceeding HK$750,000 for any unexercised subscription
rights of the Warrants on the date of expiry of the warrant.
The loan was fully repaid on 31 July 2014 and the facility
and warrants were expired on 24 March 2015. The Warrants
had neither been exercised nor transferred during the years
2015 and 2014.

The fair value of the Warrants was determined at the date
of issuance, and measured based on binomial option
pricing model. The residual amount, representing the value
of the loan which measured at amortised cost. The Group
classified this Warrants as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss and recognised according to the
accounting policy in note 4(k)(iii).
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31. PROVISIONS 31. #iE

2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHETT FHT
Balance at 1 January R A18 2 & 1,280 747

Provision for environmental IRIBIEERE th?ﬁﬁ =l

restoration and decommissioning B

costs 1,187 551
Exchange adjustments P& 5 (58) (18)
Balance at 31 December W12 A318 2 &8 2,409 1,280
The provision for environmental restoration and 20155 R2014F RFEERFILERE

decommissioning costs for 2015 and 2014 represent ZEFEER=RERAR (HRKE
directors’ estimated assets retirement obligations relating to 43() BRAZES A EERERE
the Sanjiao CBM Project as set out in Note 43(i).
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32. BORROWINGS 32. &
2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHERT TAT
Secured interest-bearing borrowings A i B & &
(notes (i) and (ii)) (B 2 () K (ii) ) 214,794 312,325
Other borrowings — unsecured HiEE — EEHF
(note (ii) and (iv)) (B (i) K (iv)) 66,825 =
Corporate bonds (note (v)) T EESHF (FEEV) 219,471 =
Promissory note (note (vi)) b H =& (fFaEvi) 101,431 -
602,521 312,325
Secured BEA 214,794 312,325
Unsecured KR 387,727 -
602,521 312,325
On demand or within one year BREXS—FRNER 186,155 124,930
More than one year, but not tEiE—F BN EARE
exceeding two years 170,045 124,930
More than two years, but not BBME B THBART
exceeding five years 34,349 62,465
More than five years i i@ 1 211,972 =
602,521 312,325
Amount due within one year included ZI AGE & & — 4 A ZH 2
in current liabilities &% (186,155) (124,930)
Non-current portion ERENE 416,366 187,395
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32. BORROWINGS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2015, the Group obtained borrowings
from two (2014: one) parties as follows:

(i)

On 23 December 2011, OEIl entered into financing
agreement (“Agreement 1”) with CDB Leasing Co.,
Ltd (currently known as China Development Bank
Financial Leasing Co., Ltd) (“CDB Leasing”), an
independent third party, pursuant to which CDB
Leasing granted a facility of RMB1,000,000,000
to OEIl to be repaid by instalment over five years,
of which RMB200,000,000 was to finance the
exploration phase and RMB800,000,000 to be
drawn after obtaining the approval of the ODP in
respect of the Sanjiao CBM Project. In 2012, a
revised agreement was signed between OEl and CDB
Leasing, pursuant to which OEl can draw loans to
the extent of RMB400,000,000 and RMB600,000,000
during exploration stage and production stage of the
Sanjiao CBM Project respectively. As at 31 December
2015, loans due to CDB Leasing, net of repayment,
amounted to RMB180,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$214,794,000) (2014: RMB250,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$312,325,000)).

The facility is secured by certain oil and gas properties
with a carrying amount of HK$1,235,200,000 (note
16) (2014: gas exploration and evaluation assets of
HK$593,571,000 (note 17)), a guarantee deposit of
HK$9,780,000 (2014: HK$9,489,000) (note 26(i), all
accounts receivable from sales generated from the
Sanjiao CBM Project, all the shares of OEl held by
Power Great Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, 2,296,000,000 shares of the Company held
by certain directors and shareholders of the Company,
personal guarantees of Dr. Dai Xiaobing and his
spouse and a corporate guarantee by the Company.

In the opinion of the directors, the financing
arrangement is in substance a secured borrowing.
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32. BORROWINGS (Continued)

(i

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

On 19 September 2011, Orion Energy International
Inc. (“OEI”), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary
of the Group, entered into a financing agreement
(“Agreement 2”) with Minsheng Financial Leasing
Co., Ltd (RESBBEERMNDBRAT]) (“Minsheng”),
an independent third party, pursuant to which
Minsheng advanced RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$61,596,000) under certain conditions to OEl to be
repaid by instalment over three years. In the opinion
of the directors, the financing arrangement was in
substance a secured borrowing. The borrowing was
fully repaid in October 2014.

On 29 December 2015, the Group entered into an
agreement with an independent third party to borrow
RMB30,000,000 with 1% interest rate per month. The
loan was guaranteed by the director of the Company,
Dr. Dai Xiaobing and one of the Group’s subsidiaries.
The loan was fully repaid in February 2016.

On 29 November 2015 and 22 December 2015, the
Group entered into agreements with an independent
third party to borrow RMB20,000,000 and
RMB6,000,000 respectively with interest rate at 2%
per month. Both loans were guaranteed by one of the
Group’s subsidiaries. The loans were fully repaid in
February 2016.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
Company issued the corporate bonds carried fixed
interest rate ranging from 6% to 7% per annum with
maturity in 4 to 8 years.

On 15 May 2015, the Company issued promissory
note with principal amount of RMB85,000,000 as part
of the consideration for the acquisition of Golden Glow
Group. The promissory note is unsecured, interest

bearing at 8% per annum and mature in three years
(note 42).
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32. BORROWINGS (Continued) 32. EE (&)

(vi) The range of effective interest rates on the Group’s (vii) #X E20154 &2014512H318 1E
borrowings for the years ended 31 December 2015 FERN AEERBZEENETR
and 2014 are as follows: MERTHEHE :

2015 2014
Secured interest-bearing borrowings ~ A#E K EEE 8% -9.4% 8.5% - 11.7%
Other borrowings — unsecured HifEE — EEH 12% - 24% N/AZT iE FB
Corporate bonds TEESH 6% - 7% N/AT i 3
Promissory note EAHER 8% N/A i F3
33. CONVERTIBLE NOTES 33. TiRRER
The convertible notes recognised in the statement of R BERRRERZ A BEREETE N
financial position are calculated as follows: T
2015 2014
Liability Equity Liability Equity

component component component  component
BEfREBS IR E 5 BEHS i)
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FTER FTER FHET FHET

At 1 January m1A1B 160,750 15,913 134,920 15,913
Issue of convertible notes FRARTZAIHRRERE

during the year 87,191 10,409 - -
Amortisation of transaction costs R AR 2 #iH

(note 9(a)) (B 5E9(a)) 3,432 - 2,811 -
Imputed interest expense fE 55 A S 3

(note 9(a)) (H3E9(a)) 40,888 - 26,690 -
Interest paid ERFHE (7,011) - (3,671) -
At 31 December MW12A31H 285,250 26,322 160,750 15,913
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33. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued) 33. TR IRER (F)

Convertible notes 1

The Company issued convertible notes in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$275,000,000 with a 4% discount
and a 2% coupon rate on 26 April 2013. The convertible
notes were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and will
mature in three years from the issue date. The notes can
be converted into ordinary shares of the Company at the
holder’s option at the rate of HK$0.167 per share. Imputed
interest expense on the convertible notes was charged at
the rate of 18.67% calculated using the effective interest
method.

Convertible notes 2

The Company issued convertible notes in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$100,000,000 with a 8% coupon rate
on 19 June 2015. The convertible notes were denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and will mature in two years from
the issue date. The notes can be converted into ordinary
shares of the Company at the holder’s option at the rate
of HK$0.226 per share. Imputed interest expense on
the convertible notes was charged at the rate of 18.96%
calculated using the effective interest method.

The fair values of the liability component and the equity
conversion component were determined at the date of
issue of the convertible notes. The fair value of the liability
component, included as non-current financial liabilities, was
calculated using the market interest rate for an equivalent
non-convertible notes. The residual amount, representing
the value of the equity conversion component, was included
in equity, net of deferred income taxes, where applicable.
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34. DEFERRED TAX 34. IREHIA
Details of the deferred tax assets and (liabilities) recognised FRANRAZELEHBEEN (BE) 25
and movements during the year were as follows: 15 REEHIMT -
Accelerated Intangible Tax
tax depreciation assets losses Total
IEHIE
e BREE BIERE st

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TET TAT TAT TAT

At 1 January 2014 201441 818 (25,534) (6,735) 23,898 (8,371)
(Charged)/credited to profit (30B) FTABRE

or loss (note 10) (ME%E10) (5,694) 50 7,345 1,701
Exchange adjustments b 3 & 672 165 (644) 193
At 31 December 2014 R2014512A31H (30,556) (6,520) 30,599 (6,477)
Arising from acquisition FRAKBES

during the year (note 42) (H7E42) - (18,514) - (18,514)
Credited/(charged) to profit A (KB BEER

or loss (note 10) (Mt3E10) 20,578 6,440 (29,970) (2,952)
Exchange adjustments b N AR 691 80 (383) 388
At 31 December 2015 R20156F12H31H (9,287) (18,514) 246 (27,555)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is BEMBEERBRERBESERHIH
a legally enforceable right to set off when the deferred tax 77 T 8 8 DA R RE 5 18 7 [R] — T 75
related to same fiscal authority. The following net amounts BT AEEREE A TRELEH
determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown on the BRAKREEREREE 2 FE -

consolidated statement of financial position.

2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

THET FAT

Deferred tax liabilities FEEFRIBEE (27,801) (37,076)
Deferred tax assets REFRIBE = 246 30,599
(27,555) (6,477)
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35. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS 35. E SR KEFH

(@) The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a
defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, both
the employer and each employee are required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employee’s
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000 (2014: HK$30,000) by each
party. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

(b)  Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in
the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) organised
by the relevant local government authorities, whereby
the Group is required to make contributions to the
Schemes at a rate ranging from 21% to 30% (2014:
21% to 30%) of the eligible employees’ salaries.
The local government authorities are responsible for
the entire pension obligations payable to the retired
employees. The obligations are calculated based on a
certain percentage of the basic payroll.

36. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS

The Company operates a share option scheme which was
adopted on 28 May 2010 (“Scheme”) for a period of ten
years commencing from 28 May 2010 whereby the directors
of the Company are authorised, at their discretion, to
invite employees of the Group, including directors of any
companies within the Group, to take up options to subscribe
for shares of the Company. The terms and conditions of the
grant are determined by the Board at the time of grant. The
exercisable period of an option is not to exceed a period
of ten years commencing the date the share options be
granted. The options give the holder the right to subscribe
for ordinary shares in the Company. A nominal consideration
of HK$1 is payable by the grantee upon acceptance of an
option. Options would be forfeited should the employee
leave the Group. All the existing share options were granted
under the Scheme.
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36. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 36. KRFAEHUIRBHEMRZX S
TRANSACTIONS (Continued) (48)
(@) The terms and conditions of the share options that (@) AT AE=2015F12831H LEF
existed during the year ended 31 December 2015 ETFE 2 BB 2 IR B A - BT
were as follows and all options are settled by physical EERENERERRIMROLEE

delivery of shares:

Contractual Contractual
Vesting exercise Number of life of
Date of grant condition Exercise period price options options
Rl
idih GERH TSR ahiTRE  EREXE SHEH
'000
T
Options granted to directors:
RIESZERE:
- on 6 December 2011 [mmediately 6 December 2011 to 5 December 2021 HKS0.2767 1T 117,000 10 years®
~12011512A6H ks 2011512468 202151258
- on 23 November 2015 Immediately 23 November 2015 to 22 November 2018 HK$0.222/5 7T 179,000 3 yearsF
-1R2015%11 4238 LS 2015511 A28 2018411 A22R
Option granted to employees:
R¥EEZHRE:
- on 6 December 2011 Immediately 6 December 2011 to 5 December 2021 HK$0.2767% 7T 321,000 10 yearsE
~12011%1246H il 2011412 A6H E2021F12A5A
- on 23 November 2015 Immediately 23 November 2015 to 22 November 2018 HK$0.222/5 879,000 3 years®
—12015511A23R i 2015F11 A23H £2018%F 11 A22H
Total share options

BRELSY 1,496,000
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36. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 36. REAGREUBRMBFHRZE S
TRANSACTIONS (Continued) (48)
(b) The number and weighted exercise prices of share (o) MERECEHE RMETEEDT :

options are as follows:

2015 2014
Weighted Weighted
average Number average Number
exercise of share exercise of share
price options price options
It I
TEE BERERE T®E BREXHE
HK$ ’000 HK$ ’000
& T4 BT S
Outstanding at beginning REF M ARITHE
of the year 0.276 455,700 0.276 563,200
Granted during the year FART 0.222 1,058,000 = =
Lapsed during the year FRKK 0.276 (17,700) 0.276 (107,500)
Outstanding at the RERHARITHE
end of the year 0.238 1,496,000 0.276 455,700
Exercisable at the RERT FITHE
end of the year 0.238 1,496,000 0.276 455,700
The options outstanding at 31 December 2015 had exercise R2015F 128318 + W ARITEBREZ
prices of HK$0.238 (2014: HK$0.276) and a weighted 17 8 £0.2387% 7t (20144 : 0.276/5
average remaining contractual life of 3.79 years (2014: 6.93 Jo)  MINEFEHBRTE L F E R3.79
years). F (20144 : 6.93%F)
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36. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 36. KRFAEHUIRBHEMRZX S

TRANSACTIONS (Continued) (48)

(c)  Fair value of share options and assumption. () BEREZATFERRE-
The fair value of services received in return for share FT % i 2 B8 IS4 1 /& [B) 3 P 12 U AR
options granted is measured with reference to the fair BZAFEL2EMREEREZA
value of share options granted. The estimate of the FET=E - BRREZAFEMGHETR
fair values of the share options is measured based BEZEAMETERENGE - BR
on binomial lattice option pricing model. Lives of the HEFER M AR o

options are incorporated into the model.

Options granted
on 23 November 2015

2015511 238 R H Z Bk 1
Grant date share price i B ER(E HK$0.2227% 7T
Exercise price IEE HK$0.222/% 7T
Expected life TE H F 5 3 yearsfF
Expected volatility SR 50.30%
Expected dividend yield (%) T8 B AR B W e & (%) 0%
Risk-free interest rate(%) 2 3 B A1) 22 (%) 0.733%
The expected volatility was based on the historical volatility I8 B I AR 1 R SO i (22 = B AR RE hD
(by reference to the weighted average remaining life of IR TFEH) ARTHEREH =
the share options), adjusted for any expected changes to RKEIE (2ELARER) - THEAKR SR
future volatility by reference to publicly available information. BRESKREET T8 ABEBERERE
Expected dividends were based on historical dividends. A e A FEGHELEETEATE -
Changes in the subjective input assumptions could
materially affect the fair value estimate.
The Group recognised total expenses of HK$77,518,000 20155 - NEE B R AN E AR K 7
in respect of the equity-settled share-based payment R 2R GRS B4 %5877,518,000/ 7T
transactions in 2015 (note 9(b)). (Bt 5E9(b)) °
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37. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 37. X R &
(a) Share capital (a) B&&E
(i) Authorised and issued share capital ()  EEREEFTKA
The Company
AATF
2015 2014
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
B&HEE o] 8k TH
’000 HK$’ 000 '000 HK$’ 000
T TERT TR FHET
Authorised EE
Ordinary shares of BREEC.01EB T
HK$0.01 each 2 EBR 25,000,000 250,000 25,000,000 250,000
Issued and fully paid ERTRARE
Ordinary shares of HK SREE0.01E T
$0.01 each ZERER
At beginning of the year REA 17,953,931 179,539 14,753,931 147,539
Share repurchased and cancelled (i) P {7 B 21 K 5T $(ii) (350,330) (3,503) = -~
Shares issued on placing (iii) R BC & 21T M i) - - 3,200,000 32,000
At end of the year RER 17,603,601 176,036 17,953,931 179,539
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive TRE A ABREWNERTARETE RIS
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to WERARNBRNE R E—ZR R o
one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary MELTBEREARRIZHR TNTEEZ AR
shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual LR
assets.
(i) Share repurchased and cancelled (i) BR17AE R 7T 75
During 2015, the company repurchased and cancelled MR20156F  RAREE RFHAAD
a total of 350,330,000 shares of the Company at an 7 48 X (B 4964,357,000/8 7T 2 I& 19 &
aggregate consideration of approximately HK$64,357,000 350,330,000% £ #13,503,000% T 5T
of which HK$ 3,503,000 was debited to share capital and AN 7K - £ 5860,854,0007% 7T 5T A B 15
balances of HK$60,854,000 was debited to the share T EER o

premium account.
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37. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(@) Share capital (Continued)

(i) Shares issued on placing

During 2014, 2,900,000,000 and 300,000,000 ordinary
shares were subscribed at HK$0.205 and HK$0.22
per share with proceeds of HK$594,500,000 and
HK$66,000,000 respectively. Accordingly, the Company’s
issued share capital was increased by HK$32,000,000 and
the balance of the proceeds, net of direct cost incurred
of HK$625,200,000 was credited to the share premium
account.

(iv) Lapse of vested warrants

In 2014, there were 250,000,000 outstanding unlisted
warrants issued by the Company on 10 November 2010,
conferring rights to subscribe for ordinary shares of the
Company at a subscription price of HK$0.53 per share
on and after 22 January 2011 and up to and including 10
November 2014. These warrants were unexercised and
lapsed upon the expiration of their exercise periods on 10
November 2014.

(v)  Lapse of vested share options

In 2015, 17,700,000 (2014: 107,500,000) share options
lapsed.
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BRRGEE(E)

(a) K& (4&)

(ii) A EZETIR G

20144 + 2,900,000,0008% 52300,000,000
% i I o Bl % & 1%0.2057% 7T K0.22
BT BEEERE B XED
/594,500,000 7T % 66,000,000/
T A ARAZ B BEITRAE M
32,000,000/ 7T ' 1M FT 15 5% T8 #4 58 0 BR
HEZR% 625,200,000 T8 5T AR
DmER -

(iv) EHBRREZZ KA

20145 » N2 Al 20105611 A10H
BT F R 52011F1 228 £ &
FE2014F11 108 (B3 & ) IEIRR
BESBRRBRMOSSE TREARAE
BRMARETE 2 ETRKRES B
250,000,000 ° K2014F11 F10H 17
FEEEmE RS RREBRETE
N5 R o

) EEEERIEZH N
MN2015% » 17,700,000 (20144 :
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37. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 37. EXR R E (8)
(b) The Company (b) EAT
Convertible
Share Share  Contributed Share option Warrant notes equity Accumulated
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total

aREE  TRRES
ks RbEf  G9ER RREGH B ERER  RlEE gt
Notes ~ HKSOOD  HKS'OOD  HKE'000  HKS'000  HKSOO0  HKS'OD  HKS'000  HKS000
W TR TAT  TEm  TEn TR TET  TEn TR

At 1 January 2014 201451718 147639 3,737,663 81,043 48,020 1,250 16,913 (635,921) 3,395,507
Share issued on placing ERERRH ST 32000 625200 = = = = - 657200
Release upon lapse of NEEERRER

Vested warrants kRBREE 87(a)v) - - - - (1,250 - 1,250 -
Release upon lapse of TR R T

share options & 37(a)) - - - (12,289) - - 12,23 -
Loss and total comprehensive ~ AEEEERZE

income for the year WmE - - - - - - (T (257914
At 31 December 2014 201412318 179539 4,362,863 81,043 35,785 - 15,913 (880,350) 3,794,793
Issuance of convertible notes ~ H{TTRRER 3 - - - - - 10,409 - 10,409
Issue of share options Rk 3 - - - 77518 - - - 77518
Release upon lapse of TR XM

share options &m 37(a) - - - (1,509 - - 1,509 -
Share repurchased and RAEE RS

cancelled 37(a)(l (3,503) (60,854) - - - - - (64,357)
Loss and total comprehenshe. ~ AEEBERZE

income for the year higE - - - - - - (M386)  (M386)
At 31 December 2015 R2015E12A31H 176,036 4,302,009 81,043 11,79 - 26322 (1322,703)  (3,374,501)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (c) HEMHERAR
(i) Share premium () BrRE
Share premium represents premium arising from the issue B m BiE A H D R EEEK %
of shares at a price in excess of their par value per share. TROMEEZEE - RO EB LA D
Share premium is not distributable but may be applied in IKBA FIEBUE AR R BIERE AR
paying up unissued shares of the Company to be issued to MEZZFEAZBITZREITRMOI AR
equity holders as fully paid bonus shares or to provide the BIAR &R R E

premiums on repurchase of own shares.
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37. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)
(i) Contributed surplus

Contributed surplus arose when the Company issues shares
in exchange for the shares of subsidiaries being acquired,
and represented the difference between the nominal value
of the Company’s shares issued and the value of net assets
of the subsidiaries acquired under the group reorganisation
in 1999 in preparation for the listing of the Company’s
shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong. Under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), contributed
surplus is available for distribution to equity holders.
However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or
make a distribution out of contributed surplus if:

- it is or would after the payment, be unable to pay
its liabilities as they become due; or

- the realisable value of its assets would thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its
issued share capital and share premium account.

(i)~ Share option reserve

The share option reserve represents the fair value of the
actual or estimated number of unexercised share options
granted by the Company and recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for share-based payments as
set in note 4(r).

(iv)  Warrant reserve
Warrant reserve represents the equity component of
warrants issued by the Company.

(v)  Convertible notes equity reserve

The reserve represents the equity component (i.e. option
to convert the notes into shares) of the convertible notes
issued by the Company.

(vi)  Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations outside Hong Kong which were
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy as set
out in note 4(p).

169

37.

B35 3 R P 5

As at 31 December 2015 R20154F 1231 H

BEXFRiHiE (E)

(c) REEMHERMAR R

(i) #AHEG
ARRZPMBHREERAABTRE
PS5 NG PN P SR EE S
AR AEBTRG EER1999F A%
ARARBEEBYE RS LH M
Tz RESARBANBANEEFE
2M2 2% BIEAREI981F A RE
(BT  BMBBTHS KT RS R
BA KT MEETIER  AQF
B SR 84 R SOR A IR 8 o e
A -

- RNREBEERAEELEERD
HRaE: %

- ZBHREEZAEREEEREE -
ERITRARB DS ER A -

(ii) B ERE
BREFMEASRAAFEREZERKA
B ZHARITEBREZAFE A
B 12 BRI a2 4(r) Bt LAR 19 2 5 2 FRIA PR R
MERTHRERAK -

(v) BIREEE
R ERBFERRANR B ETZBAE

ELZ e

() FAHRREE#E A
BRERRARAETZABRRER 2
mEb oy BT RIBRER ARG 2 REE) -

(i) FESLfEfE
EXFEERRBREFTBUAINEE Y
BHREAMELEZABINEEZR - IR
MiEE4(p)Pr 8 @ Ft R B -




Notes to the Financial Statements
MEGE=MEE

As at 31 December 2015 R2015%F 12431 H

37. CAPITAL AND RESERVES (Continued) 37. BAXR R R (8)
(d) Distribution of reserves (d) PikfEEE
At 31 December 2015, the Company had no reserves MR2015F12A31H » KN QA 7 #f £ £ &
available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie. AEREDRN HEDDIRK - BRIEF
Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the Company’s FEI19BIFE R AE + AR B 2 B Atk
contributed surplus in the amount of HK$81,043,000 (2014: 81,043,000/8 7t (20144F : 81,043,000/8
HK$81,043,000) is currently not available for distribution. 70) IR DR o R2015F12H31H -
The Company’s share premium account in the amount AR A2 B An 4 (8 Bk /4,302,009,0007%8
of HK$4,302,009,000 as at 31 December 2015 (2014: 7t (20144 : 4,362,863,000/% 7T) * A
HK$4,362,863,000) may be distributed in the form of fully AR R DIK

paid bonus shares.
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38. COMPANY LEVEL STATEMENT OF

M %5 3R = B &

As at 31 December 2015 R20154F 1231 H

38. A ATR20155E12A318 2

FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 A FEAR R R
DECEMBER 2015
2015 2014
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
fizE TER TER TET TET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries NGRS 39 3,888,749 3,983,733
Total non-current assets FRBDEELSE 3,888,749 3,083,733
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables, deposits ARG  RERENZE
and prepayments 2,559 433
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREEEY 5,555 75
Total current assets REEERS 8,114 508
Total assets BEE 3,896,863 3,984,241
Current liabilities RBERE
Other payables and accruals HLENFERERER (17,641) (26,743)
Warranty liability AREZEE - (1,955)
Convertible notes AREE (192,029) -
(209,670) (28,698)
Net current liabilities RBAESE (201,556) (28,190)
Total assets less current liabilities B&EERKHEE 3,687,193 3,955,543
Non-current liabilities FREERE
Borrowings BE (219,471) -
Convertible notes TARER (93,221) (160,750)
(312,692) (160,750)
Total non-current liabilities ERBDEBLEE (312,692 (160,750)
NET ASSETS BESHE 3,374,501 3,794,793
Capital and reserves attributable to AATHEAEEEF
owners of the Company RfitE
Share capital KA 37(a) 176,036 179,539
Reserves i 37(0) 3,198,465 3,615,254
TOTAL EQUITY iR 3,374,501 3,794,793
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39. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Details of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015
are listed below. The class of shares held is ordinary unless
stated otherwise.

39. "M BAT 2L
MR2015F12 831 B T BB AR 2 715

WT-BRmBRAEIN

REBR -

Proportion of ownership interest

P 5 B £ 48 5

RAERE M
Place of Group's Held Held
incorporation/ Issued effective by the bya
Name of company Notes operation and paid up capital holding Company  subsidiary Principal activity
FREER H-XHE
ATEE Wi ERRI/EE0E ERTRYURRE KRE mAATRE  AEHF  EERR
Wiseley Investments Limited The BVI US§100 100% 100% = Investment holding
EHRERRAA EBRARES 10057 RERR
Easy Sino Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% = Provision of administrative
EEREERAT B 187 services to group companies
mEE AR MRS
Chuang Xin Management Services Hong Kong HK$2 100% 100% = Provision of management
Limited & 2T senvices to group companies
B ERREERAA - AEEARREEREE
Grand Rise Development Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% = Investment holding
HEERERAA Bk 1007 RERR
Key Wisdom Investments Limited The BVI USS$100 100% 100% = Investment holding
BRRERRAA EBRARES 10057 RERK
Power Great Limited The Gayman Islands USS1 100% 100% = Investment holding
HERRAA RERS B3 RERR
Superb China Limited The BVI USS100 100% 100% = Investment holding
FEERAR ABEARES 100%7 RERR
Key Well Development Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% = 100% Investment holding
HEXRERAA Bk 1007 RERR
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39. RMIBAB z#x= (&)

(Continued)
Proportion of ownership interest
BEES A
Place of Group’s Held Held
incorporation/ Issued effective by the by a
Name of company Notes operation and paid up capital holding Company  subsidiary Principal activity
FREER H-XHE
AFER ME  ERRI/EERE ERTRYRRE KRE BFATHE  ATRE EEER
Bi Tuo Yuan Technology (Shenzhen) The PRC Registered capital 100% = 100% Participation in oil and gas
Co., Ltd # RMB500,000 projects
AR R ERAR i R A& %500,0007 BERAER
Orion Energy International Inc. The Cayman Islands US$100,000 100% - 100% Exploration, development and
BEziRERARAR REHS 100,000% 7T production of coalbed methane
95 BENEERER
Xian Hong Chang Co,. Inc. The PRC Registered capital 100% = 100% Participation in oil and gas
EREERRREREARAR i RMB51,700,000 projects
MR A K#61,7000007 2EHTER
Trilion International Petroleum Hong Kong HK$1 100% = 100% Investment holding
Extraction Technology Ltd & 187 REER
NEERERRRETARAR
Xian Lilong Petroleum Extraction The PRC Registered capital 100% - 100% Participation in oil and gas
Technology Limited 1 HK$50,000,000 projects
RZNERRRRENARAR 1 %7450,000,000% 7 2ERFER
Pipeling International Limited Hong Kong HKS1 100% = 100% Investment holding
AR ERERAR Bk 187 RERR
Metro Standard Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% = 100% Provision of motor vehicles
EHERAR 5 1371 to group companies
REBRAREA
Ultraway International Limited Hong Kong HKS1 100% 100% - Investment holding
RAEARERAA B 187 REER
SOG Energy Inc. Canada CAD1 100% - 100% Participation in ofl and gas
nex mr projects
2ERFER
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39. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 39. R BAS 2= ()
(Continued)
Proportion of ownership interest
BEES A
Place of Group’s Held Held
incorporation/ Issued effective by the by a
Name of company Notes operation and paid up capital holding Company  subsidiary Principal activity
FREER H-XHE
AFER Wi ERRL/EE0E ERTRYRRE KRE BFATRE  ATRE EEER
Sino Executive Limited Hong Kong US$100 100% 100% - Investment holding
&k 10057 RERR
Total Orient Global Limited The BVI USS$100 100% 100% = Investment holding
ABABRES 10057 REBR
Abundant Discovery Limited i The BVI US$100 100% 100% - Investment holding
EEERAT AR4BRES 100%7 REBR
Golden Glow Holdings Limited i The BV US§100 75% - 75% Investment holding
AREBRNE 10057 RERR
RELHERENEEERAA i The PRC Registered capital 75% - 75% Raw coal washing and sale of
('REGEEEN) # RMB50,000,000 raw and cleaned coal
A AR %50,0000007T RELERHERRRER
Notes: Bz -
Registered under the laws of the PRC as a wholly-owned i BIEDBERETAIEBELYE
foreign enterprise
i Acquired through business combination during the year (note ii FAZN 4F 4% 2 78 A 3 UL BE (B 3342)
42)
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at RER BMEMNBATRTEMERS
the end of the year. % o
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40. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 40. izt
Golden Glow Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries KRR BB T5%E 5 2 I B A 5Golden
(collectively as “Golden Glow Group”), 75% owned Glow Holdings Limited & H Kf & A 7] (£t
subsidiaries of the Company, has material non-controlling 78 [ Golden GlowsE & |) # B & A IR
interests (NCI). The NCI of all other subsidiaries that are not Mz o 20144 - N & E I 3E100% %
100% owned by the group are considered to be immaterial BEIEEMME QR 2 JEERE = AR
in 2014. RITENK -
Summarised financial information in relation to the Golden A F8Golden Glowss B (72 & B A 3P K 54
Glow Group, before intra-group eliminations, is presented B 2B EERBEZ5 0T :
below:
2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THET FHT
For the period ended B E12A31HLLEE
31 December
Revenue g A 47,868 =
Profit for the period HA A A 3,237 =
Total comprehensive income MU A B 3,129 =
Profit allocated to NCI Bt 2= JEVE AR 21 2 g A (810) =
For the period ended 31 December & ZE12HA31H LL&[E
Cash flows used in operating activiies &KZ2EBKAAZEERE (8,237) -
Cash flows from investing activities KEEHFABZRHERE 108 -
Cash flows used in financing activites @B EBMTAZESRE (3,129) -
Net cash outflows /e R FRE (6,258) =
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40. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(Continued)

40. FEi=Rz R (4)

2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
T#ER FHET

As at 31 December ®12H31H
Current assets mENE E 27,099 =
Non-current assets ERBEE 74,215 =
Current liabilities nBaE (24,130) -
Non-current liabilities EMEBBE (18,514) -
Net assets BEFE 58,670 =
Accumulated non-controlling interests 2 5t FE42 iR & 25 14,668 =

41. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(@ On 28 March 2014, the Group disposed of Genesis
Energy (Hong Kong) Limited (“GEHK”) which is

41. HEHRBAT
(a) M20143H28H ' A& B L EH
NEEEB ZAFER(BH) A

dormant during the period. The net liabilities of GEHK BT (TAlFEER]) - 8l #FH e iR

as at the completion date was as follows:

R BRHZBEFENAT :

HK$’ 000
FAT
Property, plant and equipment Y% BB RE&E 38
Other receivables H A FE SR8 25
Cash and cash equivalents ReEMBREEEY 25
Other payable and accruals Hippetm RTEIRE R (514)
Net liabilities disposed of HEZBEFE (426)
Gain on disposal & 2 e 1,026
Total consideration BR(E 600
Satisfied by: AT
Cash consideration receivable (note 26(ii)) JE W3R & R AE (BT 3E26(i) 600
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEAZRESMLIFRE -
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HECHERASEEY (25)
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41. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

GEHK did not contribute to the Group’s turnover and a loss
of HK$96,000 for the period from 1 January 2014 to the
date of disposal.

(b)  On 24 April 2014, the Group disposed of Gain All
Limited (“Gain All”) which is dormant during the period.
The net assets of Gain All as at the completion date

M %5 3R = B &

As at 31 December 2015 R20154F 1231 H

41. HEMBAT (8)

R2014F1 A1 2 HE B H 2 Hif - &l
R ERASEEEEE  UE
A [E53896,00078 TT ©

(b) M2014F4F248 » AEBE L EH
NEBEXK 2E2ARRAA (17
2]) - B2REXBHZEETE

was as follows: m
HK$’ 000
FE T
Other receivables H {th pE W 5008 12
Net assets disposed of HEZEEFRE 12
Gain on disposal & 2 e 688
Total consideration BB 700
Satisfied by: AT

Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEY 700

Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEAZRESMAFRE -
Cash consideration received BERFEEKE 700

Gain All did not contribute to the Group’s turnover and a
profit of HK$1,730,000 for the period from 1 January 2014
to the date of disposal.
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42. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES DURING 42. FERYEEM B2 T
THE YEAR
During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group B E2015F12A31BEFERN ' A&
acquired 75% equity interest of Golden Glow Group E U B Golden Glow B75% 2 1 25 -
at consideration of RMB135,000,000 (equivalent to 1E{8 B A R #135,000,0007T (18 % R
HK$168,656,000). The principal activity of Golden Glow 168,656,000/ L) * HF BZEBH R RK
Group is raw coal washing and sale of raw and cleaned coal. FHIEREEREREE - RIE RIS
The fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at EERBBEFEZAFENT
the date of acquisition are as follows:
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHET THERT
Intangible assets (note (i) m & E (M EEd) 74,054
Deferred tax liabilities BEFBEE (18,514)
Non-controlling interests FEE AR HE (13,885)
41,655
Total consideration satisfied by: RREXZNM :
Cash B& 62,466
Promissory note (note (ii)) A g (B 5% (i) 106,190
Fair value of contingent consideration FEREZLFE
(note (i) (B &£ Gi)) (22,417)
146,239
Goodwill kS 104,584
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: — URBEE £ 2 IR &7 1 /F 58 -
Cash consideration paid BENRERE 62,466
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THE YEAR (Continued)

Notes:

(ii

(ii)

TEBMRERABRDF © 2015 F ]

Golden Glow Group has a 10-year guaranteed favourable
supply agreement (“the Agreement”) with adjacent coal mines.

Intangible assets represent the fair value of the Agreement.

The promissory note of HK$106,190,000 (equivalent to
RMB85,000,000) is unsecured, 8% per annum interest
bearing and will mature in three years from the date of issue
of the promissory note on 15 May 2015.

The vendor irrevocably guaranteed the Group that from 1 July
2015 until 30 June 2021, six years in total, the total net profit
after income tax expense attributable to Golden Glow Group
per annum should not be less than RMB30,000,000 (“the
Guaranteed Profit”). Contingent consideration represented
amount to be received by the Group if the Golden Glow

Group fails to met the Guaranteed Profit.

179

M %5 3R = B &

As at 31 December 2015 R20154F 1231 H

42. FRUWREHIB A E (&)

BEEE

(ii)

Golden Glow%s B % 510 F 8 2 #57#5
HEEREZEHERZ (HE]) - &
FEERZMZNATFEE-

20154574158 + 106,190,000 7T
(#E R A R %85,000,0007T) Z & i,
ERTYERAR - FH EK8%E L - W
BAGERFETAHE=FAZE -

B 75 77 0] 0 #b A AN 5 @ 45 (R 52015
#£7H1H 8 E202146 A30H 1k 26
F£ R F%FGolden Glows B E(h 2
BRATER X & BAAED DA
R #30,000,0007T ([tRFEAEL) < &
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42. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES DURING
THE YEAR (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the fair value of the contingent
consideration arrangement was estimated by applying
the income approach at a discount rate of 20.63% and
an estimated profit in Z2&EBEEMNK for the six-year
period from RMB2,695,000 to RMB37,951,000. As at 31
December 2015, there is no change in the fair value of
contingent consideration compared to the acquisition date.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition is attributable to the
anticipated profitability generated from the synergy, revenue
growth and future market development in the coal wash
industry, which the Group intends to develop.

Since its acquisition, Golden Glow Group contributed
revenue of HK$47,868,000 and net profit before income
tax expense of HK$3,237,000 to the Group for the period
from 23 April 2015 to 31 December 2015. If the acquisition
had occurred on 1 January 2015, the revenue and profit
before tax expense of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2015 would have been HK$47,868,000 and
HK$3,236,000 respectively. This pro forma information
is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group
that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition
been completed on 1 January 2015, nor intended to be a
projection of future performance.

The acquisition-related costs of HK$193,000 have been
expensed and are included in the administrative expenses.

The Group has engaged an independent valuer, to assess
the fair value of the assets and liabilities and the contingent
consideration at the acquisition date.

The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling

interests in the Golden Glow Group at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
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43. PRODUCTION SHARING CONTRACTS
AND DEVELOPMENT CONTRACTS

The Group currently has two production sharing

arrangements and two development contracts in respect

of the development and production and development of

coalbed mathane, crude oil and natural gas in the PRC.

(i)

On 28 March 2006, OEl (which the Group acquired
on 15 November 2010) entered into the Sanjiao
CBM Project with China United Coalbed Methane
Corporation Ltd (“CUCMCL”) for the exploration,
development, production and sale of the coalbed
methane and other related or derivative products that
may exist in a total exploration area of approximately
383 square kilometers subject to reduction in
accordance with the Sanjiao CBM Project located in
the Erdos Basin of Shanxi and Shaanxi Provinces in
the PRC (the “Contract Area”).

Pursuant to the Sanjiao CBM Project, OEl is engaged
as the foreign partner and operator to provide the
necessary technology know how and assign its
competent experts to explore, develop, produce and
sell coalbed methane or coalbed methane products
extracted from the Contract Area. OEl and CUCMCL
have formed a joint management committee as
required under the Sanjiao CBM Project and appointed
representatives as members of the committee
The Joint
Management Committee is responsible to oversee the

(the “Joint Management Committee”).

operation in the Contract Area.
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43. PRODUCTION SHARING CONTRACTS
AND DEVELOPMENT CONTRACTS
(Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

In April 2009, CUCMCL transferred all of its interest
and associated obligations with respect to certain
gas fields, including the areas covered by the Sanjiao
CBM Project, to China National Petroleum Corporation
(“PetroChina”) (the “PRC partner”). The transfer was
approved by the State-owned Assets Supervision
and Administration Commission of the State Council.
PetroChina joined the Joint Management Committee of
the Sanjiao CBM Project.

Under the Sanjiao CBM Project, the development of
the Contract Area is divided into the exploration phase
development and production phase. OEl is required
to conduct core testing and run pilot production
to ascertain the potential commercial value of the
coalbed methane field in the planned exploration area.

The exploration phase has an initial term of four years
and expired on 1 July 2010. The PRC partner has
extended the exploration period to 30 June 2012 in
order to develop a larger production scale. Based on
the supplementary agreement of the Sanjiao CBM
Project dated 28 October 2010, the exploration
period was extended to 6 years to 30 June 2012.
The exploration period has been further extended
to 30 June 2014 by way of a further supplementary
agreement of the Sanjiao CBM Project dated on 6 July
2012. In December 2014, a further supplementary
agreement of the Sanjiao CBM Project was signed,
the exploration period has been further extended to 30
June 2016. All costs incurred in the exploration phase
shall be borne by OEI.

182

43. EmP R ERREEESHE (E)

€-))

M2009F4 R « REtHERIEER
AETHRH (BEEE=XIKER
BEFMBEZEE) 2= kAH
EAER TFTHREARRAREER
A (eam) ((RFEER]D - %
HEBCREBEEEEEEES
BZESHE - FAHEMAZR
HEREBEEZHES -

RE=XKERER GRMEZ
MESRBERY REREES-
Rin 2 RETERRARAEINE
TEREBVREAZRKERAZE
EEEERE-

IR BRI 25 % BR VO 4 - ;0201047
A1BE®R - R A B HE K EES
EHI =2012F6 A30R + LA K &
ERE - RIE B B A2010610A4
28HZ=REERIBE M HE -
HEEEEH A/NF 22012968
308 - R #& B B 820127 A6H
2 REERIEE 2#— PHTH

% BVIREIE E — PR E201445F
G)EJSOEI o 2014128 » 7 =

REEBRIEE 2#E— TR AHZ
HIREE E— S LEHE201656H
30H - BIFRHEL Z B KA ER
BRI 2 A o

Annual Report 2015 e Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited



Notes to the Financial Statements

43. PRODUCTION SHARING CONTRACTS
AND DEVELOPMENT CONTRACTS
(Continued)

(i)

(Continued)

On 20 November 2015, the Group received the official
written notification from PetroChina that National
Development and Reform Commission has granted
the approval of ODP and the project then entered
into the development and production phase. On
commencement of the development and production
phase, all the development and operating costs shall
be borne as to 70% by OEl and 30% by the PRC
partner, except if the PRC partner chooses not to
participate in a particular site. If the PRC partner
chooses not to participate in a particular site, all the
development and operating cost will be fully borne
by OEI. Also, the PRC partner’s participation can be
less than 30% for certain wells in respect of which the
PRC partner will not need to bear the development
costs or will bear at a specifically agreed percentage.
As a result, the profit sharing ratio will be adjusted
according to their actual participating interest in the
coalbed methane field.

The Sanjiao CBM Project has a term of thirty
years, with production period not more than twenty
consecutive years beginning from the date of
commencement of commercial production to the
expiry date of the production period as specified in the
ODP, unless production is suspended or abandoned
in accordance with the Sanjiao CBM Project or under
special circumstances, the production period can
be extended with the approval of the relevant PRC
authority.
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43. PRODUCTION SHARING CONTRACTS
AND DEVELOPMENT CONTRACTS
(Continued)

(i

In May 2010, the Group entered into an operation
agreement with an independent PRC third party (the
“PRC Party”) for the exploration, development and
production of crude oil and natural gas that existed
in an exploration area located in Shaanxi Province
in the PRC (the “Jinzhuang QOil Field”) for the period
from 1 May 2010 to 31 July 2011. The PRC Party is
a party to a production sharing contract with a State-
owned enterprise for the exploration, development
and production of crude oil and natural gas in the
Jinzhuang Oil Field (the “Jinzhuang PSC”) for a period
up to 2025. Pursuant to the operation agreement,
the Group was engaged as the operator to explore,
develop and produce crude oil and natural gas from
the oil field. The Group bored all development and
operation costs and shared 95% of the income from
sale of crude oil and the entire income from the sale
of natural gas extracted from the Jinzhuang Oil Field.
The operation of the Jinzhuang Oil Field was jointly
controlled by the Group and the PRC Party. At the
same time, Kenwin Group based in Hong Kong,
acquired the rights and obligations of the Jinzhuang
PSC from the PRC Party. The Group signed a
memorandum of understanding (“MOU”) with the
owner of Kenwin Group and paid an interest free and
refundable deposit of HK$60,000,000 to the owner
such that the Group had the option to acquire the
entire equity interest of Kenwin Group.

In June 2011, the Group and the PRC party agreed
to extend the operation period to 31 October 2011.
In November 2011, the Group acquired the Jinzhuang
Oil Field by acquiring 100% equity interest in Kenwin
Group.

The Group’s interests in the Sanjiao CBM Project
and the Jinzhuang PSC constitute jointly control
operations and are accounted for in accordance with
the accounting policy as set out in note 4(e).
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43. PRODUCTION SHARING CONTRACTS
AND DEVELOPMENT CONTRACTS
(Continued)

(ii)

During 2009, the Group acquired through a transfer
agreement and an assignment agreement the rights
and obligations to participate in two oil exploitation
projects for the exploitation, development and
production of a number of oil wells, each for a
period up to 2023. The oil wells of these projects
are separately located in Liuluoyu, Shannxi Province,
the PRC (the “Liuluoyu Oil Field”) and in Yanjiawan,
Shannxi Province, the PRC (the “Yanjiawan Oil
Field”). The Group also acquired, under the transfer
agreement and assignment agreement, the business
assets including oil and gas properties, the rights to
use the on-site plant, machinery and facilities for the
exploration, evaluation and development, and assumed
the liabilities associated these oil fields.

As advised by the Company’s PRC legal advisers,
the Group is entitled to the rights and obligations
of the development contract and participate in the
exploitation and production of crude oil in the Liuluoyu
Qil Field and Yanjiawan Qil Field. Since the Group has,
in practice and substance, the power to govern the
financial and operational policies over the operation of
the oil fields, the Group incorporated the results of the
oil production and the related assets and liabilities of
these ail fields into its financial statements.
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44. SIGNIFICANT NON-CASH 44. EXKFHERX S5

TRANSACTIONS

(@) During 2015, the gas exploration and evaluation (@ 20159 A + 4,006,613,000/% JT Z
assets of HK$4,006,613,000 (note 17) was AARBERRTEEE (HH5E17)
transferred to property, plant and equipment of the 5 51,739,798,00078 7T 2 W3
HK$1,739,798,000 (note 16), payment for leasehold R 5 K a% i (ffsE16) ~ 4,997,000
land held for own use of HK$4,997,000 (note 18), and BTZABRBBEE AR (HE
intangible assets of HK$2,261,818,000 (note 19). 18) }2,261,818,000/# 7T 2 &

&= (EE19) o

(b)  During 2015, interest on borrowings of HK$79,173,000 (b) 2015%F A - {EEFIE79,173,000%
(2014: HK$76,195,000) was capitalised as gas gL (20144 : 76,195,000/ 7T) E
exploration and evaluation assets (note 9(a)). B RRARIER R EEE (Kt

5T9(a)) °

(c) During 2015, provision for environmental restoration () 2015 KW ' RIBEENFILFERE
and decommissioning costs was increased by P 518 101,187,000/8 ST E 5 A9
HK1,187,000 included in the property, plant and ¥ BE k&ME (KE16) A (2014
equipment (note 16) (2014: increased by HK$551,000 F @ 1% IN551,000% 7T B 5 A KA
included in the gas exploration and evaluation assets R IR R & E (MEE17)) o
(note 17)).

45. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 45. EXAER

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital AEEEBEAZEEZERRIRELRE

are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going BREmEEARBEEERELE KW

concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for 7B B E oK AR IE 2 E o M RFS TE
owners and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing BUREBSEBEKAZRE  #EBRE
products and services commensurately with the level of risk B A Bl 5E B o K e A it F 25 A8 B8 & S 2R

and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost. Mz o

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages AEBREREREPHERRBRRER

its capital structure to maintain a balance between higher RER  fMERSEEKFEBRTA

owners’ returns that might be possible with higher levels RELEZEREA ADRER FE AR

of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded MmRZ TR NREZREG & - X

by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the HEKHERE 2 B HERNEBIELH

capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions. B

Consistent with industry practice, the capital structure of the FERTEBHZBERLT AEBZE

Group consists of net debts, which include other payables ARBEEFER (AT EEHNKRE

and accruals, provisions and borrowings, net of cash and RESEEM 2 EMENTIBRERE

cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the A -BEEE) RARBHES ARG

Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves. xR (BREEBEITRAREE)
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45. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued) 45. BFEHE (§)

The directors review the capital structure regularly. As part SEETHHERRBEETRN - B2
of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital Tz — AEEHEAKAREIEE
and the risks associated with class of capital. Based on Az BEERETEZ RIEESF 22
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its & AEFEBAEBIMKE  FARET
overall capital structure through payment of dividends, new BOTHMIEEKNEEREER  (FEE
share issue as well as the issue of new debts or repayment BARZRBREE T & o 20155 K201445
of existing debts. The net debts-to-equity ratios at 31 12AB1AZER FEHERLENAT :

December 2015 and 2014 were as follows:

2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FHETT
Total debts: BEIF4REE

Other payables and accruals H b FIB RTEIRE R 237,575 160,030
Warrant liability RREFEAE - 1,955
Borrowings BE 602,521 312,325
Provisions B 2,409 1,280
Convertible notes AR ER 285,250 160,750
1,127,755 636,340
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B ReRReEEY (85,564) (19,455)
Net debts B HE 1,092,191 616,885
Equity 1 a 3,503,305 4,053,989
Net debts-to-equity ratio BB FEY R X 31% 15%
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject AAFIREFAHB AT Y TNZINEE

to externally imposed capital requirements. 2 BARBETERHRR o
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 46. B 75 A b & 3B

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, currency risks
and commodity price risk arises in the normal course of the
Group’s business. These risks are limited by the Group’s
financial management policies and practices described
below.

(@) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a
customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to
meet its contractual obligations, and arises primarily from
the Group’s trade and other receivables and cash at banks.

() Trade and other receivables

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
other receivables. Management has a credit policy in place
and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on
an ongoing basis. As at 31 December 2015, the Group has
no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group had a
significant concentration of credit risk as at 31 December
2014, which trade receivables were mainly from a customer
in oil and gas exploitation and Sanjiao CBM Project.

(i) Cash with banks

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by placing
cash and deposits with financial institutions that meet
the established credit rating or other criteria. Given these
high credit ratings, management does not expect any
counterparty to fail to meet its obligations.

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to
meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet
its liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)

In order to enhance the Group’s financial position and
liquidity, the directors have taken the following measures
subsequent to the year end.

()  On 26 January 2016, the Group issued convertible
bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$200,000,000 to an independent third party. The
bonds are matured in 24 months from the issue date
and at the interest rate of 8% per annum payable in
arrears every six months from the issue date; and

(i)  In February 2016, the Group has further drawn a loan
of RMB160,000,000 from the current remaining loan
facility of RMB570,000,000 provided by a financial
institution in the PRC, and the Group may further
utilise the remaining loan facility of RMB410,000,000
as and when needed.

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the short term
investment of cash surpluses and the raising of loans
to cover expected cash demands, subject to approval
by the Company’s board when the borrowings exceed
certain predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and readily realisable
marketable securities and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 46. MR EGEE (8)

(Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)
The contractual maturities of financial liabilities are shown as

(b) EENE &M ()

MBREZEHIBBERET

below:
Total Within ~ More than ~ More than
contractual 1 year 1 year 2 years
Carrying undiscounted oron but less butless ~ More than
amount cash flow demand than 2 years than 5 years 5years
BUERR 1R, 1L 2N
KEE RLRELE BEX  EEUT  (ESENT SENE
HKS 000 HKS' 000 HK$'000 HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HKS' 000
TR TR T AL TR THAL
2015
Non-Gerivatives: JATE
Other payables and accruals EEARERERER 237,575 237,575 237,575 - - -
Convertible notes AR 285,250 297,955 200,984 96,971 - -
Borrowings &8 602,521 801,859 228,544 201,587 73,106 298,622
Total @it 1,125,346 1,337,389 667,103 298,558 73,106 298,622
2014
Non-derivatives: ST
Other payables and accruals EENFARERER 160,030 160,030 160,030 - - -
Warrant liabiity AREZAE 1,055 1955 1955 - - -
Convertible notes THEZE 160,750 203,612 3,000 200612 - -
Borrowings &8 312,325 351,792 148,790 137,172 65,830 -
Total ) 635,060 717,389 313,775 337,784 65,830 -

190

Annual Report 2015 e Sino Oil and Gas Holdings Limited



Notes to the Financial Statements

46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from
borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The interest rates and
terms of repayment of the Group’s borrowings are disclosed
in note 32 to the financial statements.

At 31 December 2015, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, would increase/
decrease the Group’s loss (decrease/increase the Group’s
profit) for the year by approximately HK$6,025,000 (2014:
HK$3,123,000) before the consideration of capitalisation
of interest. The sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred
at the end of reporting period and had been applied to the
exposure to interest rate risk for the borrowings in existence
at that date. The 100 basis point increase or decrease
represents management’s assessment of a reasonably
possible change in interest rates over the period until the
next annual reporting date.

(d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
recognised assets and liabilities that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency of the operations
to which they relate. At 31 December 2015 and 2014, no
related hedges were made by the Group.
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 46. MR EGEE (8)

(Continued)
(d) Currency risk (Continued) (d) E%EKE (&)
(i) Exposure to currency risk () FERRZEEERE

TRE AR B 7 S B A R A
RUNERERZYEEE AN 2GR 5T

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the
end of reporting period date to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency BZEEXAEMAR 2 E¥RERS -
other than the functional currency of the entity to which they HREIMBREEEARRMB AL
relate. The sensitivity analysis includes balances between MZE-EBTIAERD BT 2T S
group companies where the denomination of the balances ANz BHEFHE

is in a currency other than the functional currencies of the

lender or the borrower.

2015 2014
Australian Australian

dollars usb RMB CAD dollars UsD RMB CAD

L5 T ARE b R Xt AE¥ mr

’000 ’000 ’000 ’000 '000 '000 '000 '000

r r i r S 7 S i

Trade and other recelvables  EUER 2 R £ Ao e R 3 - 20 1,686 40,022 = 120 - 40212

Notes receivable* el 2,000 - - - 2,000 = - =

Cashand cash equivalents ~ B&RBEEEY 1 162 7 17 - 292 3 54
Amounts due from group EREEAFZA

companies - 121,795 268,320 - - 44,656 520,550 -

Trade and other payables R R FE - (247) - &) - (49) - -
Amounts due to group EASEARZE

companies - (26,986)  (50,735)  (10,300) - (23582 (190,782) -

Overall net exposure BREREE 2,001 100,744 219278 29,736 2000 21437 329771 4032

*

Included in interest in a jointly controlled entity
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 46.

(Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(i) Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the approximate change in
the Group’s (loss)/profit after income tax expense and
accumulated losses and other components of consolidated
equity in response to reasonably possible changes in the
foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant
exposure at the end of reporting period. The sensitivity
analysis includes balances between Group companies
where the denomination of the balances is in a currency
other than the functional currencies of the lender or the
borrower. A positive number below indicates an decrease in
loss/increase in profit and decrease in accumulated losses
where the HK$ weakens against the relevant currency. For
a strengthening of the HK$ against the relevant currency,
there would be an equal and opposite impact on loss/profit
and accumulated losses, and the balances below would be

B35 3 R P 5

As at 31 December 2015 R20154F 1231 H

A5 E b EE (48)

(d) E¥ERE(R)

(i) RS
TRETRBEHARERFEE R EEE
REAXRE R 2 IMERE R 2 A gL 5 2 & 5
ERAEEBRMAEHX R (BB 8
A & BT B 18 A B A & HE ot HL A #E K AP
DZHMHNEY BEREINTEREEER
RAFEZESH  MEEERTIARET X
EHZNEEBENINZ EEEHE - 68
TTAHBERERS AT EHER TG A
BiE MR R RAERERD B8
TREMERRY  BREHER &
MEkRABEENSRSRAEER ZF
E BATHBRITEEREH -

negative.
2015 2014
Decrease Increase
in loss after in profit after
taxation and taxation and
decrease in decrease in
Weakening accumulated = Weakening accumulated
in HK$ losses in HK$ losses
BRBiLiEEE B 5 1% )4 A1
B R RAS Bk Rt
BTRE BEERY BLRE BER D
% HK$’ 000 % HK$’ 000
FER THET
RMB AR 2% 5,233 2% 8,240
CAD ilihzw 2% 3,239 2% 5,395
Australian dollars BIT 3% 339 3% 381

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that
the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the
end of reporting period and had been applied to each of the
Group entities’ exposure to currency risk for the financial
instruments in existence at that date, and that all other
variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 46. I E PR ER (&)
(Continued)
(d) Currency risk (Continued) (d) E%REE(E)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (Continued) (i)  BUEEDT (&)
The stated changes represent management’s assessment Frat v e EBHEHEE N —EHE
of reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates MR IEHIR 2 INEE R 2 AT g & 12
over the period until the end of the next reporting period. BERrAmo-HtmE  BEBSTERE
In this respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate between T HMEERITe B E T EMER
the HK$ and the USD would be materially unaffected by ZEREBEEH 2EATE - FRIIK
any changes in movement in value of the USD against other ZOMERBEHAEBETSERERS
currencies. Results of the analysis as presented in the above Mee B EWIERE RS RE 2R
table represent an aggregation of the effects on each of TEXRBEABTUAERY 2B ZBRFET
the Group entities’ profit or loss after income tax expenses ST HERR R ER R BRE - Z
and equity measured in the respective functional currencies, DT TR E2014F MR 2 AT ©
translated into HK$ at the exchange rate ruling at the end of
reporting period for presentation purposes. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2014.
() Commodity price risk (e) 75 EHEDE
The Group engages in petroleum-related activities. The oil AREBHREEABABEZES - AWM
market is affected by global and regional demands and BREHREMEERERZZE - FE
supplies. Prices of onshore crude oil are determined with FOMER TR R EIR T 5 2 R B 1% i
reference to the prices of crude oil on the international TE o [F)m Mg R E Gh B 18 T B& A] e A
markets. A decline in the prices of crude oil and refined EBEPFBERAERTFTE - KREEB
products could adversely affect the Group’s financial EIWARERAOT B T B R b &
position. The Group historically has not used derivative BIEEE -
financial instruments to hedge against potential price
fluctuations of crude oil.
47. COMMITMENTS 47. K iE
(a) Operating lease commitments - Lessee (a) FEEHERE-—RKEAN
As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the total future 20155 K2014F 128318 « JERH A 7A]
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating BUEREHE AR SZKIEERBELARE
leases were payable as follows: AR
2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FHET
Within 1 year 1F R 7,435 4,463
After 1 year but within 5 years 1FEBESFA 22,450 239
29,885 4,702
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COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(a) Operating lease commitments — Lessee
(Continued)

The Group is the lessee of a number of properties held

under operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial

period of one to ten years without an extension option.

None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

(b) Capital commitments

(i) Authorised but no contracted for

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group was
committed to develop in total 9 (2014: 9) new oil wells under
the development contracts of the Liuluoyu Oil Field and
Yanjiawan Oil Field. The estimated total capital expenditure
for developing these new oil wells is HK$9.6 million (2014:
HK$$10.1 million).

(i) Contracted but not provided for

47.

B35 3 R P 5

As at 31 December 2015 R20154F 1231 H

i (8)
(a) FEEHRERE-FRBA R

AEERBRELEHERAELZEYELZ
EBEA—BME  ZFHEZNTH
BN 12105 Y EEREEE - A
HEMEREXBAHESE -

(b) BAXKEIE

() EREEKRITH
M2015%F K 2014F12A31H » ANEE 2
NREBEYE IR EEERBREHHRAES
@ B 3% & HofE (20144 : Offl) #om it -
AR BERETRF CEARNT HBEA
9,600,000 7T (20144 : 10,100,000
TT) °

(i)  BETAIERE R

2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THT FET
Commitments in respect of MEREERIAR 2 & E
the Sanjiao CBM Project 32,945 96,231
Commitments in respect of MR RARDRE 2 FAE
the LNG plant 68,664 -
101,609 96,231
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 48. L EE &
Environmental liabilities FHRRRZERE

The Group carries out oil exploitation operations in the PRC.
The PRC has adopted environmental laws and regulations
that affect the operations of the oil industry. The outcome
of environmental liabilities under proposed or future
environmental legislation cannot reasonably be estimated
at present, and could be material. Under the existing
legislations, however, management believes that there are
no probable liabilities that will have a material adverse effect
on the financial position of the Group.
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48. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Continued)

Environmental liabilities (Continued)

The Group also engages in the exploration, development
and production of coalbed methane resources. The
consequence of coalbed mining includes dismantlement and
demolition of infrastructure in the mining sites. The Group
may have obligations to make payments for restoration and
rehabilitation of the land after the sites have been extracted.
As at 31 December 2015, a provision of HK$2,409,000
(2014: HK$1,280,000) was made in the consolidated
statement of financial position (note 31).

49. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements,
no related party transactions have been entered into during
the year which might reasonably affect any decisions made
by the users of these consolidated financial statements

Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors
as disclosed in note 11, all the highest paid employees
as disclosed in note 12, and other ten (2014: six) senior
management personnel are as follows:

48.

49.

HFEEE)
FRRRZEE(E)
AEBNTKEHERERZ SR - R
MEE METEERRKZERBIER
BRIFHRBES ZERNLE - AEBE KA
BEEBRSTKRAKRE  IHER i
ERREZERZ2ER - R2015F12 A3
B &RE& M BKRKRAED T 2,409,000
7 7T (20144 : 1,280,000 7T) 2 B &
GEXIDE

EXBAEALTRS

R BBERASTHREEN  FARE
RIMAIREHZFRAMBHRRERE T
MEFHZREELEAEFE ZBEA
X5

FREBEAENE
AEETEZEEAEME (BIEMEN
FIBEZERAARAIESE XN ZHIA
MEIHEBEZENERE=RFEEX
MNZRERA+H (20145 « X%) HAl
SREBABXMNZRE)MT

2015 2014

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

THET FHET

Short-term employee benefits HEEERF 16,335 13,866
Post-employment benefits BERR 2R A - =
Equity-settled share-based payment  JARR AN 48 & B 9 S 1+ 2 Z0IE 22,101 =
38,436 13,866

Total remuneration is included in “employee costs” (see note
9(b)).
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50. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 50. W EERMBAGBZ S ER
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY =
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and R2015%F K2014F12 831 HiER 2 A&
financial liabilities recognised as at 31 December 2015 and BB EEMVEAGZEEEY AN
2014 may be categorised as follows: T
2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FHETT
Financial assets MBEE
Available-for-sale investment At EemEE 22,417 -
Loans and receivables (including B3k % fE R
cash and bank balances) (BREES RIRITER) 404,457 404,197
426,874 404,197
Financial liabilities M EE
Financial liabilities at fair value EAFEREEARZ
through profit or loss R =N - 1,955
Financial liabilities measured REHEKAGTTEZ
at amortised cost B asE 1,125,346 633,105
1,125,346 635,060

51.

TEBMRERABRDF © 2015 F ]

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

(@) Financial instruments not measured at fair
value

Financial instruments not measured at fair value include

trade, notes and other receivables, loan receivables, short-

term investment, pledged bank deposits, cash and cash

equivalents, other payables, borrowings and convertible

notes. The fair value of all these financial assets and

financial liabilities are not materially different from their

carrying amounts.

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities with standard
terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets
are determined with reference to quoted market prices.

The valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs
used in determining the fair value measurement of level 2
and level 3 financial instruments, as well as the relationship
between key observable inputs and fair value are set out
below.
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51.

ATEE
(a) XFBAFEFEZHMBEIR

YRR FEFEZHMBTABRERER
B BB RERE M REKKIE - B
B EHEKE SERRTER R
ERREFEY HUEHRE BE
RABBERE - PEZSENBEERY
BREZAFEHEAREERS °

BB BREGRR G LN RE MR T
S RBENMBEERYHRENRATE
D2EMSREETE °

TXHIINEEF2EREIBHBIA
ZAVFEFERMERNGERMEE
ARTABRBARE  URTBABRE
BABBEEAFEZENBER -
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51. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value
Information about level 3 fair value measurements
()  The fair value of contingent consideration is estimated

using a discounted cash flow method. Detail please
see note 42 for disclosures of the measurement of
contingent consideration.

(i)  The fair value of the warrant liability in note 30 is
estimated using a binomial option pricing model.

Significant unobservable inputs

Dividend yield 0%
Volatility 40.351%

Increase in the volatility and dividend yield would increase
the fair value of the warrant liability.

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value
hierarchy:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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51.

AFEEEE (8)

(b) BRAFENEZHMBIA

B EERFEFNEHER

() HAEREBZAFEFEARSREN
BEGE -BHAXBREFEZH
BB m RN 42 o

i) HiESORMIEEE AT ET
{8 — R B AR 3t

EANA B R g A BUE
A% B U 2 R 0%
B 1 40.351%

BB B BB UK 2R IR N S 2 B AR A
FERBRTEEM-

TRIBEEATEFIROHHTARA
TFEEREH 2D -

F1E: HREELREREARMSZ
WECRKEHE)

FoE: ERAAUER (AER) KHE
(AHERITE)BRETERE
FIERABEZEERREBL
BABE &

FIE: WUFREABEMHBIEZE
EXRBBEZHARE (TAE
R ABUR) -
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51. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 51. AF{Hit & (&)
(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value (b) BAFEHEZHMBIAR(E)
(Continued)

2015
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FE1E $2E $E3E st

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$000  HK$’000
FERT FERT FET FET

Available-for-sale investment AfHESREE
— Contingent consideration —ANRE - - 22,417 22,417
2014
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1E F2E %3 et

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$' 000  HK$ 000
FTAET TAET TAET THET

Financial liabilities at fair value BEAFERERAR

through profit or loss BB &
— Warrant liability —RREBEE = = 1,955 1,955
There were no transfers between levels during the year. FRNZERZ BT EE I EE -

BT IER AR AR e 2015 & 3§ 199
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51. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued) 51. AF{# & (&)
(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value (b) BAFEHEZHMBIAR(E)
(Continued)
Reconciliation for financial instruments carried at fair value BEEARNDAE G ASK ($3E) &
based on significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) are as ANEBEBARNTFETE ZHERAT ¢
follows:
2015 2014
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TFET FHET
Available-for-sale investment Ot HESMEE
At 1 January M1A1H - -
At issue date RE1THH 22,417 =
At 31 December M12A831H 22,417 =
Warrant liability BiREEAE
At 1 January M1A1R 1,955 =
At issue date REE1TH H - 3,482
Gains in profit or loss: included RIE=ER 2 W - sFAEAD
in other losses, net (note 8) E5 8% %8 (fIsE8) (1,955) (1,527)
At 31 December ®12831H - 1,955
52. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 52, i{R#&Hj1EEIE
On 26 January 2016, the Company entered into convertible R20164%1 268 @ AN A &) E R 8 A ]
notes subscription agreement with a subscriber in the VABREEZEERERE A BBEA
aggregate principal amount of HK$200,000,000 due 200,000,000/ 7T * 3 720184 £ Hj °
in 2018. The convertible notes are interest bearing at IR EE FE 28% K& &61E A X Al
8% per annum payable in arrears every six months. B o BT MRERAERIEFEELY
The net proceeds from the issue of convertible notes of 198,000,000/ T € AR AL B A —
approximately HK$198,000,000 will be used for general BEEES  BERAEBEHASKE
working capital of the Group which may include oil and gas B -YN=XEERBEBB ZEMNITREXR
business development, settlement of the construction and BEREESTHREES TUHBHEE -
operation costs payable in respect of Sanjiao CBM Project
and repayment of certain financial obligation.
53. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 53. BT 2&TEHL

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2016.
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